Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München And Technische Universität München



# A time-dependent Gaussian variational description of Lattice Gauge Theories

MASTER THESIS WRITTEN AT THE MAX PLANCK INSTITUTE OF QUANTUM OPTICS

September 2017

Pablo Sala de Torres-Solanot

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München Technische Universität München Max-Planck-Institut für Quantenoptik



## A time-dependent Gaussian variational description of Lattice Gauge Theories

First reviewer: Prof. Dr. Ignacio Cirac

Second reviewer: Dr. Tao Shi

Thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

## Master of Science

within the programme Theoretical and Mathematical Physics

Munich, September 2017

Pablo Sala de Torres-Solanot

## Abstract

In this thesis we pursue the novel idea of using Gaussian states for high energy physics and explore some of the first necessary steps towards such a direction, via a timedependent variational method. While these states have often been applied to condensed matter systems via Hartree-Fock, BCS or generalized Hartree-Fock theory, this is not the case in high energy physics. Their advantage is the fact that they are completely characterized, via Wick's theorem, by their two-point correlation functions (and one-point averages in bosonic systems as well), e.g., all possible pairings between fermionic operators. These are collected in the so-called covariance matrix which then becomes the most relevant object in their description.

In order to reach this goal, we set the theory on a lattice by making use of Lattice Gauge Theories (LGT). This method, introduced by Kenneth Wilson, has been extensively used for the study of gauge theories in non-perturbative regimes since it allows new analytical methods as for example strong coupling expansions, as well as the use of Monte Carlo simulations and more recently, Tensor Networks techniques as well. In spite of being formulated on a lattice, losing then Lorentz invariance, it allows an exact implementation of local gauge invariance and the special consequences of this symmetry. These features have made possible to have a deeper understanding of non-perturbative phenomena like for example the quark-confinement mechanism among others. Moreover we will make use of the Hamiltonian formulation of LGT introduced by Kogut and Susskind.

The aim of this thesis is to test a time-dependent (non)-Gaussian variational ansatz in describing quantum field theories using the framework of LGT. In chapter 2, we firstly introduce the theory of Gaussian states and the time-dependent variational method that will be later applied. Secondly in chapter 3, the framework of LGT will be introduced and how to apply the Gaussian method will become clear. In chapter 4 we apply the Gaussian ansatz to the massless and massive Schwinger models, where the solvability of the first is used to benchmark the method. Later in chapter 5 we will apply the method for a non-Abelian SU(2) gauge theory and finally we will present further ideas in the Outlook.

# Contents

1.	Intro	oduction	1
2.	Gau	issian states	5
	2.1.	Introduction	5
	2.2.	Fermionic Fock space	6
		2.2.1. Bogoliubov transformations	7
	2.3.	Fermionic Gaussian states	8
		2.3.1. Covariance matrix	11
		2.3.2. Ground state of quadratic Hamiltonians	13
	2.4.	Statement of the problem 1	14
	2.5.	Time-dependent variational ansatz	15
		2.5.1. Imaginary-time evolution: ground state	16
		2.5.2. Real-time evolution	17
		2.5.3. Operational approach	18
	2.6.	General variational method	19
		2.6.1. Bosonic Gaussian states	19
		2.6.2. Non-Gaussian ansatz	21
	2.7.	Summary and conclusion	22
3.	Latt	tice Gauge Theories	23
	3.1.	Introduction	23
	3.2.	Continuum formulation	23
		3.2.1. Facts in representation theory	24
	3.3.	Gauge theories on a lattice	29
	3.4.	Hamiltonian formulation of LGT	31
		3.4.1. Fermionic sector	36
		3.4.2. Gauge sector	41
	3.5.	Hilbert space	43
		3.5.1. Abelian theory: $U(1)$ case	43
		3.5.2. Non-Abelian theory	44
	3.6.	Confinement	45
		3.6.1. Charge confinement in Abelian lattice theories	45
		3.6.2. Is there confinement?	46
	3.7.	Summary and conclusion	46
^	The	Schwinger model	10
4.	4 1	Introduction /	19 19
	<u> </u>	Continuum theory	10
	т.4.	4.2.1 Dimensional analysis	50
		4.2.2 Solving the continuum theory	50
		$4.2.2.$ Solving the continuum theory $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	50

### Contents

	4.3.	Schwinger model on a lattice	54		
		4.3.1. Trial 1: Schwinger bosons representation	54		
		4.3.2. Trial 2: Erasing the gauge field	57		
		4.3.3. Gaussian approach for the Schwinger model	61		
	4.4.	Physics in the Schwinger model: Screening and confinement	62		
		4.4.1. Massless Schwinger model	63		
		4.4.2. Massive Schwinger model	65		
		4.4.3. Real time dynamics	69		
	4.5.	Conclusion	74		
5	Non	-Abelian groups in two spacetime dimensions	75		
	5.1.	Introduction	75		
	5.2	Erasing the gauge field	75		
	0.2.	5.2.1 Botated Hamiltonian	77		
		5.2.2. Insertion of external charges	80		
	5.3.	Gaussian approach	82		
	5.4.	Application: $(1+1)$ -dimensional SU(2)	82		
	0.1.	5.4.1. Color configuration	82		
	5.5.	Ground state with static charges is not Gaussian	83		
	5.6.	Conclusion	86		
6	Out	look	87		
0.	6 1	Abelian $(2+1)$ -dimensions: exact and numerical approach	87		
	6.2	Non-Abelian in $(1+1)$ -dimensions	01		
	6.3	Study of vacuum structure	91		
	0.0.		51		
Appendices					
Α.	Syst	rematic derivation of $H_Q(\Gamma)$	95		
В.	Con	nputations: mean-field Hamiltonians	99		
	B.1.	Schwinger model	99		
	B.2.	SU(2) theory	101		
Bil	Bibliography				
۸c	Acknowledgements				
De	Declaration of Authorship				

## 1. Introduction

Gauge field theories lie at the heart of our current knowledge in Physics. Thev appear to be the pillars to all four fundamental interactions in Nature. Moreover they emerge in other branches as Condensed Matter Physics, where they arise as low energy effective descriptions [1]; and in Quantum Information, Kitaev's Toric Code model can be seen as a  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  lattice gauge theory. Nevertheless, they take a more prominent essential role in the development of the Standard Model in particle physics. In these theories the so-called *local gauge principle* determines the fundamental interaction between the fermions and the gauge fields. In particular, the gauge theory named after Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD) describing the strong interaction between quarks and gluons is based on a non-Abelian SU(3) group with three colors. QCD is the theory describing the interaction between quarks and gluons [2]. To our current knowledge on particle physics, free isolated quarks and gluons do not appear to exist. In fact their existence has been confirmed indirectly by experiment. They are rather confined forming hadrons — *color confinement*— or maybe glueballs [3]. One is then led to think that the coupling between quarks becomes strong at large distances, being weak at short distances as well — asymptotic freedom. So far, the only theories where this surprising behavior appears to happen are those containing a non-Abelian gauge field which gives rise to self interactions for the gluons.

Due to this feature, many of the relevant phenomena in particle physics e.g., whether or not QCD accounts for the observed hadron spectrum and a confirmation that QCD accounts for quark confinement, take place in the strong coupling regime, prohibiting the use of perturbative expansions and requiring new non-perturbative methods to be used [4]. The most powerful approach that has been developed for non-perturbative QCD so far, is Lattice Gauge Theories (LGT) introduced by Kenneth Wilson in 1974 [5], where he formulated the gauge theory on an Euclidean spacetime lattice with **exact** gauge symmetry. This formulation opened the way to study non-perturbative phenomena using numerical methods, where the Monte Carlo simulation is the most relevant one, that enable us to study phase diagrams, mass spectra and other phenomena. However, despite the great success of these techniques, there are still many problems which cannot be addressed with them: out of equilibrium dynamics are mostly inaccessible as well as regions of the phase diagram for QCD with nonzero chemical potential where Monte Carlo simulations suffer from the sign problem [6]. Therefore it would be highly desirable to have new tools which overcome these problems. In this context, the alternative Hamiltonian formulation of LGT by Kogut and Susskind [7] has renewly attracted a lot of attention due to its suitability to tackle the problem from a different perspective.

Some of the most recent and promising proposals are Tensor Networks techniques (TN) and Quantum simulators as suggested by Feynmann [8]. Quantum simulation may offer one such alternative route to tackle the problem in gauge theories, and indeed, during recent years there have been several proposals for quantum simulators

#### 1. Introduction

using atomic systems [9–11] and even a first experimental realization [12]. Quantum simulation of LGT presents a number of particular features which allow the models to be realized in the experiments corresponding to finite-dimensional or truncated versions of the original gauge groups. On the other hand, new methods based on TN have proved to be powerful approaches in the non-perturbative study of **quantum many-body systems** [13] without suffering from a sign problem. Their main power can be exploited in the Hamiltonian formulation and has attracted a lot of attention [**ROrus**, **otro**, 14–16], thanks to their capability to efficiently describe the relevant states of the theory [17]. Moreover this formulation provides a way to gauge global symmetries at the level of individual quantum many-body states, independent of any prescribed Hamiltonian or Lagrangian [18]. Nevertheless the generalization to higher dimensions than one is in general not an easy task.

However in this thesis, we would like to propose an alternative and novel method to tackle gauge theories on a lattice. This is a time-dependent (non)-Gaussian variational ansatz within the family of the so-called Gaussian states. Gaussian states are those which fulfill Wick's theorem, i.e., they are completely characterized by their one and two-point correlators, where these last are usually gathered in the so-called *covariance matrix* [Bravyi]. Therefore all higher order correlators can be expressed in terms of those.

On the one hand, bosonic Gaussian states (BGS) are generalizations of the wellknown coherent and squeezed states often appearing in Quantum Optics as states saturating the Heisenberg uncertainty principle. BGS are also highly relevant in the study of entanglement properties in Quantum Information Theory via the so called Continuous Variables Quantum Information [19, 20]. On the other hand, fermionic Gaussian states (FGS) are also common in Quantum Information [21] but they are more popular in the Condensed Matter community, since FGS is equivalent to the Slater determinant description in the first quantization, which can be generalized to characterized the BCS state as well [22]. There, they usually appear as ground states of quadratic mean-field Hamiltonians, being also the case for BGS. In fact ground states of quadratic Hamiltonians, either fermionic or bosonic, are in general pure Gaussian states. The possibility to completely characterized a Gaussian state by its covariance matrix (and one point correlators in the bosonic case) motivates the formulation of a time-dependent Gaussian variational ansatz to approximate the ground state of an interacting Hamiltonian within this family of states, considering the covariance matrix elements as a set of variational parameters. Indeed this idea was firstly introduced for FGS in Ref. [23] and later on has been further developed in Ref. [24].

Therefore the relevance of Gaussian states is two-fold. Firstly, they appear as ground and thermal states of quadratic Hamiltonians in creation and annihilation operators and remain so under the evolution governed by quadratic Hamiltonians. These are among the few many-body problems that can be solved exactly, being diagonalized via Bogoliubov transformations. Therefore quadratic (mean-field) approximations, naturally lead to Gaussian states [25]. On the other hand, with the variational principle in mind, the number of parameters in the covariance matrix scales quadratically with the number of fermionic and bosonic modes while one point-correlation functions do it linearly. As a consequence Gaussian states can be efficiently characterized by them, allowing a numerical implementation of the method. Moreover, since in a lattice the number of modes is automatically finite, these states are expected to be an efficient description of many-body interactions on lattice systems. For that reason, the LGT formulation of High Energy Physics, seems a promising arena for the application of this time-dependent Gaussian variational ansatz. Note that in this case we would be dealing with a system combining both bosonic and fermionic degrees of freedom interacting with each other.

However this ansatz is quite limited by the fact that correlation functions fulfill the conditions of Wick's theorem and so, are very restricted. For example, this ansatz cannot correctly describe the Fractional Quantum Hall Effect, the Kondo model and topological orders [24]. Therefore sometimes to enlarge the family of states becomes necessary, in such a way we can introduce higher order correlations beyond the mean-field theory. In order to do so, one can introduce the so-called non-Gaussian transformations in an efficient way, namely circumventing the exponential dependence of the computational resources in terms of the number of modes. Otherwise the method would not be efficient.

In this thesis we firstly introduce the theory of Gaussian states, being more extensively introduced for FGS since are the ones we will make use of in the last two chapters. We begin by establishing the formalism of FGS in order to then introduce the general formulation of the time-dependent variational method and its possible non-Gaussian extension.

In chapter 3 we begin by reviewing the usual Quantum Field Theory description of non-Abelian gauge theories to later on, being able to compare with the lattice formulation. At this point, we make emphasis on the importance of the charges generating time-independent gauge transformations. In the following, we introduce the Hamiltonian formulation of LGT constructing the Hamiltonian from the gauge principle. We end the chapter introducing the problem of confinement and the suitability of the lattice to consider the strong coupling limit.

In chapter 4 we perform the first necessary step towards the description of lattice gauge theories via the Gaussian ansatz, considering the massless and massive Schwinger model. This is a model for QED in two spacetime dimensions that is exactly solvable in the massless case. Via a unitary transformation, we are able to erase the gauge field, as it's known to happen in this two dimensions. As we will see, this provides a good description via the Gaussian ansatz. The results obtained in this chapter allows us to benchmark the ansatz by comparing to results obtained from MPS calculations in Ref. [26] and [27].

In the last chapter, we attempt to describe non-Abelian gauge theories in two spacetime dimensions applying the same method of unitarily transforming the Hamiltonian. Then we will try to apply the method to the SU(2) gauge theory.

Finally, the interested reader can find in the Outlook, an attempt to describe three spacetime dimensional pure-gauge theories via the Gaussian ansatz, as well as some interesting ideas worthy to be further analyzed.

In this chapter we review the theory of fermionic Gaussian states (FGS) following Ref. [**Bravyi**, **Bravyi2**, 21, 22] and their use as a time-dependent variational ansatz to describe systems on a lattice [23, 24]. Moreover we will give a brief introduction to Bosonic Gaussian states in order to be able to understand the whole variational method that is introduced [19, 20, 24, 25]. Since we work with finite dimensional Hilbert spaces, most of the results can be obtained from [28] or considering the simpler finite case in the proofs given in [22] for infinite-dimensional fermionic systems.

## 2.1. Introduction

The Gaussian approximation is frequently used in physics when a many-body interacting term appears in the theory. In most cases, the system cannot be analytically solved and one needs to provide an approximation method. In these situations, one describes the theory in terms of two-point correlation functions, as it usually happens in quantum field theory or statistical physics of fields. This means that higher order correlation functions are expressed as products of two-point ones via Wick's theorem.

In the Hamiltonian formulation of Quantum Mechanics this idea can also be applied and in fact has been of great use to study theories with interacting electrons and bosons, like BCS theory (via the so-called pairing channel) and the Hubbard model [23]. As it was explained in the introduction, the method consists on describing the system via FGSs<sup>1</sup>, considered to be variational states to approach the ground state of the system under study. FGS can be defined as those states whose density operator  $\rho$  can be expressed as an exponential of a quadratic function of creation and annihilation operators. This property implies that they fulfill Wick's theorem and therefore **the state is completely characterized in terms of the second moments of all creation and annihilation operators**, i.e., two-point correlation functions. Those moments are gathered in the so-called —*covariance matrix* (CM), usually denoted as  $\Gamma$ — which then becomes the relevant object in the theory. This formulation is connected to the usual mean field approach but in a broader sense. As we already said, examples of FGSs are Slater-determinants (Hartree-Fock theory) and BCS-states (BCS theory).

The method we will introduce in this chapter, consists on deriving the best Gaussian state approximation, i.e., as explained before a variational state approach, to the ground state of a non-quadratic (interacting) Hamiltonian already discussed in [22] via the numerical minimization [23, 24] of the ground state energy being the covariance matrix  $\Gamma$  the relevant object for the method.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In spite of the fact that we will focus on the discussion of FGS, bosonic Gaussian states have also being extensively discussed in physics literature.

## 2.2. Fermionic Fock space

Let's consider a *M*-dimensional, with  $M < \infty$ , single-particle Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H} \cong \mathbb{C}^M$  with orthonormal basis  $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^M$ . We say *M* is the total number of considered fermionic modes  $e_i$ . From  $\mathcal{H}$  we can construct the *N*-particle fermionic space as  $\mathcal{H}^{(N)} := \mathcal{H} \land \cdots \land \mathcal{H}$  for all  $N = 0, 1, \ldots, M$  due to Pauli exclusion principle, where  $\mathcal{H}^{(0)} := \mathbb{C}, \mathcal{H}^{(M)} := \mathbb{C}$  and  $\land$  is the antisymmetrized version of  $\otimes$ . The fermionic Fock space is then defined by

$$\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) := \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathcal{H} \oplus \mathcal{H}^{(2)} \oplus \dots \mathcal{H}^{(M-1)} \oplus \mathbb{C}, \qquad (2.1)$$

with dimension  $2^M$ .

In order to construct  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$  from  $\mathcal{H}$  we can introduce the linear creation operator

$$\phi^{\dagger} : \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) \quad \text{such that} \quad \phi^{\dagger}(f) : \mathcal{H}^{(N)} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{(N+1)}$$
(2.2)

$$f \to \phi^{\dagger}(f),$$
 (2.3)

and by linearity  $\phi^{\dagger}(f) = \phi^{\dagger}(f^{i}e_{i}) = f^{i}\phi^{\dagger}(e_{i})$  define  $\phi^{\dagger}_{i} := \phi^{\dagger}(e_{i})$ . In the same way we can also introduce the (antilinear) annihilation operator  $\phi$ , the adjoint of  $\phi^{\dagger}$ , and define  $\phi_{i} = \phi(e_{i})$ . Annihilation and creation operators fulfill the so-called anticommutation relations (CAR algebra with unital element  $\hat{1}$ )

$$\{\phi_i, \phi_j^{\dagger}\} = \langle e_i | e_j \rangle = \delta_{i,j} \hat{\mathbb{1}}, \qquad \{\phi_i, \phi_j\} = 0,$$
(2.4)

where as usually  $\{A, B\} := AB + BA$ . All observables on  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$  can be expressed in terms of  $\{\hat{1}, \phi_i, \phi_i^{\dagger}\}$ . This representation will be called complex or CAR indistinctly.

Since in the literature, most of the proofs for FGS are given in the so-called *Majo*rana representation, let's introduce it now. This alternative representation is generated by 2M Hermitian operators  $\{c_k\}_{k=1}^{2M}$  defined by

$$c_{2j-1} = \phi_i^{\dagger} + \phi_i, \qquad c_{2j} = i(\phi_i^{\dagger} - \phi_i),$$
(2.5)

with j = 1, ..., M. Apart from being Hermitian operators, they also satisfy

$$\{c_k, c_l\} = 2\delta_{k,l}\hat{\mathbb{1}},\tag{2.6}$$

from where we can deduce that  $c_k^2 = \hat{1}$ . This algebra is called *Clifford algebra* and it's usually written as  $C_{2M}$ . Nevertheless, in our application of the Gaussian approximation in chapters 4 and 5 and the outlook, we will make use of the complex representation given in terms of creation and annihilation operators which provide a clearer physical picture. Therefore we will give the following results in both representations when it's convenient.

As convention we usually denote by  $\Phi$  and C the column vectors whose components are given by

$$\Phi = (\phi_1, \dots, \phi_M, \phi_1^{\dagger}, \dots, \phi_M^{\dagger})^T$$
(2.7)

$$C = (c_1, c_3, \dots, c_{2M-1}, c_2, \dots, c_{2M})^T,$$
(2.8)

calling  $\Phi$  the *Nambu*-vector(ordering) of the CAR algebra<sup>2</sup>. Moreover  $\Phi^{\dagger}$  will denote the vector

$$\Phi^{\dagger} = (\phi_1^{\dagger}, \dots, \phi_M^{\dagger}, \phi_1, \dots, \phi_M).$$
(2.9)

In addition we often collect all annihilation operators in a vector  $\phi$  and all creation operators in a vector  $\phi^{\dagger}$ , which are either column or row vectors depending whether they form part of  $\Phi$  or  $\Phi^{\dagger}$  respectively.

Both vectors are related via

$$C = W\Phi \quad \text{with} \quad W = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_M & \mathbb{1}_M \\ -i\mathbb{1}_M & i\mathbb{1}_M \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.10)$$

such that  $WW^{\dagger} = W^{\dagger}W = 21$ . In addition, with this ordering the anticommutation relations (2.4) can be expressed as

$$\{\Phi, \Phi^{\dagger}\} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1} & 0\\ 0 & \mathbb{1} \end{pmatrix} \hat{\mathbb{1}} = \mathbb{1}_{2M} \hat{\mathbb{1}}.$$

$$(2.11)$$

#### 2.2.1. Bogoliubov transformations

Linear transformations of fermionic operators  $\{\phi_i\}$  and  $\{c_k\}$  which preserve the canonical anticommutation relations (2.4) and (2.6) respectively, are called *linear Canonical* transformations and will be denoted by  $G_c(M)$ . In the complex representation those are given by the unitary group of  $2M \times 2M$  matrices U(2M) and  $G_c(M) = O(2M)$ , i.e., the group of orthogonal  $2M \times 2M$  matrices, in the Majorana representation. These transformations

$$\Phi_i \to \sum_j U_{ij} \Phi_j \quad \text{and} \quad C_k \to \sum_l O_{kl} C_l,$$
(2.12)

where U could mix both creation and annihilation operators, can be implemented<sup>3</sup> by **Bogoliubov transformations** —unitary operators  $\mathcal{U}$  on  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$  that we will take to be generated by quadratic Hamiltonians with no linear terms [28]. In fact, in finite-dimensional Hilbert spaces

**Theorem 2.2.1.** Any unitary operator U corresponds to a Bogoliubov transformation  $\mathcal{U}$  on  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$  with

$$\mathcal{U}\Phi_i\mathcal{U}^\dagger = \left(U\Phi\right)_i.$$
 (2.13)

In order to prove this result one just needs to use Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula

$$e^{A}Be^{-A} = B + [A, B] + \frac{1}{2!}[A, [A, B]] + \dots$$
 (2.14)

with the unitary operator

$$\mathcal{U} = e^{\frac{1}{2}\Phi^{\dagger}\xi\Phi} \text{ with the hermitian matrix } \xi = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ B^{\dagger} & -A^T \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.15)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The ordering chosen for the vector C is know as q - p-ordering in the literature [21].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In order to implement rotations in Majorana basis these transformations must fulfill that  $\det O = 1$ .

such that  $A^{\dagger} = A$  and  $B^T = -B$  applied to  $\Phi$ . Then we find

$$e^{\frac{i}{2}\Phi^{\dagger}\xi\Phi}\Phi_{i}e^{-\frac{i}{2}\Phi^{\dagger}\xi\Phi} = \sum_{j} \left(e^{-i\xi}\right)_{ij}\Phi_{j},\tag{2.16}$$

i.e., the unitary linear transformation is given by  $U = e^{-i\xi}$ . The same result can be proved for C where in this case  $\xi$  is an antisymmetric Hermitian matrix and the generated transformation is orthogonal. The reason why second order polynomials generate Bogoliubov transformations comes from the fact that since  $\{\phi_j^{\sharp}, \phi_k^{\sharp}\} \in \mathbb{C}$ with  $\phi_j^{\sharp} := \phi_j, \phi_j^{\dagger}$ ; then

$$[\phi_i^{\sharp}\phi_j^{\sharp},\phi_k^{\sharp}] = \phi_i^{\sharp}\{\phi_j^{\sharp},\phi_k^{\sharp}\} - \{\phi_i^{\sharp},\phi_k^{\sharp}\}\phi_j^{\sharp}$$
(2.17)

is linear in the fields  $\phi^{\sharp}$ .

**Observation.** From equation (2.16) we deduce that time evolutions generated by quadratic Hamiltonians  $H^Q(\Phi, \Phi^{\dagger}) = 1/2\Phi^{\dagger}\mathcal{H}\Phi$ , simply act as **linear transformations** on creation and annihilations operators

$$\Phi_k \to e^{iH_Q t} \Phi_k e^{-iH_Q t} = \left(e^{-i\mathcal{H}t}\right)_{kl} \Phi_l \tag{2.18}$$

in the Heisenberg picture. This fact is a key point in the formalism of Gaussian states.

## 2.3. Fermionic Gaussian states

As we briefly exposed in the introduction, fermionic Gaussian states (FGS) are represented by density operators that are exponential of quadratic forms in creation and annihilation operators, that in both Majorana and complex representation take the form

$$\rho = K \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{i}{4}C^T G C\right] = K \cdot \exp\left[-\frac{i}{2}\Phi^{\dagger} \tilde{G}\Phi\right], \qquad (2.19)$$

with G a real antisymmetric and  $\tilde{G}$  antihermitian  $2M \times 2M$  matrices and K a normalization constant. From (2.19), it's clear that Gaussian states have the interpretation of thermal Gibbs states for quadratic Hamiltonians. Considering the Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \Phi^{\dagger} \left( i \tilde{G} \right) \Phi, \qquad (2.20)$$

and diagonalizing  $i\tilde{G}$ , we show that every FGS has a normal-mode decomposition with the form

$$\rho = K \prod_{k=1}^{M} \exp\left[-\beta_k a_k^{\dagger} a_k\right], \qquad (2.21)$$

where the temperatures  $\beta_k$  are the eigenvalues of  $i\tilde{G}$  and  $a_k$ ,  $a_k^{\dagger}$  are related to  $\phi$  and  $\phi^{\dagger}$  by a canonical transformation.

Let's introduce now a more rigorous definition of FGS. Denote

$$\rho_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2^{M}} \prod_{j=1}^{M} \left( \hat{\mathbb{1}} - i\lambda_{j}c_{2j-1}c_{2j} \right).$$
(2.22)

**Definition 2.3.1** (FGS). A state  $\rho$  is a FGS if and only if it can be represented as

$$\rho = \mathcal{U}\rho_{\lambda}\mathcal{U}^{\dagger} \quad \text{with} \quad \mathcal{U} = \exp(iH_2 + iH_1),$$
(2.23)

where  $H_2$  and  $H_1$  are Hermitian linear combinations of operators  $c_p c_q$  and  $c_p$  respectively.  $\rho_{\lambda}$  is called the standard form of a Gaussian state.

This definition for a Gaussian state is more general than the one given in (2.19), since Definition 2.3.1 considers the cases where  $\rho$  is the exponential of a quadratic polynomial with linear terms generated by  $H_1$ . However as we will explain later, it's convenient to work with *even* FGSs (like the one defined in (2.19)) which corresponds to choose  $H_1 = 0$  in Definition 2.3.1.

**Definition 2.3.2** (even FGS). A state  $\rho$  is even FGS if and only if can be represented as

$$\rho = \mathcal{U}\rho_{\lambda}\mathcal{U}^{\dagger} \quad \text{with} \quad \mathcal{U} = \exp(iH_2),$$
(2.24)

where  $H_2$  is a Hermitian linear combination of operators  $c_p c_q$ .

From the Definition 2.3.2 one can check that any **pure** FGS has the form

$$\left|\psi\right\rangle = e^{iH_2}\left|0\right\rangle,\tag{2.25}$$

with  $H_2$  given as above and the vacuum state  $|0\rangle$  defined via  $\phi_k |0\rangle = 0$  for all k. This means that pure FGS are given by a Bogoliubov transformation applied to the vacuum  $\mathcal{U}|0\rangle$ . Moreover via Bogoliubov transformations, pure FGS can be transformed to a simple standard form given by

$$\left|\psi_{\text{Gauss}}^{(\bar{N})}\right\rangle = \prod_{k} \left(u_{k} + v_{k}\phi_{k}^{\dagger}\phi_{k}\right)\left|0\right\rangle,\tag{2.26}$$

where  $u_k, v_k \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $|u_k|^2 + |v_k|^2 = 1$ ,  $\overline{N} = \sum_k \left\langle \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_k \right\rangle = 2 \sum_k |v_k|^2$ . This is for example the case of the BCS-ground state with  $k \equiv (\vec{k}, \uparrow)$  and  $k \equiv (-\vec{k}, \downarrow)$ . The statement and proof of this result can be found in [21].

### About parity

The reason to consider even rather than general Gaussian states is related to the *Parity* Superselection rule. A superselection rule is a statement that singles out certain rays in the Hilbert space as not physical realizable states [29]. The parity superselection rule is the widely believed impossibility to prepare a system in a superposition of two states whose total angular momenta are integers and half-integers, respectively [2]. This is like to say that realizable states are eigenstates of the operator  $(-1)^F$  where F is even or odd for integer and half-integer states respectively. The usual way to see the inconsistency of not considering this rule goes as follows. If  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  are states of half-integer and integer spin respectively, the superposition of both given by  $\alpha\psi_1 + \beta\psi_2$  transforms under a  $2\pi$  spin rotation as  $-\alpha\psi_1 + \beta\psi_2$ . Since these two states are physically indistinguishable this implies that either  $\alpha = 0$  or  $\beta = 0$ . Now in relativistic quantum theories, motivated via spin-statistics theorem one can also deduces that superposition of states with even and odd number of fermions cannot

exist by consistency. Nevertheless, it appears spin-statics theorem is not completely necessary for the proof of this fact in non-relativistic theories [30]. In our case the analogous to the operator  $(-1)^F$ , is the parity operator

$$P = \prod_{k} e^{i\pi\phi_k^{\dagger}\phi_k} = \prod_{k} e^{i\pi\hat{N}_k}, \qquad (2.27)$$

with  $\hat{N}_k$  the number operator for the mode k. As before P splits the fermionic Fock space  $\mathcal{F}$  into even and odd parity eigenstates, i.e., those with an even or an odd total number of fermions.

Till today, all known physical processes in nature conserves parity [**Bravyi**], i.e., don't mix these two sectors.

Once we have defined what a FGS is, we can also understand why these states are called Gaussian states from the picture of FGS as a thermal state given by (2.21). Indeed, computing averages of polynomial operators A in  $\phi$  and  $\phi^{\dagger}$ 

$$\langle A \rangle = K \operatorname{Tr} \left( \exp \left[ -\frac{i}{4} C^T G C \right] A(C) \right),$$
 (2.28)

can be seen as calculating averages with Gaussian distributions for thermal states in the coherent states path integral representation<sup>4</sup>

$$\int D\eta \, \exp\left(\frac{i}{2}\eta^T G\eta\right) A(\eta),\tag{2.29}$$

where  $\eta$  are Grassmann variables. It's easy to see that the average of a polynomial operator can be obtained by taking derivatives with respect  $\theta$  of the integral

$$\int D\eta \, \exp\left(\eta^T \theta + \frac{i}{2} \eta^T G \eta\right) = i^n \mathrm{Pf}(\mathrm{G}) \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{i}{2} \theta^T G^{-1} \theta\right). \tag{2.30}$$

Pf(G) stands for the Pfaffian of the antisymmetric matrix G, i.e.,

$$Pf(G) = \sum_{\pi} ' sig(\pi) G_{\pi(1),\pi(2)} \dots G_{\pi(2M-1),\pi(2M)},$$
(2.31)

where  $\sum_{\pi}'$  is the sum over permutations  $\pi$  that satisfy  $\pi(1) < \pi(3) < \cdots < \pi(2M-1)$ and  $\pi(2j-1) < \pi(2j)$ , and  $\operatorname{sig}(\pi)$  is the signature of  $\pi$ . For antisymmetric matrices it fulfills  $\operatorname{Pf}^2(G) = \operatorname{det}(G)$ .

Therefore as in the case of Gaussian probability distributions, that are completely defined by the mean and variance, it makes sense to define the so-called *covariance* matrix(CM) which in the Majorana representation takes the form

$$\left(\Gamma_M\right)_{pq} = \frac{i}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\rho[c_p, c_q]\right)$$
 (2.32)

and it's a real antisymmetric matrix, i.e.,  $\Gamma_M^T = -\Gamma_M$ .

Consider the monomial

$$c(\mathbf{x}) = c_1^{x_1} \dots c_{2M}^{x_{2M}},\tag{2.33}$$

where  $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_{2M})$  is a binary string of 2*M* bits with length  $|\mathbf{x}| = \sum_k x_k$ . An arbitrary linear operator on  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$  can be represented as a linear combination of these monomials.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This route to define FGS via Grassmann variables is followed in [**Bravyi**], and it's known as Lagrangian formulation of FGS.

**Theorem 2.3.1** (Wick's theorem). Let  $\rho$  be an even FGS. Then for any even binary string  $\mathbf{x} \in \{0, 1\}^{2M}$ ,  $|\mathbf{x}| = 2l$ , one has

$$Tr(\rho c(\mathbf{x})) = i^{l} P f(\Gamma_{M}[\mathbf{x}]), \qquad (2.34)$$

where  $\Gamma_M[\mathbf{x}]$  is a  $2l \times 2l$  submatrix of  $\Gamma_M$  obtained by selecting all matrix elements  $\left(\Gamma_M\right)_{pq}$  for which  $x_p = x_q = 1$ . On the other hand all odd correlators vanish,

$$Tr(\rho c(\mathbf{x})) = 0 \text{ whenever } |\mathbf{x}| = 2l + 1.$$
(2.35)

*Proof.* A discussion of this result can be found in [22] and a proof in [**Bravyi**], in the Lagrangian formulation of fermionic systems. Its proof is also found as a corollary of Wick's product identity expansion for pure Gaussian states explained in Appendix A.  $\Box$ 

**Remark** In order to prove Wick's theorem the assumption of the Gaussian state to be even is not necessary to obtain the first result (2.34) but only for the second.

This result Equation 2.34 motivates an alternative definition of FGS.

Definition 2.3.3. Fermionic Gaussian states are those satisfying Wick's theorem.

#### 2.3.1. Covariance matrix

Let's start reviewing the matrix structure of the already defined Majorana CM, given by (2.32) and its definition in the complex representation. Let's use the notation  $\text{Tr}\rho A = \langle A \rangle$  with A an operator. In terms of  $\phi$ 's and  $\phi^{\dagger}$ 's the covariance matrix is defined as

$$\Gamma = \left\langle \Phi, \Phi^{\dagger} \right\rangle = \left( \begin{array}{cc} \left\langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \right\rangle & \left\langle \phi \phi \right\rangle \\ \left\langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi^{\dagger} \right\rangle & \left\langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi \right\rangle \end{array} \right) \equiv \left( \begin{array}{cc} \mathbb{1}_{M} - \gamma^{T} & \alpha \\ \alpha^{\dagger} & \gamma \end{array} \right), \tag{2.36}$$

i.e., a Hermitian matrix where we have defined the  $M \times M$  matrices  $\gamma := \langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi \rangle$  with  $\gamma^{\dagger} = \gamma$  and  $\alpha := \langle \phi \phi \rangle$  such that  $\alpha^{T} = -\alpha$ .  $\Gamma_{M}$  and  $\Gamma$  are related via

$$\Gamma = \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{1}_{2M} - i \frac{1}{4} W^{\dagger} \Gamma_M W, \qquad (2.37)$$

with W given by (2.10).

**Remark.** Wick's theorem 2.34 takes the same form when written in terms of creation and annihilation operators

$$\left\langle \phi_{1}^{\sharp} \dots \phi_{2l}^{\sharp} \right\rangle = \sum_{\pi} ' \operatorname{sig}(\pi) \left\langle \phi_{\pi(1)}^{\sharp} \phi_{\pi(2)}^{\sharp} \right\rangle \dots \left\langle \phi_{\pi(2l-1)}^{\sharp} \phi_{\pi(2l)}^{\sharp} \right\rangle,$$
(2.38)

where  $\left\langle \phi_{\pi(2j-1)}^{\sharp} \phi_{\pi(2j)}^{\sharp} \right\rangle$  are elements of  $\Gamma$ . Moreover  $\left\langle \phi_{1}^{\sharp} \dots \phi_{2l+1}^{\sharp} \right\rangle = 0$  for even FGS. In particular we will often use the important formula

$$\left\langle \phi_{k}^{\dagger}\phi_{l}^{\dagger}\phi_{m}\phi_{n}\right\rangle = \left\langle \phi_{k}^{\dagger}\phi_{l}^{\dagger}\right\rangle \left\langle \phi_{m}\phi_{n}\right\rangle - \left\langle \phi_{k}^{\dagger}\phi_{m}\right\rangle \left\langle \phi_{l}^{\dagger}\phi_{n}\right\rangle + \left\langle \phi_{k}^{\dagger}\phi_{n}\right\rangle \left\langle \phi_{l}^{\dagger}\phi_{m}\right\rangle, \quad (2.39)$$

which if applied to the expectation value of the two-body potential, these terms correspond to the pairing, exchange and direct channels.

The description of  $\rho$  via its covariance matrix is not only convenient due to Wick's result but also because of the observation we made in section 2.2.1. As we saw in (2.18) evolutions generated by quadratic Hamiltonians simply generate a linear canonical transformation  $\Phi_i \rightarrow \sum_j (e^{-i\mathcal{H}t})_{ij} \Phi_j$  in the Heisenberg picture and therefore because of (2.36)

$$\Gamma \longrightarrow e^{-i\mathcal{H}t} \Gamma e^{i\mathcal{H}t} \Longrightarrow i\frac{d}{dt} \Gamma = [\mathcal{H}, \Gamma]$$
 (2.40)

in the Schrödinger picture. Then from the own definition of Gaussian state (2.3.2) and observations 2.2.1 and (2.40) we can deduce

**Corollary.** The set of FGS is invariant under Bogoliubov transformations, among which evolutions under quadratic Hamiltonians are contained. This means that Bogoliubov transformations map Gaussian states into Gaussian states. Moreover evolutions under quadratic Hamiltonians can be completely described by the covariance matrix.

Therefore the covariance matrix plays a really relevant role in the discussion of Gaussian states. Since our goal is to use Gaussian states as variational states, we need to find the set of admissible covariance matrices [**Bravyi2**].

#### Admissible covariance matrices

Since  $\Gamma$  completely characterized  $\rho$ ,  $\Gamma$  must be chosen in order to fulfill:

(1) 
$$\rho \ge 0$$
 non-negativity of  $\rho$  (2.41)

(2) 
$$\rho = \rho^{\dagger}$$
 Hermiticity (2.42)

(3) 
$$\rho^2 = \rho$$
 if  $\rho$  is a pure FGS., (2.43)

since  ${\rm Tr}(\rho)=1$  can be achieved via a normalization factor. From the standard form  $\rho_{\lambda}$  of FGS

$$\rho_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2^{M}} \prod_{j=1}^{M} \left( \hat{\mathbb{1}} - i\lambda_{j}c_{2j-1}c_{2j} \right), \tag{2.44}$$

one can derive from conditions (1) and (2) in (2.41) that

$$\lambda_j \in [-1,1], \quad j = 1, \dots, M,$$
(2.45)

and that a state is pure if and only if  $\lambda_j = \pm 1$  for all j's. In fact the density operator of the Fock vacuum is given by (2.44) with all  $\lambda_j = 1.5$  The connection to the covariance matrix is given by the following lemma:

$$\rho_1 = \prod_k^M \phi_k \phi_k^\dagger$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Note that in the complex representation

and therefore is annihilated by al  $\phi_k$  acting from the left and  $\phi_k^{\dagger}$  acting from the right.

**Lemma 2.3.2.** A real antisymmetric matrix  $\Gamma_M$  is a covariance matrix of an even FGS if and only if

$$\Gamma_M^T \Gamma_M \le \mathbb{1}_{2M} \quad or \ equivalently \quad i\Gamma_M \le \mathbb{1}_{2M} \tag{2.46}$$

The corresponding state is pure if and only if  $\Gamma_M^T \Gamma_M = \mathbb{1}_{2M}$ . Since  $\Gamma_M^T = -\Gamma_M$  this result can also be written as  $\Gamma_M^2 = -\mathbb{1}_{2M}$ .

*Proof.* A proof of this result can be found in [**Bravyi**].

In terms of  $\Gamma$  the lemma can be stated as follows

**Lemma 2.3.3.** A Hermitian matrix  $\Gamma$  is a covariance matrix of an even FGS if and only if

$$0 \le \Gamma \le \mathbb{1}_{2M}.\tag{2.47}$$

The corresponding state is pure if and only if  $\Gamma^2 = \Gamma$ .

The condition  $\Gamma^2 = \Gamma$  implies that  $\Gamma$  is a projector and therefore in general det $(\Gamma) = 0^6$ .

As we have already seen, the description of FGS is efficient via the covariance matrix since it scales quadratically in the number of modes. Moreover in order to further motivate the usefulness of this method, let us prove the already stated result that ground states of (fermionic or bosonic) quadratic Hamiltonians, are **pure** Gaussian states.

### 2.3.2. Ground state of quadratic Hamiltonians

Let's consider the quadratic Hamiltonian for a finite number of modes M

$$H = \sum_{i,j} A_{ij} \phi_i^{\dagger} \phi_j + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j} (B_{ij} \phi_i^{\dagger} \phi_j^{\dagger} + B_{ij}^* \phi_j \phi_i), \qquad (2.48)$$

with  $A = A^{\dagger}$  and  $B^T = -B$ . We can rewrite it as

$$H = \frac{1}{2}\Phi^{\dagger}M\Phi + \frac{1}{2}\text{Tr}A, \qquad (2.49)$$

where for convenience we neglect the last constant term. Since M is Hermitian, it can be unitarily diagonalized  $M = U^{\dagger}\Omega U$  and therefore H can be diagonalized by a Bogoliubov transformation  $\mathcal{U}$ , such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \gamma \\ \gamma^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = U \begin{pmatrix} \phi \\ \phi^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{U} \begin{pmatrix} \phi \\ \phi^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} \mathcal{U}^{\dagger}, \qquad (2.50)$$

i.e.,  $\gamma_k = U_{kl} \Phi_l$ . Then

$$H = \frac{1}{2} (\gamma^{\dagger}, \gamma) \Omega \left(\begin{array}{c} \gamma\\ \gamma^{\dagger} \end{array}\right)$$
(2.51)

where  $\Omega$  is a  $2M \times 2M$  diagonal matrix which can be showed to take the form [28]

$$\Omega = \begin{pmatrix} \omega & 0\\ 0 & -\omega \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{with } \omega \text{ a } M \times M \text{ diagonal matrix.}$$
(2.52)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The only projector for which this is not true is for the identity matrix.

Then H can be written in terms of quasi-particle excitations as

$$H = \gamma^{\dagger} \omega \gamma - \frac{1}{2} \text{Tr}\omega.$$
 (2.53)

Let's assume  $\omega$  has non-zero eigenvalues<sup>7</sup>. From (2.53) we see that the ground state of H is the vacuum state for  $\gamma_k$ , called  $|\tilde{0}\rangle$ , that is related to the vacuum state for  $\phi_k$ via (2.50)

$$0 = \phi_k |0\rangle \Rightarrow 0 = \mathcal{U}\phi_k |0\rangle = \underbrace{\mathcal{U}\phi_k \mathcal{U}^{\dagger}}_{=\mathcal{U}_{kl}\Phi_l} \mathcal{U} |0\rangle = \gamma_k \mathcal{U} |0\rangle \Rightarrow \left|\tilde{0}\right\rangle = \mathcal{U} |0\rangle.$$
(2.54)

Therefore the ground state of a general quadratic Hamiltonian is given by a Bogoliubov transformation applied to the vacuum, i.e., a pure Fermionic Gaussian state.<sup>8</sup>

## 2.4. Statement of the problem

With the use of the FGS machinery and the stated results for fermionic quadratic Hamiltonians, we would like to describe more difficult, interacting fermionic (and in general also bosonic) systems on a lattice. We consider Hamiltonians with free and two-body interacting terms of the form<sup>9</sup>

$$H = \sum_{i,j} t_{ij} \phi_i^{\dagger} \phi_j + \sum_{k,l,m,n} V_{kl;mn} \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_l^{\dagger} \phi_m \phi_n, \qquad (2.55)$$

with  $t_{ij} = t_{ji}^*$ , but in principle different polynomials in  $\phi$  and  $\phi^{\dagger}$  may be considered in the general setting [24].

In order to find the best approximation of the real ground state of H within the family of FGS, one should solve the minimization problem

$$\min_{\rho \in \text{Gauss.}} E(\rho) = \min_{\Gamma \leq \mathbb{1}} \left[ \sum_{i,j} t_{ij} \gamma_{ij} + \sum_{k,l,m,n} V_{kl;mn} \left( \gamma_{kn} \gamma_{lm} - \gamma_{km} \gamma_{ln} + \alpha_{kl}^{\dagger} \alpha_{mn} \right) \right], \quad (2.56)$$

with  $E(\rho) = \text{Tr}[H\rho]$ .

In [22] it was obtained that the minimum  $\rho$  is attained when  $\Gamma^2 = \Gamma$ , i.e., when  $\rho$  is a pure FGS. Therefore characterizing  $\rho$  via the covariance matrix  $\Gamma$ , this result motivates to consider the mean-field (quadratic) **state-dependent** Hamiltonian

$$H_Q(\Gamma) := \sum_{i,j} t_{ij} \gamma_{ij} + \sum_{k,l,m,n} V_{kl;mn} \Big( \gamma_{kn} \phi_l^{\dagger} \phi_m + \gamma_{nl} \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_m - \gamma_{ml} \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_n + \gamma_{nk} \phi_l^{\dagger} \phi_m + \alpha_{lk}^{\dagger} \phi_n \phi_m + \alpha_{mn} \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_l^{\dagger} \Big)$$
(2.57)

that is consistent with the previous result and the already acquired knowledge about quadratic Hamiltonians:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>In the case where one or more eigenvalues, let's say n, of  $\omega$  are zero, we would find a degenerate ground eigenspace  $\{|\tilde{0}\rangle_i\}_{i=0}^n$ . Each of these states are connected via Bogoliubov transformations to the ground states of (2.48).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>A similar proof is also valid for bosonic quadratic Hamiltonians [28].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>This is the kind of Hamiltonian we deal with in chapters 4 and 5.

**Lemma 2.4.1.** If  $\rho$  is a FGS minimizer for H, then  $\rho$  is a true ground state for the Hamiltonian  $H_Q(\Gamma)$ .

*Proof.* A proof of this result can be found in [22].

In general this constrained quadratic (in  $\Gamma$ ) minimization problem is difficult to solve. As a first attempt, we could try to obtain the minimum via an imaginary time evolution but because of the exponential growth of the space of states with the number of modes  $2^M$ , this is not efficient for large systems. Instead in [23], the authors proposed the idea to apply a **Gaussian approximation** via Wick's theorem to derive an imaginary-time evolution equation for the covariance matrix. In this way, as we have already explained, we reduced the number of variational parameters to  $(2M)^2$ . In fact this is the key idea of the Gaussian method and as we will see, it can also be applied to real-time dynamics. Because of Lemma 2.4.1, this method is equivalent to find an effective quadratic state-dependent Hamiltonian  $H_Q(\Gamma)$  in such a way we remain within the variational set of Gaussian states. A systematic way to obtain  $H_Q(\Gamma)$  via Wick's product identity [31] will be explicitly explained in Appendix A.

## 2.5. Time-dependent variational ansatz

In this section we present the ideas already introduced in [23, 24].

Even if the physical picture in complex representation is "easier", for simplicity we express the Hamiltonian (2.55) in the Majorana picture which allows quite shorter expressions in terms of  $c_k$ 's. Moreover we also ease the notation denoting  $\Gamma = \Gamma_M$  in this section.

$$H(T,U) = i \sum_{i,j} T_{ij} c_i c_j + \sum_{k,l,m,n} U_{klmn} c_k c_l c_m c_n$$
(2.58)

with  $T_{ij}, U_{klmn} \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $T^T = -T$  while U is anti-symmetric under the exchange of any two adjacent indices. Moreover in this picture the minimization problem (2.56) takes the form

$$\min_{\rho \in \text{Gauss.}} E(\rho) = \min_{i\Gamma \le 1} \left[ \sum_{i,j} T_{ij} \Gamma_{ij} - 3 \sum_{k,l,m,n} U_{klmn} \Gamma_{kl} \Gamma_{mn} \right]$$
(2.59)

and the mean field Hamiltonian  $(2.57)^{10}$ 

$$H_Q(\Gamma) = i \sum_{i,j} T_{ij} c_i c_j + 6i \sum_{i,j,m,n} U_{ijmn} \Gamma_{nm} c_i c_j = i \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i,j} c_i \mathcal{H}(\Gamma)_{ij} c_j, \qquad (2.60)$$

with the antisymmetric single particle Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H}(\Gamma)_{ij} = 4(T_{ij} + 6\mathrm{Tr}_B[U\Gamma]_{ij}) \tag{2.61}$$

where we have defined  $\operatorname{Tr}_B[U\Gamma]_{ij} := \sum_{m,n} U_{ijmn} \Gamma_{nm}$ .

In [23] the necessary conditions for a **local minimun** are also derived via Lagrange multipliers and are given by

$$[\mathcal{H}(\Gamma), \Gamma] = 0, \qquad \Gamma^2 = -\mathbb{1}, \tag{2.62}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The factor 1/4 appearing in (2.60) is introduced in order to obtain a mean field Hamiltonian in the complex representation of the form  $1/2\Phi^{\dagger}\mathcal{H}(\Gamma)\Phi$ .

where the second condition coincides with our previous knowledge. Since (2.62) is in general hard to solve let us introduce the variational method in order to find the ground state.

#### 2.5.1. Imaginary-time evolution: ground state

Consider an arbitrary Gaussian state  $\rho(0)$  and evolve it according to

$$\rho(\tau) = \frac{e^{-H\tau}\rho(0)e^{-H\tau}}{\text{Tr}[e^{-2H\tau}\rho(0)]},$$
(2.63)

where  $\tau$  is the imaginary time. For pure states this equation takes the following form

$$|\psi(\tau)\rangle = \frac{e^{-H\tau} |\psi(0)\rangle}{\sqrt{\langle \psi(0) \mid e^{-2H\tau} \mid \psi(0) \rangle}},$$
(2.64)

where the appearance of the denominator is crucial in the following derivation. Note that this doesn't correspond to the usual replacing  $it \to \tau$ , but as it was proved in [23] leads to the desired ground state.

**Observation.** Let's give a brief proof to show that one can obtain the ground state of the Hamiltonian H by taking the limit  $\tau \to \infty$ . Let's assume H has a non-degenerate spectrum  $\{E_n\}$  with eigenvectors  $\{|\phi_n\rangle\}$  and shift the energy scale such that the ground state energy is shifted to zero, i.e.,  $H |\phi_0\rangle = 0$ . Then writing  $|\psi(0)\rangle = \sum_n c_n |\phi_n\rangle$  restricted to the fact that  $\langle \phi_0 | \psi(0) \rangle = c_0 \neq 0$  we find

$$|\psi(\tau)\rangle = \frac{\sum_{n} e^{-E_{n}\tau} c_{n} |\phi_{n}\rangle}{\sqrt{\sum_{n} e^{-2E_{n}\tau} |c_{n}|^{2}}} \stackrel{\tau \to \infty}{\longrightarrow} \frac{c_{0} |\phi_{0}\rangle}{|c_{0}|}.$$
(2.65)

We then obtain the ground state of H if the initial state has non-zero overlap with it. In case the ground state is degenerate we arrive to one or another ground state or a linear superposition of those depending on the choice of the initial state  $|\psi(0)\rangle$ . As we will see in chapter 4, this fact will be important to characterize quantum phase transitions with the mean field approximation.

In general if we consider a non-quadratic Hamiltonian H, the evolution for the Gaussian state  $\rho(0)$  given by (2.63), takes us out of the Gaussian variational family. One possible solution is to use instead the corresponding quadratic Hamiltonian  $H_Q(\Gamma)$ , that being quadratic will keep us in the Gaussian setting. One could also consider the whole interacting Hamiltonian H and project on each step of the evolution on the Gaussian family by application of Wick's theorem. In [23] the authors proved that these two methods and the direct minimization of (2.59) are equivalent to each other, i.e., one finds the same necessary conditions (2.62) for a steady state of a system under imaginary time evolution.

From (2.63) we can obtain the equation for  $\rho$  for any Hamiltonian H

$$\frac{d}{d\tau}\rho(\tau) = -\{H,\rho(\tau)\} + 2\rho(\tau)\operatorname{Tr}[H\rho(\tau)], \qquad (2.66)$$

where we can realize that non-quadratic terms in H will leave the tangent space to the Gaussian manifold spanned by quadratic operators as derived in [24]. From here we obtain the equation for the covariance matrix

$$\frac{d}{d\tau}\Gamma_{kl}(\tau) = -i\mathrm{Tr}[\{H, c_k c_l\}\rho(\tau)] + 2\Gamma_{kl}\mathrm{Tr}[H\rho(\tau)].$$
(2.67)

Now either directly applying Wick's theorem or considering  $H_Q$  instead of H, one finds

$$\frac{d}{d\tau}\Gamma = -\Big[\Gamma\mathcal{H}(\Gamma)\Gamma + \mathcal{H}(\Gamma)\Big],\tag{2.68}$$

that can be numerically integrated as we have done for the practical analysis in chapter 4.

We can deduce that the evolution equation (2.68) gives a consistent method in order to obtain the approximating FGS of H via imaginary time evolution:

- From (2.68) is easy to show that a pure state remains pure under the evolution, i.e., Γ<sup>2</sup> = −1.
- On pure Gaussian states, the energy always decreases

$$\frac{d}{d\tau}E(\rho) = \frac{1}{8}\text{Tr}[([\mathcal{H}(\Gamma),\Gamma])^2] \le 0$$
(2.69)

due to the antisymmetry of  $[\mathcal{H}(\Gamma), \Gamma]$ ,  $\Gamma$  and  $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma)$ . From here we realize the same condition for a local minimum as the one appearing in (2.59), i.e.,  $[\mathcal{H}(\Gamma), \Gamma] = 0$ .

Therefore choosing a pure state as initial seed  $\Gamma(0)^2 = -1$  and numerically integrating (2.68) till verify the energy does not decrease (minimum), one solves the minimization problem (2.59).

#### 2.5.2. Real-time evolution

Following the same ideas and as we already found in the Observation 2.2.1 for the evolution under quadratic Hamiltonians, we can also derive a real-time evolution equation for  $\Gamma$  generated by  $H_Q(\Gamma)$  which ensures we remain in the Gaussian manifold. In this case the evolution is given by

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Gamma(t) = [\mathcal{H}(\Gamma), \Gamma], \qquad (2.70)$$

as we already found in (2.18). A formal derivation of this result and the equivalence between the evolution under  $H_Q$  and the Gaussian approximation can be found in [23].

Moreover this evolution conserves the average energy  $E(\rho)$ 

$$\frac{d}{dt}E(t) = \frac{1}{4}\text{Tr}[\mathcal{H}(\Gamma)[\mathcal{H}(\Gamma),\Gamma]] = 0, \qquad (2.71)$$

and the average of the particle-number operator  $N = \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle_{G.S}$  if the Hamiltonian is number-conserving, i.e.,  $[H, \hat{N}] = 0$ 

$$\frac{d}{dt}N(t) = -i\mathrm{Tr}[\rho[\hat{N}, H]] = 0$$
(2.72)

as obtained in [23].

**Remark.** While the real-time evolution conserves N(t), that's not the case in general for the imaginary time evolution as it can be seen with the following counterexample. Let's consider the one mode Hamiltonian  $H = \hat{N} + \hat{N}^2$  with  $\hat{N} = a^{\dagger}a$ . Obviously  $[H, \hat{N}] = 0$  and its ground state is given by the vacuum state  $|0\rangle$  that is a Gaussian state. Let's choose as  $|\psi(0)\rangle$  the coherent state  $|\alpha\rangle$  with phase  $\alpha \neq 0$ . Then while  $N(0) = |\alpha|^2 \neq 0$  at the beginning of the imaginary-time evolution  $N(\infty) = 0$  at the end. The only case where a symmetry U of the Hamiltonian is conserved along the evolution is when considering an eigenstate of such symmetry as the initial state.

#### 2.5.3. Operational approach

Once the method and the mathematical structure has been introduced, its application to a physical system can be done as follows. We work in Nambu representation with creation and annihilation operators<sup>11</sup>. where the evolution equations for the covariance matrix take the form

$$\frac{d}{d\tau}\Gamma = \{\Gamma, \mathcal{H}(\Gamma)\} - 2\Gamma \mathcal{H}(\Gamma)\Gamma, \qquad (2.73)$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Gamma = [\mathcal{H}(\Gamma), \Gamma].$$
(2.74)

We have proved that the ground state and real-time dynamics of the system can be described within the set of pure Gaussian states:

$$e^{\frac{i}{2}\Phi^{\dagger}\xi_{f}\Phi}\left|0\right\rangle.$$
(2.75)

Elements of the corresponding covariance matrix  $\Gamma_{ij} = \left\langle \Phi_i \Phi_j^{\dagger} \right\rangle$  are considered as the set of variational parameters for which one needs to find the best approximation to the real ground state or dynamics<sup>12</sup>. Therefore in order to apply the Gaussian method one must follow the following steps:

- 1. Given a non-quadratic Hamiltonian H derive the effective state-dependent Hamiltonian  $H_Q(\Gamma)$  and from it the single particle Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma)$ . To do so, one can use the method introduced in the Appendix A or compute  $\langle H \rangle$  and take derivatives with respect to  $\Gamma$  such that  $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma)_{ij} = -2\partial \langle H \rangle / \partial \Gamma_{ij}$  as stated in [24].
- 2. Choose an admissible initial seed  $\Gamma(0)$  for the evolution equations given by (2.73) and (2.74). If one wants to find the best approximation to the ground state of H, the initial seed should have a non-zero overlap with the real ground state and can be taken to be pure. Otherwise the integration of (2.73) doesn't give the correct result in the limit  $\tau \to \infty$ . It could happen one gets stuck in a local minimum, reason why one needs to consider different initial seeds and ensure the evolution actually arrives to the global minimum.

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{1}_{2M} + \frac{1}{2}U_f(\sigma_z \otimes \mathbb{1}_M)U_f^{\dagger}$$

with  $U_f = e^{i\xi_f}$ .

 $<sup>^{11}\</sup>mathrm{We}$  will see the convenience of this picture in chapter 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Equivalently one could also consider  $\xi_f$  as the variational parameter, since  $\Gamma$  and  $\xi_f$  are related via

- 3. On the other hand if the real-time evolution wants to be studied, just fix the initial seed to mimic an initial physical configuration and solve the corresponding initial value problem.
- 4. As a result one obtains a covariance matrix at a given time  $\tau/t$ . In the case of imaginary-time evolution this is the covariance matrix describing the ground state  $\Gamma(\tau \to \infty)$ . From  $\Gamma$ , averages of all observables in the system can be computed.

Therefore the Gaussian ansatz has the advantage to include all the two-point correlators (correlators for all kind of fermionic pairs), thus taking into account all the possible mean-field order parameters characterizing a system, like for example in the superconducting phase where  $\Delta_0 = \sum_{\vec{k}} \left\langle c_{\vec{k},\uparrow} c_{-\vec{k},\downarrow} \right\rangle$  is just an element of the covariance matrix. This would be equivalent to consider at the same time different Hubbard-Stratonovich transformations for different channels, maybe coupled to each other in the path integral approach. This advantage has been successfully exploited to the study of the quantum phase transition between the superconducting and charge density wave (CDW) phases in the Holstein model among other systems in [24].

## 2.6. General variational method

The method we have described so far is part of a more general theory that has been recently formulated "Variational Study of Fermionic and Bosonic Systems with Non-Gaussian States: Theory and Applications" [24], that generalizes the results found in [23]. This theory enlarge the variational ansatz, including all possible fermionic and bosonic Gaussian states as well as the family of states which go beyond the Gaussian setting, non-Gaussian states. Moreover the method can be used to study any Hamiltonian that is an any order polynomial in terms of creation and annihilation, fermionic and/or bosonic operators. In order to do so, the authors derive the evolution equations for the covariance matrix from a geometrical point of view in the variational parameter manifold based on [32]. Apart from the ground state description, for which they also consider equation (2.64), this method also provides a way to study fluctuations and collective ones. The method has been proved to be of great use to describe many physical systems with both fermionic and bosonic degrees of freedom.

Therefore let's briefly introduce the overall picture with the different ingredients which could play a role.

### 2.6.1. Bosonic Gaussian states

This section will follow the discussion in [19, 20, 25, 28]. Bosonic Gaussian states (BGS) also play an important role in physics. Apart from being eigenstates of annihilation operators —coherent states—, which are usually used in Quantum Optics, Quantum Field Theory and Condensed Matter physics among other branches; they are ground and thermal states of quadratic Hamiltonians like in the fermionic case. Moreover, BGS are also relevant because they admit a powerful phase space description which enables to study quantum many-body problems that are otherwise intractable [25].

This section is thought to provide the minimal mathematical background to understand some related results in chapter 4 and the Outlook. That's the reason we will avoid a technical and detailed discussion (Weyl systems, characteristic and Wigner functions etc) and will focus on the most intuitive explanation along the ideas we've developed in previous sections. Nevertheless a complete introduction to these topics can be found in [20].

The root of this description comes from the "problematic"  $[X, P] = i\hbar$  (Weyl representation). Consider a system of M bosonic modes characterized by the operators  $a_l$  and  $a_l^{\dagger}$  fulfilling the CCR

$$[a_l, a_k^{\dagger}] = \delta_{l,k}, \qquad [a_l, a_k] = 0.$$
(2.76)

The system can be equivalently described in terms of the quadratures

$$X_{l} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(a_{l}^{\dagger} + a_{l}), \qquad P_{l} = \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}}(a_{l}^{\dagger} - a_{l}), \qquad (2.77)$$

with commutation relations

$$[X_k, P_l] = i\delta_{k,l}.$$
(2.78)

Defining  $R_k = X_k$  and  $R_{M+k} = P_k$ , these CCR can be written as

$$[R_k, R_l] = i\sigma_{kl}\hat{1} \quad \text{with} \quad \sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbf{1}_M \\ -\mathbf{1}_M & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.79)

Let's define the Weyl operator  $\mathcal{W}(\eta)$  with  $\eta \in \mathbb{R}^{2M}$  by

$$\mathcal{W}(\eta) = e^{-i\eta^T R}.\tag{2.80}$$

**Definition 2.6.1** (Characteristic function). The characteristic function of a state  $\rho$  is defined by

$$\chi(x) = \operatorname{Tr}[\rho \mathcal{W}(x)]. \tag{2.81}$$

In fact,

$$\rho = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^M} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2M}} dx \,\chi(x) \mathcal{W}(-x).$$
(2.82)

**Definition 2.6.2** (BGS). A state  $\rho$  is called Gaussian if its characteristic function is a Gaussian, i.e.,

$$\chi(x) = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{4}x^T\Gamma_b x + id^T x\right]$$
(2.83)

for a real, strictly positive, symmetric  $2M \times 2M$  matrix  $\Gamma_b$  and  $d \in \mathbb{R}^{2M}$ .

Similar to FGS, bosonic Gaussian states are fully characterized by their second and first moments of quadratures via Wick's theorem, and can be collected in a matrix form

$$\left(\Gamma_b\right)_{k,l} = \operatorname{Tr}[\rho\{R_k - d_k, R_l - d_l\}] \equiv \operatorname{Tr}[\rho\{\delta R_k, \delta R_l\}]$$
(2.84)

with the displacement  $d_k$  given by

$$d_k = \operatorname{Tr}[\rho R_k], \qquad (2.85)$$

that in general is different from zero. Examples of bosonic Gaussian states with one mode are given by<sup>13</sup>: the bosonic vacuum state  $|0\rangle$  ( $\Gamma_b = 1$  and d = 0), coherent states  $|\alpha\rangle$  with  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$  ( $\Gamma_b = 1$  and  $d = \sqrt{2}(\text{Re}\alpha, \text{Im}\alpha)^T$ ) and squeezed states.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>This example is taken from [19].

**Remark.** Note that all moments in quadratures can be obtained from the characteristic function  $\chi(x)$  by taking derivatives w.r.t x and evaluating at x = 0. With this observation and via equation (2.83), the proof of Wick's theorem in the bosonic setting is clear.

In this case an admissible covariance matrix must fulfill the condition  $\Gamma_b \geq i\sigma$ . Moreover a state is pure if and only if  $\det(\Gamma_b) = 1$  or equivalently  $\Gamma_b = S^T S$  for some symplectic matrix  $S \in Sp(2M)$ , given by the set of matrices S such that  $S\sigma S^T = \sigma$ . As in the fermionic case, pure bosonic Gaussian states can be obtained applying a Bogoliubov transformation to the vacuum state

$$e^{\frac{i}{2}\langle R\rangle^T \sigma R} e^{-\frac{i}{4}R^T \xi_b R} \left| 0 \right\rangle, \qquad (2.86)$$

with  $\xi_b$  a real symmetric matrix. The only difference is the appearance of the displacement operator  $e^{\frac{i}{2}R^T\sigma\langle R\rangle}$ , generated by linear terms in R. We refer the reader to Ref. [19] for details.

Analogously to the fermionic case, the method described in the Appendix A can also be applied to obtain  $H_Q(\Gamma_b, \langle R \rangle)$  where additional linear terms in quadratures may appear unlike in the fermionic case where they were banned by the parity superselection rule:

$$H_Q(\Gamma_b, \langle R \rangle) = \frac{1}{2} \eta_H^T \delta R + \frac{1}{4} \delta R^T \Omega_H \delta R, \qquad (2.87)$$

with  $\eta_H^i := \partial \langle H \rangle / \partial \langle R \rangle_i$  and  $(\Omega_H)_{ij} = 4 \partial \langle H \rangle / \partial (\Gamma_b)_{ij}$ .

In [24], evolution equations for  $\Gamma_b$  and d for both real and imaginary evolutions have been derived taking the form

$$\frac{d}{d\tau}\Gamma_b = \sigma^T \Omega_H \sigma - \Gamma_b \Omega_H \Gamma, \qquad \frac{d}{d\tau} \langle R \rangle = -\Gamma_b \eta_H \tag{2.88}$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Gamma_b = \sigma^T \Omega_H \Gamma_b - \Gamma_b \Omega_H \sigma, \qquad \frac{d}{dt} \langle R \rangle = \sigma \eta_H.$$
(2.89)

This has allowed us to attempt the description of (2+1)-dimensional pure gauge theories in the strong coupling limit in the first section of the Outlook.

#### 2.6.2. Non-Gaussian ansatz

Once bosonic Gaussian states have been included one can consider the general Gaussian ansatz

$$|\psi(\xi)\rangle = e^{i\theta} e^{\frac{1}{2}\langle R \rangle^T \sigma R} e^{-\frac{i}{4}R^T \xi_b R} e^{\frac{i}{2}\Phi^{\dagger}\xi_f \Phi} \left| 0 \right\rangle, \qquad (2.90)$$

that is a product state with respect bosonic and fermionic operators.

Therefore (2.90) does not introduce any correlations between bosons and fermions and it's not sufficient to describe many physical situations. Thus we would like to extend the variational manifold in such a way we can include correlations and entanglement between the bosonic and fermionic modes and to go beyond Wick's theorem. In order to do so, we can extend the variational ansatz by multiplying the variational states (2.90) with an operator  $\mathcal{U}_S$  that is not Gaussian and can couple fermionic and bosonic degrees of freedom, which will introduce more variational parameters. We will see an example of this kind of transformations in chapters 4 and 5.

## 2.7. Summary and conclusion

We have introduced Gaussian states which present the remarkable advantage of being completely characterized by their covariance matrix and first order distribution moments which allows to efficiently describe quantum many-body systems. This has let us develop a time-dependent variational approximation method to describe the real and imaginary time evolution of interacting systems. On the one hand we are able to find the best approximation to the ground state via numerical integration and on the other hand, real-time dynamics are also possible. Nevertheless we have assumed a pure Gaussian state that is a product state for bosons and fermions and will in general need a further non-Gaussian transformation on it.

# 3. Lattice Gauge Theories

In this chapter, we firstly introduce non-Abelian gauge theories in the continuum [2]. Then an introduction to Lattice Gauge Theories [4, 33] in the Kogut-Susskind Hamiltonian formulation will be presented [7]. We will pay special attention to the underlying Hilbert space for both the gauge and fermionic fields and the generators of time-independent gauge transformations in the temporal gauge  $A_0 = 0$ , that turns out to be the most suitable for this formulation. We will finally study the phenomenon of confinement.

## 3.1. Introduction

As we explained in the introductory chapter, Lattice Gauge Theories (LGT) provides the most powerful approach to describe non-perturbative phenomena in particle physics. In spite of the fact that the formulation of gauge theories on a lattice loses the continuous spacetime symmetries as Lorentz invariance, it allows an exact implementation of the gauge symmetry for all lattice spacings. This important fact gives rise to the possibility of studying the special consequences of non-Abelian gauge theories, as for example confinement is believed to be.

On the other hand, the alternative Hamiltonian formulation of LGT by Kogut and Susskind [7], gives rise to a second quantized lattice Hamiltonian with fermions living on the sites and gauge fields on the links of the lattice as it happens in Condensed Matter Hamiltonians. This suggests the possibility to apply already known methods from other branches of physics like the time-dependent Gaussian variational method introduced in the previous chapter, that has been so far only applied to condensed matter systems.

Therefore in this chapter, after a brief introduction of the standard formulation of LGT by Wilson, we will focus on the Hamiltonian formulation. In spite of the fact one could obtain one from the other via the transfer matrix method [34], we will construct the quantized Hamiltonian from scratch. We will encounter different subtleties with which one has to deal when placing fermions on a lattice. This formulation will provide us with a way to construct the underlying Hilbert space for both fermionic and gauge degrees of freedom, as well as introduced the concept of confinement via the potential between two static charges. Unlike the standard formulation of LGT, this potential does not need to deduced from the so-called Wilson's loop but it can obtained as the ground state energy for a given configuration of static charges.

## 3.2. Continuum formulation

In this thesis we will look at theories having a local symmetry under a symmetry transformation described by non-Abelian (or Abelian) compact Lie groups like SU(N),

#### 3. Lattice Gauge Theories

which appears in gauge theories for particle physics. In fact we will usually make reference and apply results to this specific group that as we will see now is quite suitable. Nevertheless, the analysis we will describe here is also valid for any other compact Lie group. Therefore let's review basic facts before stepping into the theory.

#### 3.2.1. Facts in representation theory

Let's recall some important results from group and representation theory taken from [2, chap.15, App.A] and [35]:

- 1. A "physical" Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  of a Lie group G, is a direct sum of compact, simple  $^1$  and U(1) subalgebras [2, 35]. Therefore without lost of generality one just needs to focus on compact simple Lie groups like SU(N).
- 2.  $\mathfrak{g}$  is connected to G via the exponential map  $\exp : \mathfrak{g} \to G$ .
- 3. We call  $T^{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{g}$  the generators of G.
- 4. If G is a compact Lie group, every finite-dimensional representation  $\Pi : G \to GL(V)$ , with  $V \cong \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^n$  of G is completely reducible, i.e., if  $g \in G$ ,  $\Pi(g)$  isomorphic to a direct sum of a finite number of irreducible representations  $\oplus_j D^j(g)$ , where j denotes the irreducible representations of the group. The representations of the algebra will be denoted by  $T^{\alpha,j}$ .
- 5. Finite-dimensional representations of compact Lie groups are unitary, i.e.,

$$D_{ab}^{j}(g^{-1}) = D_{ba}^{j,*}(g).$$
(3.1)

6. For the previous case, there exists a basis for the generators  $T^{\alpha}$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$  such that the structure constants  $f^{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ , defined via

$$[T^{\alpha}, T^{\beta}] = i f^{\alpha\beta\gamma} T^{\gamma}, \qquad (3.2)$$

are totally antisymmetric.

- 7. There is a unique representation  $\pi$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$  acting on the same vector space V as  $\Pi$  such that  $\Pi(e^X) = e^{\pi(X)}$  for all  $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ .
- 8. If G is a connected Lie group then  $\Pi$  is irreducible if only if  $\pi$  is irreducible.
- 9. The adjoint representation is the **real representation** given by

$$(T^{\alpha}_{Adj.})^{\beta\gamma} := i f^{\alpha\beta\gamma}, \qquad (3.3)$$

and thus  $D^{\text{Adj.}}(g)$  is an orthogonal matrix.

10. Spinor fields  $\psi$  have two kind of indices: group and spinor indices. Unless it's explicitly said, spinor indices will be omitted and write  $\psi_a$  to denote the group components for any spinor index.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> compact means that the group manifold is compact and *simple* means that there don't exist invariant subalgebras.

11. SU(N) is a simple simply-connected compact Lie group for all  $N^2$ . Moreover  $\dim(SU(N)) = N^2 - 1$ .

Moreover we also state the conventions and notations that will be used in the remaining of this thesis:

#### **Conventions and notation:**

- $\mu$ ,  $\nu$  denote spacetime coordinates, e.g.,  $A_{\mu}$  or  $F_{\mu\nu}$ .
- The convention for the spacetime metric is mostly negative, i.e.,  $ds^2 = dt^2 d\vec{x}^2$ .
- i, j, k denote spatial components, e.g.,  $A_i$  or  $F_{ij}$ .
- j can also denotes a given representation of G as we saw.
- When considering non-Abelian gauge groups G,  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$  denote either a component of a gauge or strength field, e.g.,  $(A^i_{\alpha} \text{ and } E^i_{\alpha})$ ; or a generator  $T^{\alpha}$  of the associated algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ . They will be indistinctly written as subscripts or superscripts.
- Group components in a given representation j are denoted by  $a, b, c, \ldots$ , e.g.,  $\psi_a$  and  $(T^{\alpha})_{ab}$ . Nevertheless components in the adjoint representation will be exceptionally denoted by  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma$ .
- Einstein summation convention is assumed over repeated spacetime, spatial and group indices, i.e.,  $A^{\alpha}_{\mu}T^{\alpha} := \sum_{\alpha}^{\dim(\mathfrak{g})} A^{\alpha}_{\mu}T^{\alpha}$ .
- The notation **B** will be often used to express the collection  $\{B^{\alpha}\}$  when B is either an generator of the algebra, a matrix or an operator which depends on the  $\alpha$ -index, e.g.,  $\mathbf{T} = \{T^{\alpha}\}$ .

The fermionic matter content of the theory is given by spinorial fields  $\psi(x)$  which belong to a given irreducible representation j of the group and thus have dim(j) group components  $\psi_a(x)$ . These are equivalently called group, gauge or color components. Let's consider the Lagrangian density

$$\mathcal{L} = \bar{\psi}(i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} - m)\psi = \bar{\psi}_{a}(i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} - m)\delta_{a,b}\psi_{b}, \qquad (3.4)$$

where  $\delta_{a,b}$  is the Kronecker delta in group indices. This Lagrangian is invariant under a *global* "rotation" of color indices given by

$$\psi_a(x) \xrightarrow{h \in G} D^j_{ab}(h^{-1})\psi_b(x), \tag{3.5}$$

where  $D^{j}(h)$  is a  $dim(j) \times dim(j)$  matrix representation of the group element h. The transformation (3.5) is called global, since  $D^{j}(h)$  does not depend on the space-time point x. As it happens in QED, a (symmetry) gauge principle dictates how to promote this symmetry to a local (gauge) one

$$\psi_a(x) \xrightarrow{h_x \in G} D^j_{ab}(h_x^{-1})\psi_b(x), \tag{3.6}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>We have non-projective representations of the group.

#### 3. Lattice Gauge Theories

where now a different color rotation is applied at each spacetime point, leaving the system invariant. We restrict ourselves to unitary representations of the gauge group where  $D^{j}(g)$  can be expressed as

$$D_{ab}^{j}(h_{x}) = \left(\exp[ig\Lambda_{h}^{\alpha}(x)T^{\alpha,j}]\right)_{ab},$$
(3.7)

with  $\{\Lambda^{\alpha}(x)\}\$  a set of  $dim(\mathfrak{g})$  functions and g a *coupling constant* we introduced for later convenience.

In order to build a (local) gauge invariant Lagrangian density, we introduce the *covariant derivative* 

$$\delta_{a,b}\partial_{\mu} \longrightarrow (D_{\mu})_{ab} = \delta_{a,b}\partial_{\mu} + ig(A_{\mu})_{ab},$$

where  $A_{\mu}$  is an algebra-valued gauge field — called *connection*— such that

$$A_{\mu}(x) = A^{\alpha}_{\mu}(x)T^{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{g}.$$
(3.8)

This procedure gives rise to the invariant Lagrangian density

$$\mathcal{L} = \bar{\psi}(i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} - m)\psi - gA^{\alpha}_{\mu}j^{\mu}_{\alpha}, \qquad (3.9)$$

where we have called  $j^{\mu}_{\alpha} = \bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}T^{\alpha}\psi$ . However this is not the most general possible Lagrangian density since we could also add invariant pure-gauge terms as well. Defining the *field strength* as

$$F_{\mu\nu} := \frac{-i}{g} [D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}] = \partial_{\mu} A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu} A_{\mu} + ig[A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}] \in \mathfrak{g}.$$

the kinetic term for the gauge fields is fixed by Lorentz, parity<sup>3</sup> and gauge symmetry as well as by renormalizability conditions [2] to be

$$\mathcal{L}_{Kin} = -\frac{1}{4} F_{\alpha,\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu}_{\alpha}, \qquad (3.10)$$

obtaining the Lagrangian density

$$\mathcal{L} = \bar{\psi}(i\partial \!\!\!/ - m)\psi - gA^{\alpha}_{\mu}j^{\mu}_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{4}F_{\alpha,\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}_{\alpha}.$$
(3.11)

A novel feature of non-Abelian gauge theories in comparison to QED, it's the fact that it is not possible to introduce a kinematic term for the gauge field  $A_{\mu}$  without including interaction terms among the gauge fields, arising from the term in  $F_{\mu\nu}$ given by  $ig[A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}]$ . This non-linearity is the responsible of many special features of non-Abelian gauge theories.

In order to quantize the theory, we first must derive the canonical conjugate momentum densities for the different fields

$$\Pi^{\mu}_{\alpha} = F^{\mu 0}_{\alpha}, \quad \Pi_{\psi} = i\psi^{\dagger}, \qquad (3.12)$$

from where we deduce

$$\Pi^0_{\alpha} = 0 \text{ and } \Pi^i_{\alpha} = E^i_{\alpha}, \qquad (3.13)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>If parity symmetry or CP or T is not assumed one should include an additional quadratic term.

i.e.,  $A^0_{\alpha}$  is not a canonical variable and the constraint  $\Pi^0_{\alpha} = 0$  must be fulfilled. For consistency we should also require  $\partial_0 \Pi^0_{\alpha} = 0$ , but then using the equation of motion for  $A^0_{\alpha}$ 

$$0 = \partial_0 \Pi^0_\alpha = \partial_0 \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta(\partial_0 A^0_\alpha)} = -\partial_i \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta(\partial_i A^0_\alpha)} + \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta A^0_\alpha}.$$
 (3.14)

and recalling that  $\Pi^0_{\alpha} = 0$  we obtain

$$\partial_{i}\Pi_{\alpha}^{i} - gf^{\gamma\alpha\beta}\Pi_{\gamma}^{i}A_{\beta}^{i} - gj_{\alpha}^{0} = 0$$
  
$$\Rightarrow \boxed{\partial_{i}E_{\alpha}^{i} = \mathcal{J}_{\alpha}^{0} \equiv gf^{\gamma\alpha\beta}E_{\gamma}^{i}A_{\beta}^{i} + gj_{\alpha}^{0}} \quad \alpha = 1, \dots, dim(G), \qquad (3.15)$$

with i a spatial index.

We realize (3.15) is the non-Abelian version of Gauss' law where the first term on the right hand side is the color charge for the gauge field<sup>4</sup>, i.e., it carries it own color charge, and the second is the fermionic color charge. On the other hand the left hand side is the divergence of the electric field related with the *local* rather than global aspect of the gauge symmetry. Note that unlike the Abelian case, there is a Gauss' law for each color component  $\alpha$ , which are constraints that any possible field solution must fulfill <sup>5</sup>.

In order to apply the canonical quantization procedure one needs to fix a gauge. As we will later see, the use of temporal (Weyl) gauge

$$A_{0,\alpha}' = A_{0,\alpha} - \partial_0 \Lambda_\alpha = 0 \tag{3.16}$$

is convenient for the Hamiltonian formulation of LGT [37]. This choice of gauge leaves remaining unphysical degrees of freedom [38, 39] as we will later see. The canonical variables are the spatial components  $A^i_{\alpha}$  and their conjugate momenta. If the system were unconstrained, we would have just to promote the classical fields to quantum operators by setting equal time canonical commutation relations

$$[A^{i}_{\alpha}(x), E^{j}_{\beta}(y)] = i\delta^{i,j}\delta_{\alpha,\beta}\delta^{d-1}(x-y), \qquad \{\psi_{a}(x), \psi^{\dagger}_{b}(y)\} = \delta_{a,b}\delta^{d-1}(x-y) \quad (3.17)$$

$$[A^{i}_{\alpha}(x), A^{j}_{\beta}(y)] = 0, \qquad [E^{i}_{\alpha}(x), E^{j}_{\beta}(y)] = 0, \qquad \{\psi_{a}(x), \psi_{b}(y)\} = 0, \tag{3.18}$$

obtaining the quantum Hamiltonian

$$H = \int d^{d-1}x \,\bar{\psi} \Big( \gamma^i (-i\partial_i) + m \Big) \psi + g A^{\alpha}_i j^i_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} E^i_{\alpha} E^i_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{4} F_{\alpha,ij} F^{ij}_{\alpha} - \mathcal{A}^{\alpha}_0 \Big( \partial_i E^i_{\alpha} - g f^{\beta\alpha\gamma} A^i_{\beta} E^i_{\gamma} - g j^0_{\alpha} \Big),$$

$$(3.19)$$

<sup>4</sup>Applying Noether's theorem one obtains that the color charge  $\mathcal{J}^0_{\alpha}$  is given by

$$\mathcal{J}^0_\alpha = f^{\gamma\alpha\beta} E^i_\gamma A^i_\beta + j^0_\alpha.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This problem is one of constraints as introduced by Dirac [36] where  $\Pi_{\alpha}^{0} = 0$  and (3.15) are first class constraints and therefore cannot be dealt with via Dirac brackets and therefore one has to fix the gauge.

#### 3. Lattice Gauge Theories

i.e.,

$$H = \int d^{d-1}x \,\bar{\psi} \Big( \gamma^{i}(-i\partial_{i}) + m \Big) \psi + g A^{\alpha}_{i} j^{i}_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} (E^{i}_{\alpha})^{2} + \frac{1}{4} F^{ij}_{\alpha} F^{ij}_{\alpha}, \qquad (3.20)$$

where one can identify the last term in (3.19) to be the non-Abelian Gauss' law (3.15). After fixing the temporal gauge, the Hamiltonian (3.20) is still invariant under time-independent gauge transformations which respect  $A^0_{\alpha} = 0$  and close a symmetry group, that will be called spatial-gauge transformations. Imposing Gauss' law as a constraint condition on physical states allows us to eliminate these remaining degrees of freedom.<sup>6</sup>. By doing so we are choosing a representative of the equivalence class of states related by gauge transformations.

**Remark.** Let's insist on the fact that both gauge and strength fields are algebravalue operators where, for example,  $\{E_{\beta}^{i}\}$  denotes the quantum operator content and  $E^{i} = E_{\alpha}^{i}T^{\alpha}$  would contain both the matrix and quantum operator structure.

#### Generators of time-independent gauge transformation

As we will see later, the identification of the generators of time-independent gauge transformations, are rather important for the construction of the physical Hilbert space.

In the classical field theory we obtained Gauss' law (3.15) from the equation of motion for  $A^0_{\alpha}$ . Moreover for consistency one should also requires that  $\partial^2_0 \Pi^0_{\alpha} = 0$ , i.e., ensures that Gauss' law if fulfilled at all times. Indeed, using the conservation of charge densities  $\partial_{\mu} \mathcal{J}^{\mu}_{\alpha} = 0$  one can prove that

$$\partial_0(\partial_i E^i_\alpha - \mathcal{J}^0_\alpha) = 0, \qquad (3.21)$$

and then fulfilling (3.15) at t = 0 implies Gauss' law will hold at all times. We then see that Gauss' law is a *local constant of motion*, i.e.,

$$\{H, G_{\alpha}(x)\} = 0 \quad \forall x. \tag{3.22}$$

While (3.15) cannot be deduced from Hamilton equations of (3.20) both in classical and quantum field theory, alternatively one finds [39] (or can check) that the set of charge densities generating the spatial-gauge transformations<sup>7</sup> are given by

$$G_{\alpha}(x) = \partial_i E^i_{\alpha} - g j^0_{\alpha} - g f^{\beta \alpha \gamma} A^i_{\beta} E^i_{\gamma} \quad \alpha = 1, \dots, \dim(G),$$
(3.23)

that as we saw, are in fact local constants of motion<sup>8</sup>

$$[H, G_{\alpha}(x)] = 0 \quad \forall x \text{ and } \alpha = 1, \dots, \dim(G), \tag{3.24}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>This method is known as Dirac quantization and it was introduced by Dirac in [36].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>These charges can be derived applying Noether's theorem to the remaining symmetry group [39].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The proof we just followed is a circular reasoning since from the point of view of Dirac quantization, first class constraints are generators of gauge transformations.
and therefore can be simultaneously diagonalized with  $H^{.9}$  Therefore the spatialgauge transformation can be written as

$$\mathcal{V} = \exp\left[i\int d^{d-1}x\,\theta^{\alpha}(x)G_{\alpha}(x)\right],\tag{3.25}$$

as one can check by using (3.17). We will further discuss the interpretation of gauge symmetries and transformations in the discrete formulation of gauge theories, where the previously introduced concept of connection becomes clear. Therefore in order to erase the remaining gauge degrees of freedom we need to restrict the Hilbert space to gauge invariant states  $|\psi\rangle$  fulfilling

$$\mathcal{V} \left| \psi \right\rangle = \left| \psi \right\rangle, \tag{3.26}$$

usually called *physical states*. These condition is equivalent to set

$$G_{\alpha}(x) |\psi\rangle = 0 \quad \forall \, \alpha, \tag{3.27}$$

which defines a linear subspace known as physical space of states.

**Remark.** Using (3.17) one can check as an easy exercise applying the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula that for the Abelian case, the gauge field  $A_i(x)$  transforms under the spatial-gauge transformation as

$$e^{i\int d^{d-1}y\,\theta(y)\left(\partial_{j}E^{j}(y)-j^{0}(y)\right)}A_{i}(x)e^{-i\int d^{d-1}y\,\theta(y)\left(\partial_{j}E^{j}(y)-j^{0}(y)\right)} = A_{i}(x)$$
(3.28)  
$$-\int d^{d-1}y\,\theta(y)\delta^{i,j}\partial_{y^{j}}\delta^{d}(x-y) = A_{i}(x) + \int d^{d-1}y\,\partial_{y^{j}}\theta(y)\delta^{i,j}\delta^{d}(x-y) = A_{i}(x) + \partial_{i}\theta(x)$$

## 3.3. Gauge theories on a lattice

In the standard formulation of LGT by Wilson [5], one replaces the continuum spacetime of a *Euclidean* quantum field theory with a *d*-dimensional hypercubic lattice ( $\mathbb{Z}^d$ ) of spacetime points and links with lattice spacing *a*, which provides an ultraviolet cutoff. Although analytically the existence of such a cutoff is not really appealing, it allows strong-coupling calculations via, for example, simulation methods. This provides a way to understand non-perturbative phenomena like: quark confinement, hadronic spectrum and spontaneous breakdown of chiral symmetry in QCD; whose analytical understanding is still lacking. The lattice formulation of gauge theories, while losing spacetime symmetries of the original action, like Lorentz symmetry, allows to study the special effects of exact gauge invariance in strongly coupled theories [7], being the reason why it has attracted so much attention in other branches of physics like condensed matter. In fact this is also one of the goals of this thesis.

The idea is to discretize the original (Euclidean)<sup>10</sup> action in such a way one recovers the continuum theory as  $a \to 0$ —keeping  $V = a^d \cdot N$  constant being  $N \to \infty$  the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>In spite the fact all charges commute with H, different  $G'_{\alpha}s$  do not commute.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>By Euclidean action one means the obtained action after a Wick's rotation, i.e., from real to imaginary time, has been applied. This procedure allows the use of Monte Carlo techniques as well as further connections to Statistical Physics.

number of point in the lattice—

$$a^{d} \sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \mathcal{L}(ax) \xrightarrow{a \to 0} \int d^{d}x \, \mathcal{L}(x)$$
(3.29)

with the restriction that for any value of the lattice spacing a, the **discrete action** is gauge invariant. This limit is called *classical continuum limit* as one assumes the fields are slowly varying on a length scale of the order of a [33]<sup>11</sup>. There is also a necessary condition that the discretized action confines quarks in the strong coupling limit.

Let us set some conventions. An arbitrary point on the lattice is denoted by x and it's a Bravais lattice vector. On each site x, 2d lattice directions enter and leave the site. For example in 3 spatial dimensions,  $\hat{x}$ ,  $\hat{y}$ ,  $\hat{z}$  and  $-\hat{x}$ ,  $-\hat{y}$ ,  $-\hat{z}$ . They will be called positive (i > 0) and negative (i < 0) orientated respectively and usually denoted with  $\mu$ ,  $\nu$  if a spacetime lattice is considered or i,j if only a spatial lattice is considered as already explained in the adopted conventions section 3.2.1. Finally the spaces between neighboring lattice points (links) are denoted by a position and a lattice vector  $(x, \mu)$ . The same interval can be denoted  $(x + \mu, -\mu)$ .

On the lattice the fermionic fields  $\psi_x$ ,  $\bar{\psi}_x$  live on the sites while the gauge fields  $A_{\mu}(x)$  lives on the links, being x a d-vector with integer components. Since the action must be gauge invariant, the simple naive discretization of directional derivatives  $\partial_{\mu}\psi(x)$  by finite differences  $1/2a(\psi_{x+\hat{\mu}} - \psi_{x-\hat{\mu}})$  with  $\hat{\mu}$  a unit vector along the axis  $\mu$ , cannot be applied. This is due to the fact that the product  $\bar{\psi}_x\psi_{x\pm\hat{\mu}}$  is not gauge invariant.<sup>12</sup> Instead the so called "naive" gauge invariant discretization is given by

$$S_{W} = \frac{a^{d-1}}{2} \sum_{x} \sum_{\mu} \left[ \bar{\psi}_{x} \gamma^{\mu} U_{\mu}(x) \psi_{x+\hat{\mu}} - \bar{\psi}_{x+\hat{\mu}} \gamma^{\mu} U_{\mu}^{\dagger}(x) \psi_{x} \right] - ma^{d} \sum_{x} \bar{\psi}_{x} \psi_{x} \quad (3.30)$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2g^{2}} a^{d-4} \sum_{x} \sum_{\mu,\nu>0} \left[ U_{\mu}(x) U_{\nu}(x+\mu) U_{\mu}^{\dagger}(x+\nu) U_{\nu}^{\dagger}(x) + h.c. \right],$$

where as before g is defined to be the coupling constant,  $\mu, \nu > 0$  means that the sum must be taken along positive orientated links and  $U_{\mu}(x)$  is a unitary operator given by

$$U_{\mu}(x) = e^{igaA_{\mu}(x)}, \tag{3.31}$$

in such a way one can recover the classical continuum limit from (3.30). There is not over-all factor of *i* in (3.30) due to the Euclidean metric. This action is called "naive" since still suffers from the technical issue of placing fermions on a lattice, known as *doubling problem*, that will be introduced later. Note that from the last term in (3.30)one recovers the kinetic term (3.10) for the gauge field where the factor  $1/2g^2$  is needed to recover the continuum limit in its conventional notation. In fact this discretization

$$\bar{\psi}(r+\xi)\gamma_{\mu}e^{ie\int_{r}^{r+\xi}dx^{\mu}A_{\mu}(x)}\psi(r)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>This condition could not hold and the classical continuum limit could differ from the real one [40]. <sup>12</sup>This product was once already found by Schwinger when trying to regulate the ultraviolet diver-

gences of quantum electrodynamics and he considered point-split products of fermionic fields [34]. He fixed the non invariance by inserting a phase of the form

is not unique, in the sense that there exist other configuration of closed loops apart from the chosen "plaquettes" operators which recover the same limit. However recall the fact one usually considers the simplest admissible discretization. The operator  $U_{\mu}(x)$  is often called *connector*, and despite the reason why is so it will be argued once the Hamiltonian formulation has been introduced, let's give a brief idea about it.

Let's consider the case of QED, i.e where the gauge group is the Abelian U(1). In that case the connector  $U_{\mu}(x)$  can be interpreted as a Aharonov-Bohm phase picked by the fermions when hopping from site to site on the lattice. Therefore, when the fermion closes a loop, picks up a gauge invariant phase proportional to the magnetic strength. In this way we can understand the last term in (3.30) as the magnetic contribution to the action.

**Remark.** Note the fact that the coupling g appears as an inverse power in the puregauge dynamical term in (3.30). Therefore in the lattice the natural perturbative expansion is around the strong-coupling limit [4]. This fact is one of the key ideas of LGT.

## 3.4. Hamiltonian formulation of LGT

In many problems in physics it's interesting to look at wavefunctions, estimate energies, masses and shapes of bound states of the system, i.e understand the underlying Hilbert space structure of the system. Sometimes these are difficult to be obtained from a path integral formulation but not so much from a Hamiltonian quantummechanical formulation. Being so, one could either obtain the quantum Hamiltonian from the path integral formulation by calculating the system's transfer matrix [5] or construct the Hamiltonian from scratch [7].

This second option was presented by Kogut and Susskind in 1974 [7], months later Wilson published his seminal paper on LGT [5]. As in the Euclidean formulation, the key is the requirement that local gauge invariance is an exact symmetry of the system for all lattice spacing a. In this formulation we consider a spatial lattice and leaves the time to be a continuous variable. Since the gauge transformations could depend in principle both in time and spatial directions, the formalism would be highly simplified if choosing the temporal gauge, i.e  $A_0 = 0$ , since then the only remaining gauge symmetry group is formed by the time-independent gauge transformations, whose arguments are evaluated on points of the spatial lattice.

Because of we will only apply the formalism to (1+1)-dimensional theories with both matter and gauge fields (chapters 4 and 5) and (2+1)-dimensional pure-gauge theories (Outlook), let us only introduce the gauge theory for the later case (where the former appears as an example) and the fermionic sector for the (1+1)-dimensional case. Now x will denote a point in the spatial lattice. Moreover as abuse of notation, we will omit the chosen representation for the gauge group and call

$$D^{j}(g_{x}) \to V(x),$$

$$(3.32)$$

keeping  $U_i(x)$  for the gauge field when the representation is not explicitly necessary. Moreover, from now on by gauge transformations we will mean time-independent

gauge ones. Finally, we will develop the theory for non-Abelian gauge theories, being the U(1) case (analyzed in chapter 4) a simplified case of them with only a small different technicality and focus on the case SU(2), when a explicit and intuitive computation needs to be done.

Note. Let's note the fact than in the non-Abelian quantum version

$$U(x,i) = e^{iagA_i(x)} = e^{iagA_i^{\alpha}(x)T^{\alpha}}$$
(3.33)

is a matrix, due to the matrix structure of  $T^{\alpha}$  and as gauge operators because of  $A_i^{\alpha}$ and therefore two kind of commutation relations can be meant. Moreover, like the matter fields  $\psi$ , the gauge fields will depend on the choice of representation j for the generators of G. This dependence will be expressed in the form  $U^j(x,i)$ , following the notation by Kogut and Susskind. Finally, the notation  $U^j$  will be used when the given result holds for every link of the lattice.

## Gauge transformations on the lattice

As we saw in (3.30), in order to construct an invariant action one needs to introduce unitary operators connecting the different matter fields. It's the aim of this section to derive and interpret this result. In order to do so let's start reviewing how the different mathematical ingredients change under gauge transformations. As it's known from the continuum theory, the generators of gauge transformations for the fermionic fields are given by the conserved charges  $\int dx \, j^0$ . As it couldn't be other way, this is also true in the discrete case. Calling  $Q_x^{\alpha} = \psi_x^{\dagger} T^{\alpha} \psi_x$  the discretized charge, which being a quantum representation of the algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  holds

$$[Q^{\alpha}, Q^{\beta}] = i f^{\alpha\beta\gamma} Q^{\gamma}, \qquad (3.34)$$

and denoting  $\Lambda_x$  the parameters representing a specific group element  $h \in G$ , we see that

$$\Theta_h^Q = \exp\left[i\sum_x \Lambda_x^\alpha Q_x^\alpha\right] \Rightarrow \Theta_h^Q \psi_x \Theta_h^{Q,\dagger} = V^{\dagger}(x)\psi_x, \quad \Theta_h^Q \psi_x^{\dagger} \Theta_h^{Q,\dagger} = \psi_x^{\dagger} V(x), \quad (3.35)$$

with

$$V(x) = \exp[i\Lambda_x \cdot \mathbf{T}] \equiv \exp[i\Lambda_x^{\alpha}T^{\alpha}], \qquad (3.36)$$

where we have introduced the notation  $\Lambda_x \cdot \mathbf{T} := \sum_{\alpha} \Lambda_x^{\alpha} T^{\alpha}$  that will be used from now on.

On the other hand we have to consider the group elements  $U(x, i) \in G$  living on a link. Since in general G is non-Abelian, one has to distinguish between left and right multiplications on each link

Left: 
$$U(x,i) \to V(x)U(x,i)$$
 (3.37)

Right: 
$$U(x,i) \to U(x,i)V(x+i)$$
, (3.38)

which are generated by two different kind of generators, also defined on the link, namely left  $\mathbf{L} = \{L_{\alpha}\}$  and right  $\mathbf{R} = \{R_{\alpha}\}$  which hold the commutation relations

$$\begin{bmatrix} -L^{i}_{\alpha}(x), -L^{i}_{\beta}(x) \end{bmatrix} = -if^{\alpha\beta\gamma}L^{i}_{\gamma}(x), \qquad \begin{bmatrix} R^{i}_{\alpha}(x), R^{i}_{\beta}(x) \end{bmatrix} = if^{\alpha\beta\gamma}R^{i}_{\gamma}(x)$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} L^{i}_{\alpha}(x), R^{i}_{\beta}(x) \end{bmatrix} = 0, \qquad (3.39)$$

on every link  $(x, \hat{i})$  and equal zero if evaluated on different links [7, 9, 40]. As it will be explained, they **can be interpreted as left and right electric fields**. As in the standard formulation of LGT, we want the product

$$\psi_x^{\dagger} U(x,i) \psi_{x+\hat{i}} \tag{3.40}$$

to be gauge invariant. Since the product  $\psi_x^{\dagger}\psi_{x+\hat{i}}$  transforms as

$$\psi_x^{\dagger}\psi_{x+\hat{i}} \to \psi_x^{\dagger}V(x)V^{\dagger}(x+i)\psi_{x+\hat{i}}, \qquad (3.41)$$

this implies that U(x, i) should transform

$$U(x,i) \to V^{\dagger}(x)U(x,i)V(x+\hat{i}), \qquad (3.42)$$

Now defining the unitaries generated by **L** and **R** on the link  $(x, \hat{i})$ 

$$\Theta_h^L = \exp[-i\Lambda_h(x) \cdot \mathbf{L}_x^i], \qquad \Theta_h^R = \exp[i\Lambda_h(x) \cdot \mathbf{R}_x^i]$$
(3.43)

we find

$$\Theta_h^L U(x,i)\Theta_h^{L,\dagger} = V^{\dagger}(x)U(x,i), \qquad \Theta_h^Q U(x,i)\Theta_h^{Q,\dagger} = U(x,i)V(x+\hat{i}), \qquad (3.44)$$

i.e the spatial-gauge transformation (3.42) is given by [41]

$$\Theta_h^L \Theta_h^R U(x,i) \Theta_h^{R,\dagger} \Theta_h^{L,\dagger} = V^{\dagger}(x) U(x,i) V(x+\hat{i}).$$
(3.45)

**Remark.** We just prove that the product

$$\psi_x^{\dagger} U(x,i) \psi_{x+\hat{i}},\tag{3.46}$$

i.e product of group elements along open loops bounded by fermionic operators, as well as

$$\operatorname{Tr}\Big[U(x,i)U(x+\hat{i},k)\dots U^{\dagger}(x,l)\Big],\tag{3.47}$$

i.e traces of products of group elements along closed loops — *Wilson loop*— are gauge invariant. In fact these two possibilities are the only ones and will be used to construct the gauge-invariant Hilbert space.

Finally, choosing a specific representation j for the transformations matrices V(x) the following commutation relations

$$[L_{\alpha}, (U^{j})_{r}^{l}] = (T^{\alpha, j})_{lk} (U^{j})_{r}^{k} \qquad [R_{\alpha}, (U^{j})_{r}^{l}] = (U^{j})_{k}^{l} (T^{\alpha, j})_{kr} \qquad (3.48)$$

hold for every link of the lattice [7], as one can prove considering the infinitesimal versions of the finite transformations in (3.44). Note that (3.48) and (3.39) can be obtained from each other via Jacobi identity, i.e using the relation

$$[L_{\alpha}, [L_{\beta}, (U^{j})^{l}_{r}]] - [L_{\beta}, [L_{\alpha}, (U^{j})^{l}_{r}]] = [[L_{\alpha}, L_{\beta}], (U^{j})^{l}_{r}]$$
(3.49)

between quantum operators.



Figure 3.1.: The picture shows two different color frames at different sites of the lattice, connected by the group element U(x, i) in order to relate different reference frames.

## Interpretation.

Let's start with the simple Abelian case. In such a situation the group is Abelian and left and right element multiplication coincide. Therefore there is only one generator and the group element are phases. In the U(1) case the commutation relations (3.44) simplify to  $[E^i(x), A^j(y)] = -i\delta_{x,y}/a\delta^{i,j}$ , i.e as the gauge field  $A_i(x)$  the conjugate momenta  $E^i(x)$  also live on the links.

On the other hand, we find that in the non-Abelian case, two kind of generators exist on a link fulfilling the canonical commutation relations (3.48) and multiplying either from the right or from the left to U(x, i). Moreover via the transformation (3.35), one can **independently** "rotate" the color indices on each site of the lattice. Therefore we can think of independent color reference frames at each site x, which can be freely orientated. However it's our aim to construct a (local) gauge invariant (colorless) Hamiltonian, since physics does not depend on the orientation of these frames. In order to relate different reference frames as we move from site to site and get a gauge invariant system, we **connect** those via the connector U(x, i) as it's shown in the Figure 3.1 whose color frame can also be orientated via  $(3.44)^{13}$ .

From (3.44) we know that on the given link, **L** and **R**, generate left and right rotations of U(x, i) respectively. Now the question is how to interpret them as two different kind of electric fields on a link. In order to do so we can write the complete expression for the gauge time-independent transformation defined on each site x for  $h \in G$  as

$$\Theta_h = \prod_{i>0} \Theta_{h,i}^L \prod_{i<0} \Theta_{h,i}^R \Theta_h^Q, \qquad (3.50)$$

i.e, the transformation acting on the site x and all links going in i < 0 and out i > 0 from x. Since the different factors in the products commute with each other we can obtain that the generator of gauge transformations is given by

$$G_x^{\alpha} = \sum_{i>0} L_i^{\alpha}(x) - \sum_{i<0} R_i^{\alpha}(x) - Q_x^{\alpha}, \qquad (3.51)$$

where we recognize the discrete version of the continuum charge densities (3.23). Once again imposing gauge invariant physical states one finds the discretized quantum Gauss' law

$$G_x^{\alpha} |\psi\rangle = \left(\sum_{i>0} L_i^{\alpha}(x) - \sum_{i<0} R_i^{\alpha}(x) - Q_x^{\alpha}\right) |\psi\rangle = 0.$$
(3.52)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>This interpretation is due to Yang and Mills [42].

From (3.52) and using  $(x, \hat{i}) = (x - \hat{i}, \hat{i})$  for the right generator, we observe that on a given site x the difference —not sum over i is implied—

$$L_i^{\alpha}(x) - R_i^{\alpha}(x - \hat{i}) = Q_x^{\alpha} \sim \partial_i E_{\alpha}^i = j_{\alpha}^0(x) + g f^{\beta \alpha \gamma} A_{\beta}^i E_{\gamma}^i, \qquad (3.53)$$

is not only the fermionic color charge  $Q_x^{\alpha}$  due to the fact that the gauge boson carries its own color charge, and therefore unlike in the Abelian case, the "electric field" can change from site to site on a given link. In fact one can prove [7] that the classical continuum limit of such difference is the left hand side of the continuum result in (3.53).

Now we will construct the Hamiltonian for both the gauge and matter fields in such a way we can recover the Hamiltonian (3.20) in the continuum limit. In order to do so we will look for the simplest and local gauge invariant form of the Hamiltonian, i.e commuting with the  $G^{\alpha}$  operators.

## Static charges

So far we introduced gauge and fermionic content in the theory. Sometimes is interesting to insert some (colored) impurities to study the behavior of the system on their presence. In LGT, these impurities are called *static charges* and they appear as non-zero eigenvalues of the charge generator. As we have seen the generators of spatial-gauge transformations are constants of motion, i.e

$$[H, G_x^{\alpha}] = 0 \quad \forall \, \alpha \, x, \tag{3.54}$$

and in the non-Abelian case they also hold the algebra

$$[G_x^{\alpha}, G_x^{\beta}] = i f^{\alpha\beta\gamma} G_x^{\gamma}, \qquad (3.55)$$

with  $f^{\alpha\beta\gamma}$  the structure constants of the gauge group.

Therefore the Hamiltonian, one chosen generator  $G_n^{\bar{\alpha}}$  and the possible Casimir operators of the given algebra, can be simultaneously diagonalized. This fact allows to subdivide the Hilbert space into sectors of eigenvalues of  $G_n^{\bar{\alpha}}$ 

$$\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{\{q_x^{\bar{\alpha}}\}} \mathcal{H}(\{q_x^{\bar{\alpha}}\}),\tag{3.56}$$

where  $q_x^{\bar{\alpha}}$  are the eigenvalues of  $G_x^{\bar{\alpha}}$  and their possible values depend on the chosen representation for the gauge group.

Each sector  $\mathcal{H}(\{q_x^{\bar{\alpha}}\})$  corresponds to a configuration of a set of eigenvalues  $\{q_x^{\bar{\alpha}}\}$  called *static charges* and can change from site to site on the lattice.

The reason why these are called static charge goes as follows. Suppose that in (3.20) we couple the gauge field to an external current  $J_{\text{ext}} = q^{\alpha} \delta(x-x_0)$ . There is a subtlety since one should treat the group components (spin) of the external charges quantum mechanically, considering an additional Hilbert space as we will see in chapter 5. Gauss' law is now given by

$$G^{\alpha}(x) = \partial_i E^i_{\alpha} - \mathcal{J}^0_{\alpha} = J^0_{\text{ext},\alpha}, \qquad (3.57)$$

whose quantum version is the eigenvalue problem

$$G_x^{\alpha} |\psi(\{q_x^{\alpha}\})\rangle = q_x^{\alpha} |\psi(\{q_x^{\alpha}\})\rangle.$$
(3.58)

Therefore different spatial eigenvalue configurations of  $G^{\alpha}$  just describe different physical situations corresponding to different spatial configurations of static charges. A clarifying description of the insertion of static charges can be found in [40, pag. 45] and will be discussed in 5.2.2.

## 3.4.1. Fermionic sector

In the previous subsection we already saw that the combination  $\bar{\psi}_x U(x,i)\psi_{x+\hat{i}}$  is gauge invariant, therefore we just need to copy from (3.30), eliminating the temporal direction and the gauge field component  $A_0 = 0$ . It's also clear that the mass term is invariant as well since both fermionic fields are evaluated on the same point of the lattice. One obtains

$$H = a^{d-1} \sum_{x} \sum_{k} \frac{-i}{2a} \Big[ \bar{\psi}_{x} \gamma^{k} e^{iagA_{k}(x)} \psi_{x+\hat{k}} - \bar{\psi}_{x+\hat{k}} \gamma^{k} e^{-iagA_{k}(x)} \psi_{x} \Big] + ma^{d-1} \sum_{x} \bar{\psi}_{x} \psi_{x}.$$
(3.59)

One can read (3.59) as formed by two terms: a hopping term, where the hopping excitation acquires a phase depending on the position; and a mass term.

## **Classical continuum limit**

Let us compute the classical continuum limit of the fermionic Hamiltonian (3.59). In order to do so we need the assumption of slowly varying fields and use the limit

$$a^d \sum_x f(ax) \xrightarrow{a \to 0} \int d^d x f(x).$$
 (3.60)

From here it's clear one can easily recover the mass term. Moreover expanding the exponential factors to first power in a, writing the directional derivative as

$$\psi(ax + a\hat{k}) - \psi(ax - a\hat{k}) = 2a\partial_k\psi(ax) + \mathcal{O}(a^2), \qquad (3.61)$$

and rewriting the hopping term  $as^{14}$ 

$$H = a^{d-1} \sum_{x} \sum_{k} -i\bar{\psi}_{x}\gamma^{k} \Big[ \frac{\psi_{x+\hat{k}} - \bar{\psi}_{x-\hat{k}}}{2a} \Big] + ag \frac{\bar{\psi}_{x}\gamma^{k}A_{k}(x)\psi_{x+\hat{k}} + \bar{\psi}_{x+\hat{k}}\gamma^{i}A_{k}(x)\psi_{x}}{2a},$$
(3.62)

we recover its continuous form.

It could look like we have finished the discussion for the discretization of fermionic fields. However our current discretized version of the theory has double fermionic content. This technical problem is known as the *doubling problem* or *species doubling* and is a specific case of a more general kind of phenomena studied by Nielsen and Ninomiya in 1981.

## **Doubling problem**

Nielsen-Ninomiya No-Go theorem [43, 44] states that there can be no net chirality in a lattice model of fermions in which the Hamiltonian satisfies the following conditions:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>In order to rewrite it in this way, we assume an infinite system or periodic boundary conditions.

it is quadratic in the fields, invariant under change of the phase (at least global) of the fields, invariant under translations of the (cubic) lattice and local, meaning that the dispersion relation is a smooth function on the momentum.

Let's discuss the (1+1)-dimensional Dirac Hamiltonian, since it's the case that will be used for the description of the Schwinger model in terms of the Gaussian method and since we can already understand the doubling problem in its simplest form. A discussion for higher dimensional cases can be found in [45]. In a one-dimensional spatial lattice we can name both points and links with only one integer n, in such a way that the link between the sites n and n + 1 will be also denoted by n. Let us consider the second quantized Hamiltonian

$$H = \int dx \,\bar{\psi}(x)(-i\gamma^1 \partial_x + m)\psi(x) \tag{3.63}$$

where

$$\gamma_0 = \sigma_z, \quad \gamma^1 = \sigma_z \sigma_x, \quad \gamma_5 = \sigma_x,$$
(3.64)

since in (1+1)-dimensions the Clifford algebra can be chosen to be of dimension two. In the massless case

$$H = \int dx \,\psi^{\dagger}(x)\gamma_5(-i\partial_x)\psi(x), \qquad (3.65)$$

the eigenstates of the Hamiltonian  $\psi_{\pm}$  are chiral eigenstates, i.e

$$\gamma_5 \psi_{\pm} = \pm \psi_{\pm}, \tag{3.66}$$

which in one dimension coincides with the group velocity  $v = \partial E / \partial k$ , i.e the slope of the dispersion relation. In fact their dispersion relations are given by

$$E_{\pm}(k) = \pm k, \quad -\infty < k < \infty.$$
 (3.67)

Let's place the Dirac quantum Hamiltonian on a one-dimensional chain of N sites, placing  $\psi = (\psi_1, \psi_2)^T$  on each site of the lattice and replacing  $\partial_x$  by a discrete difference as before.

$$H_N = \frac{-i}{2a} \sum_n \psi_n^{\dagger} \gamma_5 [\psi_{n+1} - \psi_{n-1}].$$
(3.68)

As a consequence of the Bloch theorem, the first Brillouin zone is given by  $[-\pi/a, \pi/a]$ where  $k = -\pi/a$  and  $k = \pi/a$  are identified, being the energy periodic with period  $2\pi/a$ . Fourier transforming (3.68)

$$H_N = \sum_k \frac{\sin(k \cdot a)}{a} \psi_k^{\dagger} \gamma_5 \psi_k, \qquad (3.69)$$

we observe the eigenstates  $\psi_{\pm}$  are still chiral eigenstates with eigenvalues depending on k. In fact

$$E_{\pm}^{N}(k) = \pm \frac{\sin(ka)}{a}.$$
 (3.70)

Let's focus on the eigenstate  $\psi_+$  for the continuous and the discrete case. It describes the excitation shown in Figure 3.2. The continuum theory (red line) describes a right mover (chirality +1) for all values of k. On the other hand in the discrete theory (curved blue line) there are a right-mover around k = 0 and a left-mover around



Figure 3.2.: Positive branch of dispersion relation (3.71) for m = 0.

 $k = \pi/a$ . However since the continuum limit is given by the combination of both the straight-red and dashed-black lines, we find that we can identify 2 two-component Dirac particles in the continuum limit. Therefore the finite energy content of the lattice field  $\psi_+$  is a pair of fermions with net chirality zero [46]. We could also have deduced this result from the non-injective of the dispersion relation of the discrete Hamiltonian for  $\psi_+$ 

$$E_{+}(k) = \sqrt{m^{2} + \frac{\sin^{2}(k \cdot a)}{a^{2}}},$$
(3.71)

since then

$$E_{+}(0) = E_{+}(\pi/a) = m, \qquad (3.72)$$

i.e the discrete Hamiltonian doubles the fermionic content of the field  $\psi$  since there are two particles of mass m for every  $\psi$ .

In spite of the fact we have not considered the gauge field interaction in our example, this problem still remains as long as one does not break one of the assumptions of Nielsen-Ninomiya theorem. Among the different known possibilities [4] like for example *Wilson fermions*, lift the energy at the edges of the Brillouin zone, we will work with *Staggered fermions* [45], reducing the number of degrees of freedom by placing a single component spinor on each site of the lattice. This strategy is usually adopted in Quantum Simulation protocols [10, 11] and Tensor Network calculations [14, 15, 26].

The staggering consists on place single-component fermionic fields  $\phi_n^{15}$  on each site such that

$$\{\phi_n, \phi_m\} = 0 \qquad \{\phi_n, \phi_m^\dagger\} = \delta_{nm}, \tag{3.73}$$

and describe its dynamics with the Hamiltonian

$$H_{S} = \frac{-i}{2a} \sum_{n} \left[\phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n+1} - \phi_{n+1}^{\dagger} \phi_{n}\right] + m \sum_{n} (-1)^{n} \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n}.$$
(3.74)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>In order to avoid non-necessary constants we use dimensionless fields  $\phi_n = \phi'_n / \sqrt{a}$ .

**Note.** Note that the doubling problem comes from the existence of several spinor components on a site of the lattice but not because of group multiplets. Therefore after the staggering the fields  $\phi_n$  are still in a given representation of the gauge group G.

In order to identify the two-component Dirac field, one needs to decompose the lattice into an even sublattice (those points for which  $(-1)^n = 1$ ) and an odd one (points with  $(-1)^n = -1$ ) such that

$$\psi(n) = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_1(n) \\ \psi_2(n) \end{pmatrix} \longrightarrow \begin{cases} \psi_1(n) = \phi_n, & n \text{ even} \\ \psi_2(n) = \phi_n, & n \text{ odd} \end{cases}$$
(3.75)

Doing this identification one can recover the continuum theory. In fact the factor  $(-1)^n$  in the mass term comes from the fact that

$$\int dx \,\bar{\psi}(x)\psi(x) = \int dx \left(\psi_1^{\dagger}\psi_1 - \psi_2^{\dagger}\psi_2\right) \longrightarrow \sum_n (-1)^n \phi_n^{\dagger}\phi_n,$$

while the hopping term is obtained from the fact that  $\gamma_5 = \sigma_x$ .

Note that this Hamiltonian is invariant only under translation by an **even num**ber of sites and therefore the **unit cell is doubled**. Due to Bloch theorem this means that the first Brillouin zone (1BZ) is half the size of the initial one, i.e  $k \in [-\pi/2a, \pi/2a]$ . Equivalently we can consider that we have two different Bravais lattices with lattice spacing 2a. Fourier transforming we can write  $\phi_n$  for even and odd n in terms of its Fourier components  $\phi_k$  and  $\tilde{\phi}_k$ 

$$\phi_n = \sum_k e^{ikn} \phi_k \quad n \text{ even} \tag{3.76}$$

$$\phi_n = \sum_k e^{ikn} \tilde{\phi}_k \quad n \text{ odd}, \qquad (3.77)$$

where we distinguish by a  $\sim$  between them. Applying it to  $H_S$  we obtain

$$H_{S} = \frac{1}{2ia} \sum_{n} \phi_{n}^{\dagger} [\phi_{n+1} - \phi_{n-1}] + m \sum_{n \text{ even}} [\phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n} - \phi_{n+1}^{\dagger} \phi_{n+1}]$$
(3.78)

$$=\sum_{k}\frac{\sin(k\cdot a)}{a}[\phi_{k}^{\dagger}\tilde{\phi}_{k}+h.c.]+m\sum_{k}[\phi_{k}^{\dagger}\phi_{k}-\tilde{\phi}_{k}^{\dagger}\tilde{\phi}_{k}]=\sum_{k}\Phi^{\dagger}\mathcal{H}_{k}\Phi_{k},\qquad(3.79)$$

with  $\Phi = (\phi_k, \tilde{\phi}_k)^T$  and  $\mathcal{H}_k$  given by

$$\mathcal{H}_k = \frac{\sin(ka)}{a}\sigma_x + m\sigma_z. \tag{3.80}$$

As before we obtain the dispersion (3.71). However now the 1BZ is just  $(-\pi/2a, \pi/2a]$  and therefore (3.71) is injective in this domain giving a unique chiral state in the continuum limit.

Therefore once the gauge "phases" are introduced our target Hamiltonian takes the form

$$H_F = \frac{-i}{2a} \sum_{n} \left[\phi_n^{\dagger} e^{iagA_1(n)} \phi_{n+1} - \phi_{n+1}^{\dagger} e^{-iagA_1(n)} \phi_n\right] + m \sum_{n} (-1)^n \phi_n^{\dagger} \phi_n.$$
(3.81)

## Staggered gauge charges

We already saw the form of  $Q^{\alpha}$  when the whole spinor multiplet is placed on a site of the lattice. However due to the staggering it's shape may change. The explanation of this part will be entirely based on the publication [41]. The staggering allows us to define a lattice analogy of the Dirac sea, which is a state in which all even (particle) sites are empty, while the odd (antiparticle) ones are occupied. This picture is supported by the mass term in (3.81), which punishes the existence of particles. In addition, due to the decomposition of the Dirac field on different sites, the charges could also change sign alternately. It's the aim of this part to give a formal derivation of the staggered charges.

Consider the (group-multiplet) fermionic field  $\phi_n$  on a given site. A gauge transformation on  $\phi_n$  is the result of acting with an operator  $\Theta_h^{Q,j}$  on it such that  $\phi_n$ transforms as  $\psi_n$  in (3.35)

$$\Theta_h^{Q,j}\phi_n\Theta_h^{Q,j\dagger} = D^{j\dagger}(h)\phi_n, \quad \Theta_h^{Q,j}\phi_n^{\dagger}\Theta_h^{Q,j\dagger} = \phi_n^{\dagger}D^{j\dagger}(h).$$
(3.82)

For the gauge groups we are considering, SU(N) and U(1),  $\Theta^{Q,j}$  can be easily written as the exponential of some quadratic fermionic generator depending on the corresponding representation  $T^{\alpha,j}$ . However the transformation laws (3.82), fixed the form of  $\Theta^Q$  up to a phase which can be freely chosen. Therefore we can define it via

$$\Theta_h^{Q,j} = \exp\left[i\phi_a^{\dagger}q(h)_{ab}\phi_b\right]\det(h^{-1})^S, \qquad (3.83)$$

with  $S = 1/2(1 - (-1)^n)$  where *n* is the site index, i.e S = 0 for even vertices and S = 1 for the odd ones,  $\det(h^{-1}) := \det(D^{j\dagger}(h))$  since we are considering unitary representations and

$$q(h) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } G = U(1) \\ \sum_{\alpha} \Lambda_h^{\alpha} T^{\alpha} & \text{if } G = SU(N) \end{cases}$$
(3.84)

Now for SU(N) all determinants are one and the staggering plays no role in the definition of charges finding

$$Q_{SU(N),n}^{\alpha} = \phi_n^{\dagger} T^{\alpha} \phi_n, \qquad (3.85)$$

as we found before. Nevertheless for U(1), since  $det(h) = e^{i\theta}$  with  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$  the gauge transformation is given by

$$\Theta^Q_{\theta,n} = e^{i(\phi^{\dagger}_n \phi_n - S)\theta}, \qquad (3.86)$$

which implies that the Abelian staggered charge reads

$$Q_{U(1),n} = \phi_n^{\dagger} \phi_n - \frac{1}{2} (1 - (-1)^n).$$
(3.87)

This construction of the Abelian charge let us to support the physical picture of Dirac sea [9]. With staggered fermions, even sites represent *particles* with positive mass m, while odd sites represent "holes" with negative masses -m. If now we measure the energy on odd sites with respect -m, occupied sites will contribute with zero energy (occupied hole) while empty ones would acquire a mass m (free hole in the

Dirac sea). Therefore applying a particle-hole transformation on odd sites  $(\phi_n \leftrightarrow h_n^{\dagger})$ and  $\phi_n^{\dagger} \leftrightarrow h_n$  we can interpret the system as formed by particles and holes in the even and odd places respectively. Now in the Abelian case, i.e QED we can use the expression for the staggered charge to further support this picture. From (3.87) we observe that an occupied even site acquires a charge +1 while an empty odd site nhas a charge -1, i.e an empty odd place plays the role of a hole.

## 3.4.2. Gauge sector

So far we just introduced dynamics for the matter fields. Now we need to add a gauge-invariant pure-gauge term in order to give non-trivial dynamics for the gauge field. By non-trivial we mean a term which does not commute with the already constructed fermionic part (3.81) of the Hamiltonian. That would lead us to consider terms obtained from gauge invariant combinations of the gauge group elements U and its canonical conjugate variables  $\mathbf{L}$  and  $\mathbf{R}$ .

Gauge invariance forces us to consider (group) traces of product elements along closed paths [9]. The simplest and "most local" of such products are given by plaquettes operators p (Wilson loops) terms considered already in (3.30),

$$H_B = -\frac{1}{2g^2} a^{d-5} \sum_p \left[ U_1 U_2 U_3^{\dagger} U_4^{\dagger} + h.c. \right], \qquad (3.88)$$

where the subscripts 1, 2, 3 and 4 represents the counter clockwise order of the product around the plaquette. This term is know as magnetic term since its classical continuum limit gives raise to the magnetic contribution to the energy. Nevertheless  $H_B$  commutes with (3.59) and give non-trivial dynamics for U. We could then try to write the lattice version of the electric energy. Considering the interpretation of  $\mathbf{L}$  and  $\mathbf{R}$  in section 3.4 as electric fields on a link, the electric term must be given as a function of the Casimir operators of the corresponding gauge group, since it must be invariant. In order to recover the continuum limit

$$\frac{1}{2}a^{d-1}\sum_{x}\sum_{\alpha,i} (E^{i}_{\alpha}(x))^{2} \longrightarrow \frac{1}{2}\int d^{d}x \sum_{\alpha,i} (E^{i}_{\alpha}(x))^{2}$$
(3.89)

we consider the quadratic Casimir operator (the only one for SU(2))<sup>16</sup>

$$H_E = \frac{g^2}{2a^{d-3}} \sum_{x,i} (\mathbf{L}_x^i)^2, \qquad (3.90)$$

where  $E^i_{\alpha}$  and the dimensionless generator  $L^i_{\alpha}$  are related via  $E^i_{\alpha} = g a^{2-d} L^i_{\alpha}$ .

The Kogut-Susskind gauge term in the Hamiltonian formulation of LGT is given by

$$H_G = H_E + H_B = \frac{g^2}{2a^{d-3}} \sum_{x,i} \left(\mathbf{L}_x^i\right)^2 - \frac{1}{2g^2} a^{d-5} \sum_p \left[ U_1 U_2 U_3^{\dagger} U_4^{\dagger} + h.c. \right], \quad (3.91)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The same result can be obtained from the Euclidean path-integral formulation as explained in [46].

for d > 2 spacetime dimensions, since in d = 2 the last term does not exist. Recall that  $A_i = A_i^{\alpha} T^{\alpha}$ .

In the Abelian case for (d-1)-spatial dimensions the Hamiltonian takes the form

$$H_{U(1)} = \frac{1}{2a^{d-3}} \sum_{x,i} (E_x^i)^2 - \frac{1}{2g^2} a^{d-5} \sum_p \cos\left[ag(\underbrace{A_1 + A_2 - A_3 - A_4}_{\nabla \times A_p})\right], \quad (3.92)$$

where  $\nabla_p \times A$  is the discrete rotational operator on the plaquette p such that in the continuum limit one recovers the magnetic field

$$\cos(\nabla_p \times A) \longrightarrow 1 - B_p^2/2. \tag{3.93}$$

Further comments about QED in (1+1)-dimensions will be given on chapter 4. Therefore we have constructed the discrete Hamiltonian for gauge theories on a lattice with the correct classical continuum limit avoiding the doubling problem via staggering, at least in (1+1) dimensions.

**Remark.** Note the fact on each link, left and right generators are related via the group elemente U on the link in the adjoint representation

$$R^{\alpha} = (U^{\text{Adj.}})_{\alpha\beta} L^{\beta}, \qquad (3.94)$$

and therefore  $\mathbf{L}^2 = \mathbf{R}^2$ .

*Proof.* In order to prove that **L** and **R** can be related by a linear transformation in the generator-index, we need to make use of the commutation relations (3.48). Let's express  $R^{\alpha} = M_{\alpha\beta}L^{\beta}$  where we suppose M is an invertible matrix and substitute this relation in (3.48) for the commutation relation for  $\mathbf{R}^{17}$ 

$$M_{\alpha\beta}L_{\beta}\otimes U^j - U^j\otimes M_{\alpha\beta}L_{\beta} = U^jT^j_a,$$

multiplying by  $M_{\delta,\alpha}^{-1}$ 

$$L_{\alpha} \otimes U^{j} - U^{j} \otimes L_{\alpha} = U^{j} M_{\alpha\beta}^{-1} T_{\beta}^{j},$$

and comparing with the commutation relation for  $\mathbf{L}$  in (3.48) we find

$$U^{j,\dagger}T^{j}_{\alpha}U^{j} = M^{-1}_{\alpha\beta}T^{j}_{\beta} \Rightarrow M^{-1} = U^{\mathrm{Adj.},\dagger} \Rightarrow \mathbf{R} = U^{\mathrm{Adj.}}\mathbf{L} = U^{j}\mathbf{L}U^{j\dagger}, \qquad (3.95)$$

where we have used the fact that  $\mathbf{T}^{j}$  transforms as a 3-vector under color rotations since  $(T^{\alpha, \operatorname{Adj.}})_{\beta,\gamma} = i f^{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ . Relation (3.95) means that **L** and **R** are equivalent representations of the gauge algebra.

This relation helps us to give a different interpretation to  $\mathbf{L}$  and  $\mathbf{R}$  that can be found in [7]. On each link one can interpret the space of states as different configurations of a quantum rotator, where  $\mathbf{L}$  generate space-fixed rotations and  $\mathbf{R}$  body fixed rotations, being the connection between both given by  $\mathbf{R} = U^{\text{Adj}} \cdot \mathbf{L}$ . Due to local gauge invariance requirements such rotator should be spherical since must be independently invariant under body and space rotations. Therefore the gauge sector of a lattice can be understood as a collection of spherical quantum rotators whose configuration is given by U.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>In order to avoid indices the notation  $[, ]_{\otimes}$  has been used to make reference to the matrix structure contained in U, that was not explicitly written in (3.48).

**Note.** Consider a (1+1)-dimensional system. The non-Abelian Gauss' law (3.51) takes the form

$$L_n^{\alpha} - R_{n-1}^{\alpha} = Q_n^{\alpha}.$$
 (3.96)

Because of the relation (3.94) and using the expression (3.33) in the adjoint representation

$$U^{\text{Adj.}} = e^{iagA_n(x)^{\gamma}T'_{\text{Adj.}}},\tag{3.97}$$

one can write (3.96) as

$$Q_n^{\alpha} = L_n^{\alpha} - \left(e^{iagA_n(x)^{\gamma}T_{\mathrm{Adj.}}^{\gamma}}\right)_{\alpha\beta} L_{n-1}^{\beta}, \qquad (3.98)$$

and expanding to first order in a one obtains

$$Q_{n}^{\alpha}/a = \frac{L_{n}^{\alpha} - L_{n-1}^{\alpha}}{a} - igA_{n}(x)^{\gamma}(T_{\text{Adj.}}^{\gamma})_{\alpha\beta}L_{n-1}^{\beta} + \mathcal{O}(a^{2})$$

$$= \frac{L_{n}^{\alpha} - L_{n-1}^{\alpha}}{a} + gA_{n}(x)^{\gamma}f^{\gamma\alpha\beta}L_{n-1}^{\beta} + \mathcal{O}(a^{2}),$$
(3.99)

which reproduces (3.23) in the limit  $a \to 0$ . The difference in the sign for the color charge is due to the sign convention for the adjoint representation.

## 3.5. Hilbert space

We already said that one of the advantages to follow the Hamiltonian formulation is the fact that one can have an easy access to the underlying Hilbert space. In this section we follow the analysis of the physical Hilbert space done in [7]. We consider separately the Abelian case U(1), that will be studied in chapter 4.

## **3.5.1.** Abelian theory: U(1) case

The Kogut-Susskind Hamiltonian for QED (3.92), introduces the gauge field as an angular variable with period  $2\pi$ . This kind of formulation of Abelian theories on a lattice are called *compact* due to the boundedness of the interval where the gauge field takes different values. Therefore let's emphasize this fact by introducing the dimensionless fields

$$\phi'_x = \phi_x / \sqrt{a}, \quad \theta^i_x = -agA^i_x, \quad L_x = E_x / g, \tag{3.100}$$

such that  $\theta_x^i$  is taken to live in the bounded interval  $[0, 2\pi)$ .

The canonical commutation relations with this new definition of the fields take the form

$$\{\phi'(x), \phi'^{\dagger}(y)\} = \delta(x-y) \longrightarrow \{\phi'_x, \phi'^{\dagger}_y\} = \frac{\delta_{x,x}}{a} \Rightarrow \{\phi_n, \phi^{\dagger}_m\} = \delta_{n,m}$$
(3.101)  
$$\begin{bmatrix} F(x) & A(y) \end{bmatrix} = i\delta(x-y) \longrightarrow \begin{bmatrix} F^i & A^j & y \end{bmatrix} = i\delta^{i,j}\delta \qquad (a \Rightarrow \boxed{\begin{bmatrix} A^i & J^j \end{bmatrix} = i\delta^{i,j}\delta}$$

$$[E(x), A(y)] = i\delta(x - y) \longrightarrow [E_x^i, A_m^j y] = i\delta^{i,j}\delta_{x,y}/a \Rightarrow \boxed{[\theta_x^i, L_y^j] = i\delta^{i,j}\delta_{x,y}}.$$
(3.102)

Therefore due to the periodicity of  $\theta_x^i$ , its canonical conjugate variable  $L_x^i$  is an angular momentum operator [11, 34] with unbounded discrete integer spectrum

$$L_x^i |m\rangle = m |m\rangle \text{ with } m \in \mathbb{Z},$$
 (3.103)

which implies that on each link the electric field is quantized in integer multiples of g, i.e electric flux quanta m

$$E_x^i |m\rangle = mg |m\rangle \text{ with } m \in \mathbb{Z},$$
 (3.104)

where the sign of m refers to the direction of the  $E_x^i$  along the link. Therefore the ground state of the electric Hamiltonian is given by the product of all vacuum states  $|0\rangle$  on the links, that is a gauge invariant state.

Moreover the operators  $U_i(x)$  and  $U_i(x)^{\dagger}$  behaves like raising and lowering operators (ladder operators) of electric flux quanta, since

$$[L_x^i, U_i(x)] = U_i(x) \Rightarrow L_x^i U_i(x) |m\rangle = (m+1)U_i(x) |m\rangle$$
(3.105)

$$[L_x^i, U_i(x)^{\dagger}] = -U_i(x)^{\dagger} \Rightarrow L_x^i U_i(x)^{\dagger} |m\rangle = (m-1)U_i(x)^{\dagger} |m\rangle, \qquad (3.106)$$

and then

$$U_i(x) |m\rangle = |m+1\rangle$$
 and  $U_i(x)^{\dagger} |m\rangle = |m-1\rangle$ , (3.107)

add and subtract flux quanta from the links.

## 3.5.2. Non-Abelian theory

This subsection will follow the publication [7]. Let's consider the case G = SU(2) with a given representation j. Since there are two kind of generators  $L^{\alpha}$  and  $R^{\alpha}$ , and one Casimir operator  $\mathbf{L}^2$ , we can label the states with the quantum numbers for  $\mathbf{L}^2$ ,  $L^z$  and  $R^z$ , i.e

$$|\psi\rangle_G = |j, m_1, m_2\rangle. \tag{3.108}$$

These states are eigenstates of the electric Hamiltonian on each link with energy

$$H_E |j, m_1, m_2\rangle = \frac{g^2}{2} j(j+1) |j, m_1, m_2\rangle, \qquad (3.109)$$

with degeneracy  $(2j+1)^2$ . In particular the ground state is the gauge invariant state given by  $|0\rangle = |0, 0, 0\rangle$ , from which we can construct the rest of the states. Consider the state  $(U^j)_r^l |0\rangle$  on a link. Using (3.48) we can prove that

$$H_E(U^j)_r^l |0\rangle = \frac{g^2}{2} \sum_{\alpha} \left( T^{\alpha,j} \cdot T^{\alpha,j} \right)_i^l \left( U^j \right)_r^i |0\rangle = \frac{g^2}{2} j(j+1) \left( U^j \right)_r^l |0\rangle, \qquad (3.110)$$

due to the fact that  $\sum_{\alpha} (T^{\alpha,j} \cdot T^{\alpha,j})_i^l = j(j+1)\delta_i^l$  is the Casimir operator for the algebra  $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ .

Now Gauss' law  $G^{\alpha} |\psi\rangle_G = 0$  should be imposed, in order to obtain the physical Hilbert space. From (3.110) we obtained that we can construct the Hilbert space starting from the gauge vacuum and applying group elements U. Since both the fermionic  $|0\rangle_F$  and the gauge vacua  $|0\rangle_G$  are gauge invariant, in order to construct gauge-invariant states we just need to apply gauge invariant operators to them. This

will be the case if and only if all group indices in such operators are contracted. In order to do so there are two possibilities: (1) trace of product of group elements along closed loops C on the lattice

$$\operatorname{Tr} U^{j}(\mathcal{C}) = \operatorname{Tr} \left[ U_{i}^{j}(x) U_{k}^{j}(x+i) \dots U_{m}^{\dagger,j}(x) \right], \qquad (3.111)$$

or (2) open loops as was proved in (3.46), given by an open path  $\mathcal{C}$  between two fermionic operators  $\psi_x^{\dagger}$  and  $\psi_y$  of products of group elements known as *string* 

$$U^{j}(x,y;\mathcal{C}) = \psi_{x}^{\dagger} U^{j}(\Gamma) \psi_{y}.$$
(3.112)

## 3.6. Confinement

One of the most interesting and not yet well understood phenomenon in Quantum Chromodynamics is the confinement of color charge. This belongs to the general phenomena of confinement of quantum numbers. As explained in [47], a theory is said to be *confining* if all **finite-energy** states are invariant under global gauge transformations, i.e they are color singlets in the non-Abelian case or chargeless in QED. For example, QED in (3+1)-dimensions is not confining since the electron is a finite-energy state with nonzero electric charge. In fact it's one of the main features of non-Abelian gauge theories and it's thought to be related to the highly nonlinear dynamics of the pure-gauge sector [33].

In 1974 Kenneth G. Wilson [5] (inspired by Schwinger [48]), proposed a new way to understand the mechanism which could keep quarks bound. One of the conclusions of this seminal paper is that one could focus on the static aspect of confinement, namely test the theory with a static quark-antiquark pair and study the dependence of the ground state energy as a function of the interquark distance. A potential example of this situation holding the definition of confinement given by [47] is given by the string

$$\psi_x^{\dagger} U^j(\mathcal{C}) \psi_y \left| 0 \right\rangle, \tag{3.113}$$

connecting two quarks as we will see in subsection 3.6.2.

## 3.6.1. Charge confinement in Abelian lattice theories

The phenomena of confinement is usually discussed in non-Abelian gauge theories in 3+1 dimensions for color confinement. However its appearance depends on both the dimensionality of the considered spacetime and whether we are dealing with a continuous or a lattice model. In the former case, one can already study confinement for QED in 1+1 dimensions as we will study in chapter 4, where the electric potential grows linearly with the distance, i.e one finds confinement to all regimes in the coupling constant g. In the lattice however, confinement for Abelian theories appears when considering *compact* formulations as the one presented in (3.92), where the gauge field appears as an angular variable, i.e the Hamiltonian is constructed from group elements of U(1) instead of elements of the algebra. This gives rise to self-interacting photons which lead, in some regimes, to confinement. This model is usually called *compact QED* (cQED) and it's defined in correspondence to the lattice

gauge formulation for non-Abelian theories. Nevertheless QED admits many inequivalent formulations [49], with different behaviors in the strong coupling regime. In fact compact formulations of Abelian theories show confinement for all non-vanishing coupling g > 0 in 2+1 dimensions, while in 3+1 a phase transition takes place at a finite g between a confining (g >> 1) and a non-confining phase (g << 1) [49].

## 3.6.2. Is there confinement?

Here we follow the exposition given by [7]. Usually one introduces the Wilson loop to discuss confinement [5, 40]. Nevertheless one of the advantages of using the Hamiltonian formulation is the possibility to compute directly the potential energy between two widely <sup>18</sup> separated **static** quarks <sup>19</sup>. To ensure a confining result is obtained, let's restrict ourselves for simplicity to SU(2) non-Abelian case in the fundamental representation  $j = 1/2^{20}$ . Let's consider both particles are placed over the same edge of the lattice at a distance  $L^{21}$ . In the strong coupling limit g >> 1,  $H \sim H_E$  and the minimun-energy gauge invariant state is given by the string (gauge invariant) state with potential energy

$$V_Q(L) = \frac{g^2}{2} \left[ \frac{1}{2} (\frac{1}{2} + 1) \right] \cdot \frac{L}{a}, \qquad (3.114)$$

where one observes there is a distance-independent attractive force between the quarks. Whether or not is enough to confine the quarks depends on the value of g and other considerations. Considering the magnetic term  $H_B$  as a perturbation, one realizes that may generate closed loops on top of the vacuum or deform the line of electric flux. The vacuum becomes a soup of closed flux loops [7]. When higher orders in perturbation theory are considered,  $V_Q(L)$  is still proportional to the distance, for large distances.

Finally when considering the hopping term, a string is no more an eigenstate of the Hamiltonian. This term allows the production of pairs  $\bar{q}q$  out of the vacuum allowing the string to break. This phenomenon will be studied in chapter 4, and it's know as string breaking.

## 3.7. Summary and conclusion

The Kogut-Susskind Hamiltonian formulation of Lattice Gauge Theories gives as a result a **second quantized Hamiltonian** (3.81) + (3.91), written in terms of fermionic  $\phi_x, \phi_x^{\dagger}$  and gauge degrees of freedom  $U_i(x)$ . This allows us to apply the method introduced in chapter 2, to describe High Energy Physics, hopefully like QCD in 3+1 dimensions, in the Gaussian approximation via two-point correlation functions with the advantage of having a clear description of the underlying Hilbert space. However in this Hamiltonian, the only quadratic term which does not need to be approximated via Wick's theorem is the mass term. The remaining three terms must be handled

 $<sup>^{18}\</sup>mathrm{to}$  avoid problems in the perturbation expansion at short distances.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The term quarks will refer to representation of the gauge group. In the case of U(1) are U(1)-charged particles and for SU(2) "spins".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>For integer representations of the group the theory is non-confining [40, pag. 46].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>This avoids problems of degeneracy of the ground state, since several paths could have the same energy.

<sup>—</sup>via approximations, Schwinger representation, unitary transformations or other analytical tools— in such a way one gives the best description the Gaussian approach can in fact gives. It will be the goal of the last two chapters to apply this method to (1+1)-dimensional lattice gauge theories with gauge and fermionic degrees of freedom in the case of U(1) (chapter 4) and SU(2) (chapter 5) gauge groups.

In this chapter we will study the Schwinger model [48] on a lattice [16] via the Gaussian method. In order to test the time-dependent Gaussian variational method, we will compare our results to those obtained for the exactly solvable massless case as well as to other numerical results obtained for the massive model via Matrix Product States [26, 27].

## 4.1. Introduction

As we already explained chapter 3, many relevant phenomena in QCD appear in the non-perturbative regime, for which not much can be computed analytically in four dimensions. Therefore in order to get some intuition as well as try to develop new analytical methods, simpler models like  $QED_2$  or  $QCD_2$ , models in two spacetime dimensions, have been considered for a long time playing the role of labs for Quantum Field Theory methods [50].

In particular the Schwinger model, also known as QED<sub>2</sub>, is often used for testing new methods of QFTs like for example Bosonization, lattice computations or new numerical approaches like ours. Nevertheless, the Schwinger model is interesting per se being the simplest non-trivial gauge theory displaying interesting phenomena like: a nontrivial vacuum structure, chiral anomaly, confinement, no fermions in the physical particle spectrum etc; also appearing in Quantum Chromodynamics.

The massive Schwinger model [51] has been proved to be equivalent to the massive sine-Gordon model through Bosonization being exactly solvable in the massless case [52].

Moreover during the last few years this model has become relevant in his own due to the fact it could be realized by quantum simulators [9, 12] and has been used as a benchmark to test Tensor Networks (TN) methods [14, 15, 26, 27] which have supplied, in some cases, a better description than that made by Monte Carlo simulations, due to the fact it allows us to deal with fermions avoiding the otherwise problematic "sign problem" [6].

## 4.2. Continuum theory

The Schwinger model is thus (1+1)-dimensional QED described by the Lagrangian density

$$\mathcal{L} = \bar{\psi}(i\partial \!\!\!/ - gA - m)\psi - \frac{1}{4}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}$$
(4.1)

where as always  $\not{B} := \gamma^{\mu} B_{\mu}$  with  $\mu = 0, 1$ . In order to clarify ideas, we follow the general procedure presented in chapter 3 for the Abelian case, where the formalism

becomes simpler. From equation (4.1) we obtain the Hamiltonian density

$$\mathcal{H} = -i\bar{\psi}\gamma^{1}(\partial_{x} + igA_{1})\psi + m\psi^{\dagger}\psi + \frac{1}{2}E^{2} - \mathcal{A}^{\theta^{\bullet}}(\partial_{x}E - g\psi^{\dagger}\psi)$$
(4.2)

where with our metric convention  $\eta = \text{Diag}(1, -1)$ , the electric field is given by  $E = F^{10} = -F^{01} = \Pi^i$ . Working on the temporal gauge  $(A_0 = 0)$  and integrating over the space we obtain the Hamiltonian

$$H = \int dx \left\{ -i\bar{\psi}\gamma^1(\partial_x - igA^1)\psi + m\bar{\psi}\psi + \frac{1}{2}E^2 \right\}$$
(4.3)

where the relation  $A_1 = -A^1$  has been used. Recall that  $A_0$  is not a canonical variable and that the last term in (4.2) is a constant of motion.

Once the canonical quantization procedure has been applied, we impose Gauss' law (in its usual Abelian form) as explained in section 3.4

$$\left(\partial_x \hat{E} - g \hat{\psi}^{\dagger} \hat{\psi}\right) |Phys\rangle = 0, \tag{4.4}$$

i.e., restrict the Hilbert space to the space of gauge-invariant states  $|Phys\rangle$ .

## 4.2.1. Dimensional analysis

Before continuing, let's review the dimensionality of the different fields and parameters that appear in the (1+1)-dimensional theory. Since  $\hbar = c = 1$ , we express all fields and parameters in units of energy

$$[\mathcal{L}] = 2 \Longrightarrow \begin{cases} 2 = [i\bar{\psi}\partial_{\mu}\psi] \Rightarrow [\psi] = 1/2, \ [m] = 1\\ 2 = [F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}] \Rightarrow 2 = 2 + 2[A_{\mu}] \Rightarrow [A_{\mu}] = 0\\ 2 = [\bar{\psi}gA_{\mu}\psi] \Rightarrow [g] = 1\\ [E] = 1 \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

Therefore in (1+1) dimensions the gauge field  $A_{\mu}$  is dimensionless and the **coupling** constant g has units of energy.

## 4.2.2. Solving the continuum theory

This section will follow and develop the explanations given in Ref. [33, 53–55]. Moreover, in the interest of simplicity and clarity and trying to avoid a lengthy introduction to the topic, we will provide a constructive derivation and skip a formal introduction to Bosonization.

## **Massless Schwinger model**

The massless Schwinger model, i.e., QED with massless fermions in (1+1) dimensions, is an **exactly solvable** theory showing interesting features. As in the 4-dimensional case [47], we can express the photon propagator in the form

$$D_{\mu\nu}(k^2) = \frac{g_{\mu\nu} - k_{\mu}k_{\nu}/k^2}{k^2(1 - \Pi(k^2))},$$
(4.6)



Figure 4.1.: Vacuum-polarization loop in the two-dimensional Schwinger model. Public picture from Wikipedia.

and evaluate it in the one-loop correction, shown in Figure 4.1, to the self-energy giving the finite value

$$\Pi(k^2) = \frac{g^2/\pi}{k^2}.$$
(4.7)

Substituting back in the photon propagator (4.6), we find

$$D_{\mu\nu}(k^2) = \frac{g_{\mu\nu} - k_{\mu}k_{\nu}/k^2}{k^2 - g^2/\pi},$$
(4.8)

i.e., the photon has picked up a mass  $M = g/\sqrt{\pi}$  due to vacuum polarization effects. In fact further analysis shows that  $M = g/\sqrt{\pi}$  is an exact result. Now that the photon is massive, the potential between static external charges is short ranged and behaves as  $\sim Q^2 e^{-M|x|}$ , where Q is the charge of the impurities and can take any value. Therefore an arbitrary charge is **screened** to zero in this model and that's the reason why it is said that this is not true confinement as in Ref. [52], in the sense that it does not imply a long-range potential for any Q.

In (1+1) dimension the gauge field is not a physical dynamical degree of freedom and therefore it can be eliminated. It's usually said that this is the case since there is not space for tranversal photons. For this introduction let's set  $A_1 = 0$  (axial gauge) instead of the previous temporal  $A_0 = 0$  gauge, which does not erase spatial-gauge invariance. The equation of motion for  $A_0$  is given by

$$\frac{\partial^2 A_0}{\partial_x^2} = -g\psi^{\dagger}(x)\psi(x) = -gj^0(x), \qquad (4.9)$$

which can be integrated to give

$$A_0(x) = -\frac{1}{2}g \int dx' \left| x - x' \right| j^0(x') - Fx - C, \qquad (4.10)$$

i.e., Coulomb potential in two spacetime dimensions plus linear contributions, where C is an irrelevant parameter that it does not enter into the expression for the electric field. Since  $F_{01} = -\partial_x A_0$  we find that the electric field is given by

$$F_{01}(x) = g \int dx' \,\partial_x \left(\frac{1}{2} \left| x - x' \right| \right) j^0(x') + F.$$
(4.11)

The advantage of working with one-dimensional fermionic systems is that they can be described by one-dimensional boson fields in a method known as bosonization [56]. In the following we list the main relations we will later need:

$$: j_{\mu} :=: \bar{\psi} \gamma_{\mu} \psi :\longleftrightarrow \epsilon_{\mu\nu} \partial_{\nu} \phi / \sqrt{\pi}, \qquad (4.12)$$

$$: j^{5}_{\mu} :=: \bar{\psi}\gamma_{5}\gamma_{\mu}\psi :\longleftrightarrow \partial_{\mu}\phi/\sqrt{\pi}, \qquad (4.13)$$

$$:\psi\psi:\longleftrightarrow c:\cos(2\sqrt{\pi\phi}):, \tag{4.14}$$

$$:\psi\gamma_5\psi:\longleftrightarrow c:\sin(2\sqrt{\pi\phi}):, \tag{4.15}$$

$$: i\bar{\psi}\partial\!\!\!/\psi :\longleftrightarrow \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}\phi \,\partial_{\mu}\phi, \qquad (4.16)$$

where  $\phi$  is a scalar field,  $c = \pi^{-3/2} e^{\gamma}$  with  $\gamma$  Euler's constant and :: normal order with respect to the vacuum of the Dirac field for the fermionic operators and the vacuum for the massive field  $\phi$  with mass  $g/\sqrt{\pi}$  on the right hand side. From the last identification we learn that a free massless Dirac field is equivalent to a free massless bosonic field. Restricting ourselves to states of total zero charge

$$\int dx \, j^0(x) = \sqrt{\pi}(\phi(\infty) - \phi(-\infty)) = 0, \tag{4.17}$$

and making use of (4.12), we can express  $F_{01}$  as

$$F_{01} = \frac{g}{\sqrt{\pi}}\phi(x) + \underbrace{\frac{g}{\sqrt{\pi}}\phi(\infty) + F}_{\equiv F'}, \qquad (4.18)$$

where  $\phi(\infty)$  is a constant, fixing the boundary conditions of  $\phi$  at the boundaries of the system. Then we can think of F as a boundary term of  $\phi$  at infinity and reabsorb it in  $\phi(\infty)$  or equivalently, we can think about  $\frac{g}{\sqrt{\pi}}\phi(\infty)$  as a background electric field and reabsorb this constant in the background field F. We will use one picture or the other depending on the interpretation we want to discuss.

Let's introduce both the fermionic and bosonic representation in order to match the different terms. Note the fact that the Hamiltonian density can be written as

$$\mathcal{H} = -i\bar{\psi}\gamma^1\partial_x\psi + \frac{1}{2}(F_{01})^2. \tag{4.19}$$

The fermionic representation can be found using (4.18) with the charge zero restriction (4.17) and integrating by parts to be

$$H = \int dx \,\bar{\psi}(x)\gamma^{1}(-i\partial_{x})\psi(x) + \frac{1}{2} \int dx dx' \,j^{0}(x)V(x-x')j^{0}(x') - g \int dx \underbrace{Fx}_{-A_{0}^{ext}(x)} j^{0}(x),$$
(4.20)

i.e., a Dirac fermion with a potential energy given by the interaction of charges via the potential  $V(x-x') = -g^2/2 |x-x'|$  and with a background field F. On the other hand, applying the Bosonization identities (4.12) to (4.1), Legendre transforming and inserting (4.18) one finds

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \int dx \left[ (\partial_t \phi)^2 + (\partial_x \phi)^2 + \frac{g^2}{\pi} \left( \phi + \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{g} F \right)^2 \right], \tag{4.21}$$

i.e., a Hamiltonian for a free massive bosonic field  $\phi$  "interacting" with a background field F. Note that in the massless case, the Hamiltonian density (4.19) is chirally

invariant and so must be (4.21). In the bosonic representation a global chiral transformation transforms  $\phi \to \phi + \alpha$  with  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , i.e., acts as a translation changing  $\phi$ 's boundary value  $\phi(\infty)$  or equivalently  $\sqrt{\pi}/gF$ . Therefore in order to make (4.21) chirally invariant, we need to consider the chiral invariant field  $\hat{\phi} = \phi - \phi(\infty)$  instead of  $\phi$  [54]. This can be achieved by shifting  $\phi \to \phi - \sqrt{\pi}/gF$ , obtaining

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \int dx \left[ (\partial_t \phi)^2 + (\partial_x \phi)^2 + \frac{g^2}{\pi} \phi^2 \right],$$
(4.22)

where we can understand why F does not play any important role in the massless case. It costs no energy, since the fermionic excitations are massless, to screen any external field to zero and therefore only F = 0 is a physical possibility <sup>1</sup>. Note also that the mass term for the bosonic field  $\phi$  is the mass acquired by the photon in the fermionic picture (4.8).

## Massive Schwinger model

Unlike the massless model, the massive one is not exactly solvable and as we will see the Hamiltonian depends on F. In this case due to the mass term, when we apply (4.12) we obtain

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \int dx \left[ (\partial_t \phi)^2 + (\partial_x \phi)^2 + \frac{g^2}{\pi} \left( \phi + \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{g} F \right)^2 \right] - mc \int dx : \cos\left(2\sqrt{\pi}\phi\right) :.$$
(4.23)

Now if we shift the  $\phi$ -field as before we find

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \int dx \left[ (\partial_t \phi)^2 + (\partial_x \phi)^2 + \frac{g^2}{\pi} \phi^2 \right] - mc \int dx : \cos(2\sqrt{\pi} \left( \phi - \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{g} F \right)) :, \quad (4.24)$$

F appears as a periodic variable in the Hamiltonian and therefore we can define  $\theta = 2\pi F/g$  with  $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$ , i.e., the Hamiltonian is periodic in F with period one (taking g = 1). The constant field  $\theta$  is usually called  $\theta$ -field and has relation with the chiral symmetry breaking and the ground state structure of the system. In this case the model is sensitive to  $\theta$ , and one expects different kind of behavior from that realized in the massless case, like for example confinement rather than screening. In order to confirm this intuition we can set two opposite static charges on the system, via the insertion of  $j_{ext}^0 = Q/\sqrt{\pi}\phi_{ext}$  in the mass term of (4.24), placed at a distance L and compute the extra average energy with respect to the absence of charges. Doing so one obtains <sup>2</sup> for two widely separated charges on first order of m-perturbation theory the result

$$V_Q(L,\theta) = \frac{mcg}{2} \Big[ \cos(\theta) - \cos(\theta) \cos\left(2\pi \frac{Q}{g}\right) + \sin(\theta) \sin\left(2\pi \frac{Q}{g}\right) \Big] L.$$
(4.25)

We learn from (4.25) that: (1) there is a linear confining energy for any external charge that is not a multiple the fundamental charge g, (2) the non-zero mass prevents from "screening" in the sense we saw before, (3) when  $Q/g \in \mathbb{Z}$  this confining force

 $<sup>^1 \</sup>mathrm{In}$  this case the ground state of the theory is given by the so called " $\theta\text{-vacua"}.$ 

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  One can find an exact computation of the string tension with widely separated charges for the massive case in [53].

does not exist anymore and (4) the theory is sensitive to the value of  $\theta$  we consider. As we will see observation (3) is related to the phenomenon of string breaking that we will analyze later. Sometimes the string tension is a useful quantity that is defined as

$$\sigma_Q = V_Q(L)/L, \tag{4.26}$$

i.e., the slope of the function  $V_Q(L)$ .

## 4.3. Schwinger model on a lattice

In order to place the theory on the lattice we must rewrite the Hamiltonian (4.3) as a lattice Kogut-Susskind Hamiltonian with staggered fermions as explained in chapter 3. Then the theory is described via

$$H = -\frac{i}{2a}a\sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_{n}^{\prime\dagger}e^{-igaA_{n}^{1}}\phi_{n+1}^{\prime} - h.c. \right\} + ma\sum_{n} (-1)^{n}\phi_{n}^{\prime\dagger}\phi_{n}^{\prime} + \frac{1}{2}a\sum_{n} E_{n}^{2}, \quad (4.27)$$

where as always g is the coupling constant for QED, taking to be the fundamental charge. Introducing the dimensionless operators

$$\phi = \sqrt{a}\phi', \quad \theta_n = -agA_n^1, \quad E_n = gL_n \tag{4.28}$$

we find the commutation relations

$$\{\phi_n, \phi_m^{\dagger}\} = \delta_{n,m}, \qquad [\theta_n, L_m] = i\delta_{n,m}, \qquad (4.29)$$

and the Hamiltonian can be written as

$$H = -\frac{i}{2a} \sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_n^{\dagger} e^{i\theta_n} \phi_{n+1} - h.c. \right\} + m \sum_{n} (-1)^n \phi_n^{\dagger} \phi_n + \frac{ag^2}{2} \sum_{n} L_n^2$$
(4.30)

where the dimensionless electric field  $L_n$  is fixed by the (staggered) discrete Gauss' law

$$L_n - L_{n-1} = \phi_n^{\dagger} \phi_n - \underbrace{\frac{1}{2} (1 - (-1)^n)}_{=\pi_n}.$$
(4.31)

Now the goal is to analyze the theory given by (4.27) and (4.31) applying the method studied in chapter 2.

## 4.3.1. Trial 1: Schwinger bosons representation

The first idea we tried in order to apply the Gaussian method was motivated by the quantum simulation perspective for the Schwinger model introduced in [57]. It's showed that this model can be simulated using two fermionic and two bosonic species arranged in an optical lattice. Following this picture our first approach was to give a Schwinger boson representation of the Schwinger algebra [58] on each link, truncating the spectrum of  $L_n \equiv L$  to the region -l < L < l equally on all links, giving rise to an integer representation l of a (artificial) SU(2) group on the link with 2l + 1 (internal) levels for the bosonic species.

As we saw in section 3.5, U and  $U^{\dagger}$  act like ladder operators of electric flux in the Abelian case. Nevertheless

$$[U, U^{\dagger}] = 0$$
 while  $[L_+, L_-] = 2L_z,$  (4.32)

i.e., U is unitary while  $L_+$  and  $L_-$  raising and lowering generators of the  $\mathfrak{su}(2)$  algebra are not.

As explained before, the idea [9] is to substitute the U(1) angular momenta by the artificial SU(2) in an integer representation l by the following mapping for each link

$$L \longrightarrow L_z$$
 (4.33)

$$U \longrightarrow \tilde{L}_{+} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{l(l+1)}} L_{+} \tag{4.34}$$

$$U^{\dagger} \longrightarrow \tilde{L}_{-} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{l(l+1)}} L_{-} \tag{4.35}$$

In this case

$$\tilde{L}_{\pm} |l, m\rangle = \sqrt{1 - \frac{m(m \pm 1)}{l(l+1)}} |l, m \pm 1\rangle \quad \text{and} \quad [\tilde{L}_{+}, \tilde{L}_{-}] = \frac{2}{l(l+1)} L_{z}, \quad (4.36)$$

therefore if  $|m| \ll l$ , i.e., we consider the "bulk" of a given representation l, then in the limit  $l \to \infty$  we recover the U(1) gauge group fulfilling (3.107) and (4.32).

This map was checked in [10] for pure-gauge theories, where the authors showed the rapidly convergence of this truncated theory to the standard Abelian Kogut-Susskind model for different values of l, for both the weak and strong coupling regimes. Thus we can now deal with the truncated Hamiltonian for a finite representation l that takes the form

$$H_{l} = \frac{-i}{2a\sqrt{l(l+1)}} \sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_{n}^{\dagger}(L_{+})_{n}\phi_{n+1} - h.c. \right\} + m \sum_{n} (-1)^{n}\phi_{n}^{\dagger}\phi_{n} + \frac{ag^{2}}{2} \sum_{n} L_{n}^{z2},$$
(4.37)

As a result, we have obtained a Hamiltonian (4.37) that depends on the generators of this artificial  $\mathfrak{su}(2)$  algebra that will be represented by means of the Schwinger boson representation [58]. In order to do so we need to consider two species of bosonic creation/annihilation operators a and b on each link. Calling  $\hat{N}_a$  and  $\hat{N}_b$ their corresponding number operators on this specific link and  $\hat{N} = \hat{N}_a + \hat{N}_b$ , one obtains

$$L_{z} = \frac{1}{2}(\hat{N}_{a} - \hat{N}_{b}), \quad L_{+} = a^{\dagger}b, \quad L_{-} = b^{\dagger}a, \quad L^{2} = \frac{1}{2}\hat{N}(\frac{1}{2}\hat{N} + 1)$$
(4.38)

thus

$$m = \frac{1}{2}(n_a - n_b)$$
 and  $l = \frac{1}{2}N = \frac{1}{2}(n_a + n_b)$  (4.39)

where  $n_a$ ,  $n_b$  and N are the eigenvalues of  $\hat{N}_a$ ,  $\hat{N}_b$  and  $\hat{N}$  respectively, meaning the number of bosons of both species **on each link of the lattice**. Since the electric

field is quantized, i.e.,  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ , N must be even as l = N/2. Moreover l must be fixed and equal on all links of the lattice, since otherwise it has not been proven one can recover the Kogut-Susskind Hamiltonian in the limit  $l \to \infty$ .

In this new representation the Hamiltonian takes the form

$$H_{l} = \frac{-i}{2a\sqrt{l(l+1)}} \sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_{n}^{\dagger}(a^{\dagger}b)_{n}\phi_{n+1} - h.c. \right\} + m \sum_{n} (-1)^{n}\phi_{n}^{\dagger}\phi_{n} + \frac{ag^{2}}{2} \sum_{n} \left[ \frac{1}{2} (\hat{N}_{a} - \hat{N}_{b}) \right]^{2},$$
(4.40)

which commutes with  $\hat{N}$  and therefore it's a number preserving Hamiltonian for the sum of both bosonic species.

## Gaussian method

Following the operational method described in subsection 2.5.3, we should now compute the Mean Field Hamiltonian of (4.40), but in this case a list of subtleties must be considered:

- 1. The number of bosons in a link must be **even and constant** during the Gaussian evolution. In spite of the fact  $\langle N \rangle$  is conserved under the real time dynamics as we saw in subsection 2.5.2, this does not hold under the imaginary evolution (counterexample2.5.2). Moreover Gaussian states are not eigenstates of the number operator  $\hat{N}$ , and the condition  $\hat{N} | G.S \rangle = 2l | G.S \rangle$  is too restrictive to be imposed.
- 2. Gauss' law must be imposed and preserved during the evolution.
- 3. The appearance of an interaction term between fermionic and bosonic degrees of freedom on the hopping term is being approximated by a pure Gaussian ansatz in bosons and fermions independently, i.e., we are just considering a Mean fermionic field acting on bosons and in the other way around. This looks to be a rather crude approximation.

The first two constraints could be imposed dynamically introducing additional terms in the Hamiltonian (4.40) in the form of chemical potentials which punish energetically their non-fulfillment. This could be achieved via the minimization of  $\langle H \rangle$  with the additional terms

$$\langle H_G \rangle = \mu_G \sum_n \langle G_n \rangle^2 \quad \text{with } \mu_G > 0$$
 (4.41)

in order to impose Gauss' law and

$$\langle H_N \rangle = \mu_N \sum_n \left( \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle_n - 2l \right)^2 \quad \text{with } \mu_N > 0,$$

$$(4.42)$$

to implement the constant dimension of the representation l, taking both  $\mu_G$  and  $\mu_N$  to be much bigger than any other energy scale appearing in the Hamiltonian in order to ensure both constraints are fulfilled. As it can be observed we are imposing

the constraints in the weak sense, i.e., on average. This fact will be commented and further developed in section 6.1 for the (2+1)-dimensional formulation for pure-gauge theories where will be applied. Nevertheless the insertion of such different scales in the evolution will not usually allow a numerically efficient or accurate way to obtain the ground state of the system via imaginary-time evolution.

Moreover the requirement of minimizing (4.41), implies that the gauge symmetry is broken, since linear combination of states with different charges would fulfill the weak condition  $\langle G_n \rangle = 0$ , against parity superselection rule [29], already introduced in section 2.3. In addition, despite not being  $\langle \hat{N} \rangle$  a constant value, we just need to worry about the fact that the ground state fulfills the condition  $\langle \hat{N} \rangle = 2l$ . On the other hand one also realizes that the use of the Schwinger boson representation gives rise to quartic terms in creation and annihilation operators that should be approximated by a mean field. We would like to find a way to better study the system avoiding so many approximations to give a more accurate description.

## 4.3.2. Trial 2: Erasing the gauge field

As we saw in the previous section the main difficulties to deal with the Schwinger model are the interactions between fermionic and gauge fields and Gauss' law. However as we saw in section 4.2, due to the absence of transversal directions, one can solve Gauss' law and write the Hamiltonian only with fermionic fields. In this section we will use this fact to erase the gauge phases living on the links of the lattice, by a unitary transformation giving rise to a *unitarily equivalent* Hamiltonian therefore describing the same physical phenomena. As in the continuum, this unitary transformation will result in a long-range potential term between charges.

In previous studies of the Schwinger model on a lattice a Jordan-Wigner transformation was performed, arriving to an equivalent spin system [16]. In our case we continue working with a second quantized Hamiltonian.

As we saw in Equation 3.35, fermionic operators transform under a local gauge transformation by a phase factor

$$\phi_n \to e^{i\Lambda_n} \phi_n,$$

where  $\Lambda_n$  is an operator acting on the gauge sector. This linear transformation is generated by some unitary operator  $\mathcal{U}$ , generated by a quadratic form in  $\psi$  and  $\psi^{\dagger}$  as we saw in subsection 2.2.1, acting on the fermionic Fock space and therefore in order to erase the gauge phases one needs to apply a gauge transformation imposing

$$\theta_n = \Lambda_n - \Lambda_{n+1} \qquad \forall n, \tag{4.43}$$

i.e., the discrete analogue of  $A_1(x) = -\partial_x \Lambda(x)$ .

Let's fix open boundary conditions for the gauge field<sup>3</sup>. This means that (4.43) must be fulfilled for all  $n = 1, \dots, N-1$  where as before N is the number of sites in the chain and there is one less link. Solving this set of linear equations one finds that

$$\Lambda_n = \sum_{k=n}^{N-1} \theta_n + \Lambda_N, \qquad (4.44)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>This boundary condition is suitable to benchmark the Gaussian ansatz in comparison to MPS results where open boundary conditions are often used.



Figure 4.2.

where  $\Lambda_N$  can be freely chosen since (4.43) just imposes N-1 conditions. Let's choose  $\Lambda_N = 0$ .

Now we need to find the form of  $\mathcal{U}$ , which can be easily checked to be the Bogoliubov transformation

$$\mathcal{U} = \exp\left[-i\sum_{n}\Lambda_{n}\phi_{n}^{\dagger}\phi_{n}\right].$$
(4.45)

Under this transformation the Hamiltonian takes the form

$$H \to \mathcal{U}H\mathcal{U}^{\dagger} = -\frac{i}{2a} \sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n+1} - h.c. \right\} + m \sum_{n} (-1)^{n} \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n} + \frac{ag^{2}}{2} \sum_{n} \mathcal{U}L_{n}^{2} \mathcal{U}^{\dagger}, \quad (4.46)$$

where we used the fact that  $[\mathcal{U}, \phi_m^{\dagger} \phi_m] = 0$  for all *m*. Let's explicitly compute how the electric field transforms:

$$\mathcal{U}L_n\mathcal{U}^{\dagger} = L_n - i\sum_m \phi_m^{\dagger} \phi_m [\sum_{k \ge m} \theta_k + \mathcal{A}_N \bullet^0, L_n] = L_n + \sum_{k \le n} \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_k, \qquad (4.47)$$

then the Hamiltonian results in

$$H \to \mathcal{U}H\mathcal{U}^{\dagger} = -\frac{i}{2a} \sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n+1} - h.c. \right\} + m \sum_{n} (-1)^{n} \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n} + \frac{ag^{2}}{2} \sum_{n} \left( L_{n} + \sum_{k \le n} \phi_{k}^{\dagger} \phi_{k} \right)^{2}, \tag{4.48}$$

that is a fermionic Hamiltonian of the kind discussed in section 2.4, with a quadratic and a quartic interacting term.

On the other hand Gauss' law (4.31) is mapped to

$$L_n - L_{n-1} = -\pi_n, (4.49)$$

i.e., the electric field is fixed in this new picture via a recursive relation. Eq. (4.49) determines the electric field  $L_n$  entirely, up to an arbitrary additive constant  $L_0$ . In order to solve it we can consider an additional open link to the left of site 1 with electric field  $L_0$  as represented in Figure 4.2.

Then fixing  $L_0^4$  we solve (4.49) giving

$$L_n = L_0 - \sum_{k \le n} \pi_k.$$
 (4.50)

 $<sup>^4\</sup>mathrm{As}$  a convention we will choose the left boundary.

**Remark.** We could also have eliminated the  $\pi_n$ -term in the equation (4.50) by a gauge transformation of the form

$$\tilde{\mathcal{U}} = \exp\left[-i\sum_{n}\Lambda_{n}(\phi_{n}^{\dagger}\phi_{n}-\pi_{n})\right].$$
(4.51)

Note also that both  $\mathcal{U}$  and  $\mathcal{\tilde{U}}$  supposed a **non-Gaussian transformation**, i.e., an exponential of order higher than two in creation/annihilation operators, which in this case couples gauge and fermionic degrees of freedom on a cubic term of the form

$$\sum_{n} \left(\sum_{k=n}^{N-1} \theta_n + \Lambda_N\right) \phi_n^{\dagger} \phi_n.$$

This fact makes the difference between the method introduced in subsection 4.3.1 and the one presented now, since correlations between both degrees of freedom are taken into account.

With the same procedure one could also erase the phase factor -i multiplying the first term of the Hamiltonian without changing neither Gauss' law nor the Hamiltonian. Therefore its final form turns out to be

$$H = \varepsilon \sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n+1} + h.c. \right\} + m \sum_{n} (-1)^{n} \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n} + \frac{ag^{2}}{2} \sum_{n} \left( L_{0} + \sum_{k \le n} Q_{k} \right)^{2} \quad (4.52)$$

where we have defined  $\varepsilon := 1/2a$ , the hopping parameter which turns out to be a relevant parameter in purely lattice considerations [14]. In fact the last term in (4.52) corresponds to the long range potential and background interaction terms appearing in the continuum case (4.20) as explained in section 4.3.2.

In order to explore the continuum limit of this theory on a lattice with lattice spacing a it's useful to introduce the parameter  $x = 1/a^2g^2$  following the ideas from [26]. The continuum limit then corresponds to  $x \to \infty$ . The Hamiltonian (4.52) takes the form

$$H = \frac{g}{2\sqrt{x}} \left[ \underbrace{x \sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_n^{\dagger} \phi_{n+1} + h.c. \right\}}_{H_{int}} + \underbrace{\frac{2\sqrt{x}}{g} m \sum_{n} (-1)^n \phi_n^{\dagger} \phi_n}_{H_M} + \underbrace{\sum_{n} \left( L_0 + \sum_{k \le n} Q_k \right)^2 }_{H_E} \right]_{H_E}$$
(4.53)

with  $L_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  a real free parameter. The interpretation of  $L_0$  can be followed from (4.50) and Figure 4.2. In the new frame the electric field on all the links have the constant contribution of  $L_0$ . Therefore we can understand  $L_0$  as a constant background electric field, in an equivalent way as  $\theta$ -field appeared in the continuum formulation of the theory, in fact its relation should be given by  $\theta = 2\pi L_0/g$  as it happened for F.

**Conclusion.** In conclusion, we have transformed the Hamiltonian to a different frame where: Gauss' law has been already considered inside the Hamiltonian **giving rise** to a long range force interaction between fermionic charges, the gauge field has been erased allowing us to just consider Fermionic Gaussian states as an ansatz and a truncation of the exact Kogut-Susskind Hamiltonian has been avoided.

#### Recovering the continuum limit

In order to obtain (4.20) we used the restriction

$$\int dx \, j^0(x) = 0, \tag{4.54}$$

which allowed us to use the equality

$$\int dx \, \int_{-\infty}^{x} dy \, j^{0}(y) = -2 \int dx \, x j^{0}(x) \tag{4.55}$$

and obtain the electric term in the fermionic representation. Relation (4.55) can be used to express the electric term in a way that can be compared to the discretized case

$$\frac{1}{2}g^2a\sum_n\left(E_0/g + a\sum_{k\le n}Q_k'\right)^2 \xrightarrow{a\to 0} \frac{1}{2}g^2\int dx \int_{-\infty}^x dy \, j^0(y)\int_{-\infty}^x dz \, j^0(z) + gF\int dx \int_{-\infty}^x dy \, j^0(y) \tag{4.56}$$

proving that the discrete formulation after erasing the gauge field tends to the continuum one as  $a \to 0$ . We have used the dimensional operators aQ' = Q and  $E_0 = gL_0$ as defined in (4.28). The missing term is a constant value  $\sim F^2 \cdot \text{Vol}$ , proportional to the volume of space that can be erased by redefining the vacuum energy. Therefore the long-range force appearing in (4.52) is in fact the discrete version of the one encountered in the continuum theory.

## Ground state in strong-coupling limit

Consider the dimensionless Hamiltonian  $W = \sqrt{x/gH}$  as in [16]. In the strongcoupling limit  $x \to 0$ , the only remaining terms are  $H_M$  and  $H_E$ . Since  $H_E$  is strictly positive, the ground state of the system will fulfill  $L_n = 0$  for all n. On the other hand due to the staggered mass appearing in  $H_M$ , odd sites of the lattice will be occupied while even ones will be empty

$$\phi_n^{\dagger} \phi_n = \frac{1}{2} (1 - (-1)^n), \qquad (4.57)$$

supporting the interpretation of the Dirac sea picture, presented in section 3.4.1, that particles (antiparticles) occupy even (odd) sites of the lattice. This state  $|\Omega\rangle_f$  will be called indistinctly Dirac sea or "free vacuum". In fact this allows a different, more physical derivation of the staggered charge Equation 3.87 as explained in [16].

### Insertion of static chargers

Interesting physical phenomena in the Schwinger model is related as we saw to the interaction of two static charges placed on different sites of the lattice. Therefore we should introduce an external fermionic charge density in Gauss' law describing those. The mathematical insertion of these static charges is via enlarging the fermionic Hilbert space with an additional static one, i.e., adding a non-dynamical massive fermionic field. This only implies the modification of the charge density in Gauss' law

$$L_n - L_{n-1} = Q_n + Q_n^{\text{ext}}.$$
(4.58)

As explained before, one could also erased the external charge density by a unitary transformation that takes the form

$$\mathcal{U} = \exp\left[-i\sum_{n}\Lambda_n(Q_n^{\text{ext}} + Q_n)\right],\tag{4.59}$$

where in the new frame this gives as a result the Hamiltonian

$$H = \varepsilon \sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n+1} + h.c. \right\} + m \sum_{n} (-1)^{n} \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n} + \frac{ag^{2}}{2} \sum_{n} \left( L_{0} + \sum_{k \le n} \left\{ Q_{k} + Q_{k}^{\text{ext}} \right\} \right)^{2}$$
(4.60)

## 4.3.3. Gaussian approach for the Schwinger model

In this section we will apply the Gaussian approach to the Hamiltonian (4.70) in order to describe the physics of the Schwinger model. As we said, it's important to realize the unitary transformation given by (4.59) is non-Gaussian which, not only erases the gauge field but also allows us a better description of the system by applying **the Gaussian approach in the rotated frame** (unitarily equivalent) frame.

In order to apply the Gaussian ansatz, we use the Nambu representation  $\Phi = (\phi, \phi^{\dagger})^T$  for which the Covariance Matrix takes the form

$$\Gamma = \begin{pmatrix} \langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \rangle & \langle \phi \phi \rangle \\ \langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi^{\dagger} \rangle & \langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi \rangle \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.61)

with the restrictions given by Lemma 2.3.3.

## Mean Field Hamiltonian

Since  $H_M$  and  $H_{int}$  in (4.70) are already quadratic in creation and annihilation operators<sup>5</sup> then they are already in Mean Field form. We just need to apply the normal order :: with respect to the pure FGS ansatz. The electric term  $H_E$  however is a longrange quartic operator. After applying Wick's theorem the state dependent quadratic Hamiltonian reads

$$H_Q(\Gamma) = \langle H \rangle + \frac{1}{2} : \Phi^{\dagger} \left[ \sigma_z \otimes (mD + \varepsilon T) + \frac{ag^2}{2} \sum_n \left\{ 2(L_0 - \sum_k^n \pi_k) \sigma_z \otimes id_n + H_4(n) \right\} \right] \Phi :$$

$$(4.62)$$

where:  $\sigma_z$  is the diagonal Pauli matrix, D the diagonal matrix  $D = \text{Diag}((-1)^n)$ , T the tridiagonal matrix with 1's on the  $\pm 1$  diagonals and 0 on the main one,  $Tr^n$  trace over the  $n \times n$  first entries of the respective matrix and  $H_4(n)$  is given by

$$H_4(n) = 2 \begin{pmatrix} Tr^n(\langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \rangle) - \frac{1}{2} + \langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \rangle & -\langle \phi \phi \rangle \\ - \langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi^{\dagger} \rangle & -Tr^n(\langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \rangle) + \frac{1}{2} - \langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \rangle^T \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.63)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>It's on this point where the Unitary transformation  $\tilde{U}$  took its most important role.

## Computation of the energy

As we saw in chapter 2, the average energy plays an important role in the Gaussian approach since it should decrease during the imaginary time evolution allowing us to know the rate at which the system tends to the ground state. Therefore its analytical computation it's an important calculation in this method. Applying as always Wick's theorem we find the expression

$$\langle H \rangle = mTr(D\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi\right\rangle) + \varepsilon(Tr^{+1}(\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi\right\rangle) + h.c) + \frac{ag^{2}}{2}\sum_{n}\left(L_{0}^{2} - 2L_{0}\sum_{k}^{n}\pi_{k} + \left(\sum_{k}^{n}\pi_{k}\right)^{2}\right) + ag^{2}\sum_{n}\left\{(L_{0} - \sum_{k}^{n}\pi_{k})Tr^{n}(\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi\right\rangle)\right\} + \frac{ag^{2}}{2}\sum_{n}\left\{Tr^{n}(\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi\right\rangle)^{2} + Tr^{n}(\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi^{\dagger}\right\rangle\sum_{-\left\langle \phi\phi\right\rangle^{T}}) + Tr^{n}(\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi\right\rangle\left\langle \phi\phi^{\dagger}\right\rangle^{T})\right\},$$

$$(4.64)$$

where  $Tr^{+1}$  is defined as the sum over the upper-first diagonal's elements. The derivation of (4.62) and (4.64) can be found in section B.1 of the Appendix.

Another relevant observable that will allow us to characterize the system is the electric field on a link. Since all our observables are measured on the ground state of the system  $|\Omega\rangle$ , that we are approximating by a Gaussian state, the average of  $L_n$  reads

$$\langle \Omega \left| L_{n} \right| \Omega \rangle_{O,F} = \left\langle \Omega \left| \tilde{L}_{n} \right| \Omega \right\rangle_{R,F} = \left\langle \Omega \left| \mathcal{U}L_{n}\mathcal{U}^{\dagger} \right| \Omega \right\rangle_{R,F} = \left\langle \Omega \left| L_{n} + \sum_{k \leq n} \phi_{k}^{\dagger} \phi_{k} \right| \Omega \right\rangle_{R,F}$$

$$= \left\langle \Omega \left| L_{0} + \sum_{k \leq n} \left\{ \phi_{k}^{\dagger} \phi_{k} - \pi_{k} \right\} \right| \Omega \right\rangle_{R,F} \approx L_{0} - \sum_{k \leq n} \pi_{k} + Tr^{n} \left( \left\langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi \right\rangle \right),$$

where the subscripts O.F and R.F stand for "Original frame" and "Rotated frame" respectively, the vacuum state transforms as  $|\Omega\rangle_{R.F} = \mathcal{U} |\Omega\rangle_{O.F}$  and in  $\approx$  the Gaussian approximation has been applied being the last average evaluated on the Gaussian ground state.

# 4.4. Physics in the Schwinger model: Screening and confinement

From our analysis in section 3.6, one expects an electric flux tube connecting the particle-antiparticle —string— and the potential  $V_Q(L)$  growing linearly with the distance. However, due to the consideration of dynamical fermions, there exists a critical distance  $L_c$  at which the string breaks, being the static charges completely screened. The way this screening appears depends on whether we consider massless or massive fermions as we stated while solving the continuum theory in subsection 4.2.2.

In the next section we will study the Schwinger model for both massless and massive fermions in order to establish the validity of the Gaussian approach. Since an analytical expression for  $V_Q(L)$  can be exactly obtained for the massless Schwinger model, we will make use of it in order to check the results obtained via the Gaussian approximation.

Recall that  $V_Q(L)$  is computed as the ground state energy  $E_Q(L)$  for a configuration of a static particle-antiparticle pair  $\bar{q}q$  at a distance L

$$V_Q(L) = E_Q(L) - E_{\text{vac}} \tag{4.66}$$

where  $E_{\text{vac}}$  is the energy of the (interacting) vacuum and on the lattice, distances are given by  $L = k/\sqrt{x}$  (in physical units g = 1) with  $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ .

Moreover depending on the physics we would like to analyze, we will consider different boundary conditions for the string, either —static charges— or excitations of the fermionic field at the corresponding site —dynamical charges. Finally as a **convention** we denote by Q the positive external charge measured in units of the fundamental one g.

## 4.4.1. Massless Schwinger model

In section 4.2.2 we saw that due to the finite mass acquired  $M = g/\sqrt{\pi}$  by the photon, the potential between impurities should be a screening one, depending on M. In fact placing external charges into the system one obtains that the potential energy "between" them is given by [52]

$$V_Q(L) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}gQ^2}{2} \left(1 - e^{-gL/\sqrt{\pi}}\right),$$
(4.67)

with  $g/\sqrt{\pi}$  the mass acquired by the photon.

Classically, one would expect this potential to rise linearly with the inter-charge separation but vacuum polarization can shield these impurities giving rise to the screening potential (4.67), which saturates to a constant value for long distances for any either integer or not integer charge Q.

Since (4.67) is an exact result obtained for the continuum theory, we need to consider the continuum limit of our discrete Hamiltonian. In order to do so, we will consider (4.53) for different values of  $x = 1/g^2a^2$  and compute the ground state energy of the system for different distances L between the static charges. In Figure 4.3a  $V_Q(L)$  has been plotted for x = 100 and 400, in comparison to the analytical result and the result obtained from MPS in Ref. [26]. We observe, as expected, that larger values of x give more accurate results to obtain the continuum limit. Moreover in Figure 4.3b a more quantitative analysis has been given for both parameters x = 100and x = 400. In Figure 4.3b we have plotted the relative error comparing two results for different values of x in logarithmic scale. The relative error is calculated as follows

$$\Delta(M1,M2) = \frac{\left| V_Q^{M1}(L) - V_Q^{M2}(L) \right|}{\left| V_Q^{M2}(L) \right|}$$

where M1 and M2 stand for the first and second arguments in the legend written as "M1 vs. M2". In this way we consider the continuum theoretical result as the most

exact result while we consider the Gaussian ansatz as the least accurate, since it's the one we want to analyze.

Therefore in Figure 4.3b we observe that for x = 100, 400, both MPS and the Gaussian ansatz recover the continuum analytical result with the same level of accuracy. In fact the relative error between MPS and the Gaussian ansatz is bounded by  $\Delta < 0.3\%$ . For x = 100 the relative error is bounded by  $\Delta < 8 \cdot 10^{-2}$  except for distances  $L \cdot g < 1$ , where the continuum limit does not work so well. In fact this is a problem of the discretization that cannot be solved by just taking x larger, as can be also realized in the Figure 4.3b. Then as long as we consider distances  $L \cdot g > 1$ , we will only make a relative error of less than 8%. Since the agreement with the analytical result for  $V_Q(L)$  is already good enough in the case x = 100 and in order to compare with the results obtained in x = 100, we will restrict ourselves from now on to x = 100.



(a) Qualitative comparison: Gaussian ansatz, MPS and exact continuum exact.

Gaussian (b) Comparison in logarithmic scale with um exact. MPS and exact continuum result for x =100,400.

Figure 4.3.: Comparison among exact continuum result, Gaussian ansatz and MPS [26] for Q = 1 and x = 100, 400.

In order to visualize the screening mechanism, we would like to plot the distribution of the dynamical fermionic charge density  $\langle \bar{\psi}(z)\gamma^0\psi(z)\rangle$  on the ground state of such configuration. To do so we need to consider the (continuous) charge density distribution  $\langle \bar{\psi}(z)\gamma^0\psi(z)\rangle$  for which an analytical result was also obtained in [52]

$$\langle \bar{\psi}(z)\gamma^0\psi(z)\rangle(x_0,y_0) = \frac{Qg}{2\sqrt{\pi}} \Big(e^{-g|z-y_0|/\sqrt{\pi}} - e^{-g|z-x_0|/\sqrt{\pi}}\Big)$$
 (4.68)

where  $x_0$  and  $y_0$  are the positions of the positive and negative external charges  $\pm Q$ respectively. In order to compare with the exact result (4.68), we have to recover the staggered formulation of locating fermions  $\phi'_n$  on the lattice. Remember the fact that particles of positive (negative) charge live on the even (odd) nodes of the lattice, whose combination gives rise to the appearance of a two-component Dirac field in the continuum limit. Therefore in order to recover the continuum limit, we consider the intermediate points between an odd (to the left) and an even (to the right) sites giving z = a(2n - 1/2) with  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . In these points the dynamical charge density takes the form
#### 4.4. Physics in the Schwinger model: Screening and confinement



Figure 4.4.: For Q = 1.5 and m/g = 0, we test the Gaussian approximation via the exact result for charge density.

$$\left\langle \bar{\psi}(z)\gamma^{0}\psi(z)\right\rangle(x_{0},y_{0}) = \frac{1}{2}\left\langle \underbrace{Q_{2n-1}'}_{\text{antipart.}} + \underbrace{Q_{2n}'}_{\text{particle}}\right\rangle = \frac{1}{2a}\left\langle Q_{2n-1} + Q_{2n}\right\rangle$$
(4.69)

where we have used the relation  $\phi_n = \sqrt{a}\phi'_n$  and the definition of charge density  $Q_n = \phi_n^{\dagger}\phi_n - 1/2(1 - (-1)^n)$ .

In Figure 4.4a we have plotted  $\langle \bar{\psi}(z)\gamma^0\psi(z)\rangle$  for two static charges Q = 1.5 at a distance  $L \cdot g = 17.3$  computed via the Gaussian approximation and the exact result (4.68). We observe two symmetrical accumulations of charge around the static ones which completely screens them. Indeed the solution we obtained coincides with the analytical result except on the boundaries, due to **finite-size effects**. This effect can be observed in Figure 4.4a, where we have plotted the result for different chains of length N = 370,574 and 700, where we observe a better agreement for larger N's. Moreover Figure 4.4b shows screening is independent of the existence of other charges in the massless case.

#### 4.4.2. Massive Schwinger model

Being not solvable, it's a known exact result [53] that as long as the external charges are integer multiples of the fundamental charge, these will be completely screened by the creation of particle-antiparticle pairs out of the vacuum (Schwinger mechanism) giving rise to the breaking of the string. This will be studied in the next sections. Once this has happened one would expect a flattening of the potential  $V_Q(L)$  for Lgreater than some critical distance  $L_c$ , where the excited pairs screen the external charges creating **two isolated (mesons) color singlets**. Therefore one realizes two different phases: a confining phase where opposite charges are joined by an electric flux tube and string-breaking phase where these charges are screened by the creation of pairs.

#### 4. The Schwinger model

#### Structure of the vacuum

As it was explained in section 4.2.2, the massive model is sensitive to the chosen value for the  $\theta$ -field ( $L_0$  in the discretized case), that as we saw is interpreted as a background field. Charges are "confined" <sup>6</sup> in the model for any value of  $\theta$  but, as it was pointed out by Coleman [55] and later on confirmed in [59], there is a special phenomenon appearing for  $\theta = \pi$  known as "half-asymptotic" particles. Nevertheless we will focus on the case  $\theta = L_0 = 0$  following previous studies like the ones done in [15, 16, 26] in order to test the Gaussian method. We leave the study of the  $\theta$ -vacuum as part of the Outlook 6.3.

#### Confining/string breaking quantum phase transition

In Figure 4.5 the Gaussian approach results are showed in comparison to those obtained with MPS in Ref. [26], whose authors have kindly shared their data with us. In Figure 4.5a the potential  $V_Q(L)$  is displayed for several values of the ratio m/g = 0, 0.125, 0.25, 0.75, 1, 2. At the critical length  $L = L_c$ , a quantum phase transition takes place between the confining and string breaking phases. Moreover, as expected from the semiclassical results obtained in the bosonized theory [26], this transition happens more suddenly for larger values of m/g and  $L_c$  is a function of m/g. There is a linear confining potential for  $L \ll L_c$  and a flattening of  $V_Q(L)$  for large distances  $L \gg L_c$  corresponding to the string breaking phase where the two mesons have been formed.

In Figure 4.5b a comparison between both methods is showed via the computation of the relative error

$$\Delta = \frac{\left| V_Q^{\text{Gauss.}}(L) - V_Q^{\text{MPS}}(L) \right|}{\left| V_Q^{\text{MPS}}(L) \right|}$$

in logarithmic scale, where Gauss. and MPS stand for Gaussian and MPS methods respectively. We can appreciate that the relative difference between both methods is given for the case m/g = 0.5 and it's bounded by  $\Delta \sim 7 \cdot 10^{-3}$  (i.e., a percent error of 0.7%) near the critical distances  $L \sim L_c$ , at which the appearance of peaks take place being  $V_Q^{\text{Gauss.}}(L)/g > V_Q^{\text{MPS}}(L)/g$  for all values of m/g. The appearance of these peaks is related to the fact that at  $L = L_c$  the quantum phase transition takes place.

At these points the confining and string-breaking phases have the same energy for the exact Hamiltonian H. However since we are using a mean-field approximation  $H_Q(\Gamma)$ , these two could correspond to different energies. Therefore near  $L_c$ , one needs to initialize the imaginary time evolution with seeds corresponding to a string and two mesons configurations, which are orthogonal to each other, taking the lowest energy at the end of the evolution<sup>7</sup>. In fact it could also happen that a linear superposition of both states have a lower energy in the Gaussian approximation. Nevertheless recall the fact that Gaussian states do not close a linear space and therefore linear superpositions of Gaussian states are in general not Gaussian. Thus since we are using

 $<sup>^6\</sup>mathrm{By}$  "confined" we mean that one can see either confinement or the confining/ string breaking transition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Remember that the imaginary time evolution could get stuck in a local minimum.

a mean-field Hamiltonian the description at  $L_c$  where the quantum phase transition takes place is in principle not as reliable as other techniques.



Figure 4.5.: Comparison Gaussian approximation with MPS [26] for Q = 1 and x = 100 for the massive Schwinger model.

We can conclude that the Gaussian approach correctly describes the quantum phase transition and the confining and string breaking phase separately, for different values m/g. Moreover, we should ensure for distances near the critical one that the imaginary time evolution has arrived to a global rather than to a local minimum.

**Characterization via imaginary-time evolution** The characterization of the stringbreaking phase, can be already realized in the imaginary time evolution calculation that is done in order to find the ground state of the system.

Figure 4.6 shows the energy and the electric flux configuration of the system as a function of the imaginary time in the string breaking phase for  $L \cdot g = 12.1$  and m/g = 2. Starting with an initial seed of a string, we as usually observe a fast exponential decay of the energy at the begining of the imaginary time evolution followed by a flattening. As it was explained in [14], this metastable plateau corresponds to the interacting string state. For a later time we again observe a decrease in the energy of the configuration which coincides, as it can be seen in the (imaginary) dynamical electric flux configuration plot, to the breaking of the string. At this moment the mesons have been formed as can be seen in the evolution of the dynamical fermionic charge density in Figure 4.7. On the other hand, using the identical initial seed, the previous metastable plateau becomes a stable one for the confining phase.

#### Partial screening

Unlike the massless case, it's also known that for the case of charges that are noninteger multiples of the fundamental charge g, the string tension  $\sigma_Q$  does not vanish, i.e., the string does not break, and therefore only the integer part of a static charge  $\lfloor Q \rfloor$  can be screened [53]. While this result is known to be true in the weak (massperturbative) coupling limit  $m/g \to \infty$ , we will now analyze its behavior for different finite ratios of m/g. In Figure 4.8a we have plotted the potential for the values

#### 4. The Schwinger model



Figure 4.6.: Energy and flux imaginary evolution for string-breaking phase for an external charge Q = 1 and x = 100 for m/g = 2.



Figure 4.7.: Charge density imaginary evolution for string-breaking phase for an external charge Q = 1 and x = 100 for m/g = 2

Q = 1, 1.75, 2.5, 3.25 with the Gaussian method (straight lines) in comparison to MPS results (\* scatter plot). We observe as many changes in the string tension  $\sigma_Q$ , as the integer part of the static charges, therefore creating  $\lfloor Q \rfloor$  dynamical pairs which screen them. The resulting "mesons" are connected by the remaining electric flux tube. This phenomenon is known as *partial string breaking* and it's been deeper discussed in [26]. In Figure 4.8b we compare the Gaussian to the MPS results from [26] as before. In this case we observe as many peaks in  $\Delta(L)$  bounded by  $\Delta < 4 \cdot 10^{-3}$  with maximum in the case Q = 1, as  $\lfloor Q \rfloor$  for each case, since at each of these points a "string breaking" phenomenon is taking place.

Again we can conclude that the Gaussian method is able to describe this phe-



(a) Gaussian computation versus MPS results.(b) Comparison in logarithmic scale between Qualitative comparison.Gaussian and MPS.

Figure 4.8.: Partial screening m/g = 1. Comparison between Gaussian and MPS calculation from [26].

nomenon with a surprisingly good accuracy.

#### 4.4.3. Real time dynamics

Finally let's analyze the dynamical properties of the theory, where we will focus on the understanding of the string breaking mechanism. Most of our understanding of this effect is related to static properties as we saw in the previous section. In fact Tensor Networks techniques are being developed nowadays, due to its advantage over conventional Monte Carlo simulations of avoiding the "sign problem" [6] that appears in some parameters regime when considering dynamical fermions [14, 26, 27]. Moreover Quantum Simulation protocols are also being developed [10]. In fact last year (2016) the first experimental demonstration of a digital quantum simulation of a lattice gauge theory was realized [12] by the use of trapped ions. Similar to them, the Gaussian approach allows us to consider the real time evolution of a system. Therefore this method open new possibilities to study the dynamics of gauge theories, like for example understand the dynamical breaking from the creation of particle-antiparticle pairs on top of each other and their subsequent dynamical separation in order to screen the static charges.

In [52] the real time evolution of the charge density was already study for the massless Schwinger case. However no much is known about the real time dynamics of the string breaking. In fact it wasn't till 2013 when a first attempt to describe the space-time picture of string breaking phenomenon [60] was made, and 2016 when a more detailed discussion was given [27] by means of Tensor Network techniques.

Moreover in order to be able to compare with the results obtained by MPS in [14, 27], we will consider the Hamiltonian form

$$H = -\varepsilon \sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n+1} + h.c. \right\} + m \sum_{n} (-1)^{n} \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n} + \frac{ag^{2}}{2} \sum_{n} \left( L_{0} + \sum_{k \le n} \left\{ \phi_{k}^{\dagger} \phi_{k} - \pi_{k} \right\} \right)^{2},$$
(4.70)

#### 4. The Schwinger model

where  $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{R}$  will be consider a free hopping parameter therefore focusing in the (exact) gauge symmetry implemented in the lattice Hamiltonian (4.70) rather than on the continuum limit. In addition we will consider two different scenarios: an initial dynamical string configuration whose extremes can freely propagate (dynamical fermions) and an initial static configuration where the extremes are fixed by placing two static particles. Both states must be constructed on top of what we will call **interacting vacuum state**, i.e., the ground state of the total Hamiltonian, different from the "free vacuum" or the Dirac sea  $|\Omega\rangle_f$  we obtained in section 4.3.2. Therefore, we start obtaining the interacting vacuum state  $|\Omega\rangle$  of the system via an imaginary time evolution and in the case of a free string, we will afterwards apply the gauge invariant operator whose form in the original frame is

$$S_{n,k} = \phi_n^{\dagger} U_n \dots U_{n+k-1} \phi_{n+k}, \qquad (4.71)$$

for odd k and in the rotated frame via (4.51) takes the form

$$\mathcal{U}^{\dagger}S_{n,k}\mathcal{U} \longrightarrow S_{n,k} = \phi_n^{\dagger}\phi_{n+k}, \qquad (4.72)$$

therefore generating a particle-antiparticle pair at sites n and n + k.

Moreover because we are not interested in recovering the continuum limit and since we will allow to independently change m and g, we consider the integer distances L/a = k unlike the previous sections  $(L = k/\sqrt{x} \text{ in units of } g)$ , where k names a site on the lattice.

#### Static string breaking:

As we have seen, the usual way of proving string breaking is via the analysis of the static potential energy  $V_Q(L)$ . In this way, we can focus on the string breaking phenomenon and ease the complications coming for the different possibilities in which the string can freely propagates. Therefore, in this part we study the scenario where two static external charges are placed on the lattice at a distance greater than the critical one. At this point one would expect to see how the string gets broken as the system evolves. We consider a model with  $\varepsilon = 2$  and m/g = 1 which results in a critical distance  $L_c/a \sim 10$  and therefore we place the static charges at a distance L/a = 33 that is greater than  $L_c$ , since we are interested in studying the string breaking dynamics. Since we set  $\hbar = g = 1$ , time is given in units of  $\hbar/g$ .

In Figure 4.9 we observe the evolution of the string, surrounded by the interacting vacuum and where the electrix flux tube gets broken and it oscillates between different flux configurations without recovering the complete string configuration, i.e., we are realizing the dynamical breaking of the string.<sup>8</sup> Therefore the Gaussian approach could provide a method to understand the dynamical features of gauge theories, and more specifically of the string breaking phenomenon.

#### Free string breaking:

A different approach can also be considered. In order to test our results we compare them with [27]. In [27] the authors considered the Quantum Link Model formula-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The real-time dynamics needs a high precision. That's the reason of using a time step equals to  $\Delta t = 5 \times 10^{-4}$  in the numerical solution, while testing the state at each time is still a pure fermionic Gaussian state.



Figure 4.9.: Real time dynamics for a distance between static charges equals to  $z \cdot g = 33a$  and  $\varepsilon = 2$ , m/g = 1.

tion where a truncation of the infinite-dimensional gauge Hilbert space on a link is performed [61]. On the other hand, due to the applied unitary transformation to the Hamiltonian (4.70), we avoid to perform such a truncation, giving the Gaussian method an exact description of the system when g = 0. In this part, in order to be able to compare our results with [27], we will consider the case  $\varepsilon = 1$  and therefore time is measured in units of  $\hbar/\varepsilon$ . Let me highlight the fact that in [27], the operator (4.72) is applied to the free vacuum  $|\Omega\rangle_f$  instead to the interacting one  $|\Omega\rangle$ . Therefore this initial state looks like a global quench in the considered system, unlike our previous case where we considered a string on top of the real interacting vacuum (local quench) evolving under the Hamiltonian (4.70).

In Figure 4.10 we compare the Gaussian method to results obtained by MPS in [27]. We observed the perfect agreement for the case m = 3 and g = 3.5 (while  $\varepsilon = 1$ ) plotted in Figure 4.10a and Figure 4.10d where the dynamical fermions are basically motionless out of the string since the mass term is quite bigger than the hopping interaction. The case m = 0.25 and g = 1.25 is given in Figure 4.10b and Figure 4.10e where the first part of the evolution is quite similar but it starts to differ around  $t \sim 4$ . The last two plots Figure 4.10c and Figure 4.10f show the evolution for the case m = g = 0 that is exactly solved by the Gaussian ansatz due to the fact that (4.70) becomes a quadratic Hamiltonian in creation/annihilation operators. As it can be clearly seen, both plots do not coincide.

In order to identify which of both results is correct, let's solve the problem analytically. In this case m = g = 0, the Hamiltonian takes the form

$$H = \varepsilon \sum_{n=1}^{N} \{ \phi_n^{\dagger} \phi_{n+1} + \phi_{n+1}^{\dagger} \phi_n \} \equiv \phi^{\dagger} \mathcal{H} \phi, \qquad (4.73)$$

where  $\phi$  is a column vector defined by  $\phi = (\phi_n)_n$  and  $\phi^{\dagger}$  is Hermitian conjugate formed by creation operators. Then in the Heisenberg picture  $\phi(t)$  is given by

$$\phi(t) = e^{-i\mathcal{H}t}\phi(0) \Longrightarrow \phi^{\dagger}(t) = \phi^{\dagger}(0)e^{i\mathcal{H}t}, \qquad (4.74)$$





Figure 4.10.: Comparison Gaussian approximation (first column) vs. MPS [27] (second column) for real time dynamics with Q = 1: m = 3, g = 3.5 (first line) and m = 0.25, g = 1.25 (second line) and m = 0, g = 0 (third line)

i.e., the evolution is just a linear transformation mixing annihilation operators on different sites due to the fact the Hamiltonian is quadratic (Observation 2.2.1).

Let's call  $U(t) = \exp(-i\mathcal{H}t)$ . Since  $\langle L_n \rangle$  is given by elements of the form  $\left\langle \phi_n^{\dagger} \phi_n \right\rangle$ , let's compute the evolution of



(a) Alternative method: analytical solution for (b) Real time evolution for m = 0 and g =the case m = g = 0.  $-\varepsilon = 1$ .

Figure 4.11.

$$\left\langle (\phi^{\dagger}(t))^{T}\phi(t)^{T} \right\rangle = \left\langle \left( \begin{array}{c} \phi_{1}^{\dagger} \\ \phi_{2}^{\dagger} \\ \vdots \\ \phi_{N}^{\dagger} \end{array} \right) (\phi_{1}, \phi_{2}, \dots \phi_{N}) \right\rangle = U^{*}(t) \left\langle (\phi^{\dagger}(0))^{T}\phi(0)^{T} \right\rangle U^{T}(t).$$

$$(4.75)$$

Now diagonalizing  $\mathcal{H}$  and solving the evolution in MATLAB we obtain Figure 4.11a for  $\langle L_n \rangle(t)$ .

In Figure 4.11a we see the similarity of the result with that obtained in the Gaussian approach Figure 4.10c. In fact we have verified that  $|\langle L_n \rangle_{Gauss.} - \langle L_n \rangle_{Alt.}|(t) = 0$  for any time t and any link n. We therefore conclude that, as expected, the Gaussian method is exact in this situation and differs from the result obtained in [27]. Moreover we have observed that  $\max_{n,t} |\langle L_n \rangle| > 1$  during the evolution and therefore it could happen that a truncation of the gauge field for l = 1 is not totally justified. Moreover in Figure 4.11b, we show a similar evolution with the different string breaking and anti-string formation appearing in Figure 4.10f. As explained in [27], the electric field oscillates between the string ( $\bar{q}q$ ) and anti-string ( $q\bar{q}$ ) configurations while creating two electric field excitation wavefronts where the formation of mesons also takes place.

A possible explanation for the similarity of both methods in the large mass and coupling limit m = 3 and g = 3.5 and the big difference in the massless case could be the following. In [27], a Quantum Link Model with spin-1 is considered. This only allows to the electric field to take three different values on a link  $m = 0, \pm 1$ . However in the limit m = g = 0 fermionic excitations can be freely created out of the vacuum. Since g = 0 as well, these excitations can make the electric flux to fluctuate on the different links and take any possible value in the infinite dimensional Hilbert space. Therefore a truncation with l = 1 in this situation is not justified. Another way to express the same problem can be to consider the Schwinger representation as explained in subsection 4.3.1. In this case m takes values  $|m| \sim l$  and therefore the convergence as in the  $l \to \infty$  case is not justified. **Remark.** In addition to study the dynamics in the purely discretized version of the Schwinger model, we would like to consider the dynamics in the continuum limit in such a way one can extrapolate some conclusions to the continuum model. However, due to the high precision needed for the real-time dynamics and the additional cost that suppose to consider big enough system sizes, this task results numerically expensive.

#### 4.5. Conclusion

In this chapter we have successfully applied the Gaussian method to Quantum Electrodynamics in two spacetime dimensions with both massless and massive fermions. In the massless case this method is able (1) to recover the continuum theory by tuning, as in standard LGT and TN techniques, the lattice spacing *a*. Moreover (2) the Gaussian ansatz gives a description of the massless case, as accurate as MPS does. We have being able (3) to identify the screening of external charges as obtained in [52], but realizing finite size effects problems which should be taken into account. Finally we have (4) verified that the Gaussian method correctly describes the dynamics of a theory for massless fermions without gauge field. Nevertheless the better description given by the Gaussian ansatz in comparison to MPS, just allows us to evaluate the suitability of the considered model rather than the method to describe the system since in ours we have eliminated the gauge field.

In the massive case the method is (5) able to realize the quantum phase transition between a confining and a string breaking phase, having relatively small numerical deviations from MPS calculations near the critical points. We believe this is a drawback of the mean field theory we are applying. Nevertheless the Gaussian ansatz gives a surprisingly accurate solution despite of the fact that a non-quadratic long-range interaction terms appears in H. The method also realizes (6) the phenomenon known as partial string breaking, with the same numerical problems founded in (5). As an important advantage this method also allows us to analyze dynamical aspects of the theory where no much is known from the analytical solution. Therefore, the Gaussian method looks a promising method to study LGT.

# 5. Non-Abelian groups in two spacetime dimensions

Due to the success describing Abelian gauge theories, in this chapter we will go one step further and will benchmark the ability of the Gaussian approximation to describe non-Abelian theories. In order to do so we will try to deduce a unitary transformation which again allows us to forget about the gauge field.

#### 5.1. Introduction

While the massless Schwinger model is exactly solvable, QCD in two spacetime dimensions (gauge group SU(3)) for massless fermions is not [62]. However, this 2dimensional model has allowed the development of important tools to understand realistic quantum field theories that are expected to appear in 4-dimensional QCD. QCD<sub>2</sub> has been used to study the bound-state spectrum, algebraic structure and duality properties of QFTs [50]. Nevertheless in order to realize some physical phenomena like confinement and its dynamical analysis, is enough to consider a smaller gauge group like SU(2) as in the studies done in [**otro**, 7, 9, 14, 63]. In fact Kogut and Susskind introduced in [7] the Hamiltonian formulation of LGT using the SU(2)as an easier example where one can use the usual addition of angular momenta.

#### 5.2. Erasing the gauge field

As we explained in subsection 4.3.2, in two spacetime dimensions the gauge field can be erase via an unitary transformation. It's also commonly known the fact that this does not depend on whether the group is either Abelian or not. In this section following the same motivation as in the U(1) Abelian case, we get rid of the gauge degrees of freedom for any SU(N) gauge group. This will give us a similar structure as the one found in the Abelian case. In general we can extend this transformation to any non-Abelian group as long as there exist Unitary representations of the group.

The Kogut-Susskind Hamiltonian with gauge group SU(N) in (1+1)-dimension and hopping parameter  $\varepsilon$  takes the form

$$H = \varepsilon \sum_{n} \left\{ (\phi_n^{\dagger})_a (U_n)_{ab} (\phi_{n+1})_b + h.c. \right\} + m \sum_{n} (-1)^n (\phi_n^{\dagger})_a (\phi_n)_a + \frac{g^2}{2} \sum_{n,\alpha} (L_n^{\alpha})^2$$
(5.1)

where as we saw in chapter 3,  $L_n^{\alpha}$  are the left generators and  $U_n$  is given by  $U_n^j = \exp(i\theta_n \cdot \mathbf{T}^j)$  in some irreducible representation j of the gauge group with  $\theta_n^{\alpha} = agA_1^{\alpha}(n)$  and the generators fulfill

$$[T^{\alpha}, T^{\beta}] = i f^{\alpha\beta\gamma} T^{\gamma}.$$
(5.2)

#### 5. Non-Abelian groups in two spacetime dimensions

In order to erase the gauge field appearing in the hopping term of the Hamiltonian and after acquiring some intuition of the kind of transformation we applied in the U(1) case, we look for a unitary transformation given by a fermionic operator that we will call  $\Theta$ .

Moreover, we need to know how the Hamiltonian transforms under charge-generated unitary transformations. Let's apply  $\Theta^Q = \prod_n \Theta^Q_{g_n} = \prod_n \exp(i\alpha_n \cdot \phi^{\dagger}_n \mathbf{T}^j \phi_n)$  with  $g_n \in G$  to the hopping term in H. Before to do so, let me recall (3.35), how  $\phi$  and  $\phi^{\dagger}$ transform under  $\Theta^Q$ 

$$\Theta_g^{Q,j}\phi_a\Theta_g^{Q,j\dagger} = D_{ab}^{j,\dagger}(g)\phi_b, \qquad \Theta_g^{Q,j}\phi_a^{\dagger}\Theta_g^{Q,j\dagger} = \phi_b^{\dagger}D_{ba}^j(g), \tag{5.3}$$

where as we saw in (3.2.1)  $D^{j}(g)$  is the representation given by

$$D_{ba}^{j}(g) = \left(e^{i\theta_{g} \cdot \mathbf{T}^{j}}\right)_{ba}.$$
(5.4)

From now on j will be omitted when there is no need for a particular representation. Given these transformation laws, the hopping term changes as follows

$$H_{hop} \mapsto \Theta^Q H_{hop} \Theta^{Q\dagger} = \varepsilon \sum_n \left\{ (\phi_n^{\dagger})_c D_{ca}(g_n)(U_n)_{ab} D_{bd}(g_{n+1}^{-1})(\phi_{n+1})_d + h.c. \right\}, \quad (5.5)$$

where we have denoted by  $D(g_n)$  the gauge transformation applied to the fermionic field living on the site n.

Therefore, in order to erase the gauge field in the hopping term we need to solve

$$D(g_n)U_nD(g_{n+1}^{-1}) = \mathbb{1} \Longrightarrow D(g_{n+1}) = D(g_n)U_n \qquad \forall \, n.$$
(5.6)

With the analogous picture of Figure 4.2 in the non-Abelian case, let's fix boundary conditions on the chain by choosing  $U_0 = 1$  and  $D(g_0) = 1$ , namely we have chosen **open boundary conditions** for both the gauge and the fermionic fields, giving as a result  $D(g_1) = 1$ . Solving for all links n is easy to see that

$$D(g_n) = U_1 U_2 \cdots U_{n-1} \qquad \forall \, n \tag{5.7}$$

where we didn't make reference to any specific representation and the index j has been omitted.

Therefore we need to find a  $\Theta^n$  which generates (5.7) on each site *n*. One can check that such a transformation is given by

$$\Theta^{n} = \exp\left[i\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \theta_{k} \cdot \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \mathbf{T} \phi_{n}\right] = e^{i\theta_{1} \cdot \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \mathbf{T} \phi_{n}} e^{i\theta_{2} \cdot \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \mathbf{T} \phi_{n}} \cdots e^{i\theta_{n-1} \cdot \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \mathbf{T} \phi_{n}}, \tag{5.8}$$

just recalling the transformation laws  $(5.3)^1$ .

Let's check that in fact this is true computing some terms. From the transformation laws of  $\phi_a$  we know that

$$e^{i\theta_2 \cdot \phi_n^{\dagger} \mathbf{T} \phi_n} (\phi_n)_a e^{-i\theta_2 \cdot \phi_n^{\dagger} \mathbf{T} \phi_n} = (\phi_n^{\dagger})_b (U_2)_{ba}$$
  
$$\Rightarrow e^{i\theta_1 \cdot \phi_n^{\dagger} \mathbf{T} \phi_n} e^{i\theta_2 \cdot \phi_n^{\dagger} \mathbf{T} \phi_n} (\phi_n^{\dagger})_a e^{-i\theta_2 \cdot \phi_n^{\dagger} \mathbf{T} \phi_n} e^{i\theta_1 \cdot \phi_n^{\dagger} \mathbf{T} \phi_n} = (\phi_n^{\dagger})_c (U_1)_{cb} (U_2)_{ba}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For periodic boundary conditions one can obtain a similar transformation as it is done in Ref. [64]. Nevertheless it is easier for us to fix open boundary conditions in order to compare with MPS calculations.

The global transformation  $\Theta$  we look for, acting on all sites, is given by

$$\Theta = \prod_{k=1}^{\rightarrow} \exp\left(\imath\theta_k \cdot \sum_{m>k} \mathbf{Q}_m\right) \equiv \prod_{k=1}^{\rightarrow} W_k , \qquad (5.9)$$

where the arrow over  $\prod$  means that the operators  $W_k$  must be ordered from left to right with increasing index k.

#### 5.2.1. Rotated Hamiltonian

Once we have erased the gauge fields living on the links we would like to know how the other terms in the Hamiltonian change. It's easy to see that the mass term is invariant, i.e., it's a scalar under this transformation. However the electric term will change. Let's first of all analyze the structure of the electric part. We know that the left and right generators hold the following commutation relations on each link of the lattice

$$L_{\alpha}, L_{\beta}] = -i f^{\alpha\beta\gamma} L_{\gamma} \qquad [R_{\alpha}, R_{\beta}] = i f^{\alpha\beta\gamma} R_{\gamma}, \tag{5.10}$$

where  $f^{\alpha\beta\gamma}$  are the structure constants of the gauge algebra (5.2).

Now we would like to analyze how the electric term of the Hamiltonian changes under the transformation (5.7). Let's remember that  $H_E$  is expressed by

$$\frac{2}{g^2}H_E = \sum_{n,\alpha} (L_n^{\alpha})^2 = \sum_n \mathbf{L}_n^T \cdot \mathbf{L}_n.$$
(5.11)

where we have denoted by  $\mathbf{L}^T$  the row vector  $\mathbf{L}^T = (L^{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ .

From (3.48) we know that given a representation  $U_k^j$  of the gauge field living on a given link k then

$$[L_k^{\alpha}, (U_k^j)_{mn}] = (T_{\alpha}^j)_{mp} (U_k^j)_{pn}$$
(5.12)

therefore since  $W_k^j = \exp\left(\imath\theta_k \cdot \sum_{m>k} \phi_m^{\dagger} \mathbf{T}^j \phi_m\right)$ , we see that  $W_k^j$  has the same matrix structure as  $(U_k^j)_{mn}$  since the fermionic charge density  $Q_m^{\alpha,j} = \phi_m^{\dagger} T_{\alpha}^j \phi_m$  is just a complex number on the bosonic Hilbert space and  $W_k^j$  has not matrix structure. Therefore we obtain

$$[L_k^{\alpha}, W_k^j] = \left(\sum_{m>k} Q_m^{\alpha, j}\right) W_k^j \Rightarrow L_k^{\alpha} W_k^j - W_k^j L_k^{\alpha} = \left(\sum_{m>k} Q_m^{\alpha, j}\right) W_k^j$$
(5.13)  
$$\Rightarrow L_k^{\alpha} - W_k^j L_k^{\alpha} W_k^{j\dagger} = \sum_{m>k} Q_m^{\alpha, j} \Rightarrow \boxed{W_k^j L_k^{\alpha} W_k^{j\dagger} = L_k^{\alpha} - \sum_{m>k} Q_m^{\alpha, j}}$$

Thus, omitting the j index,  $L_n^{\alpha}$  transforms under  $\Theta$ 

$$\Theta L_n^{\alpha} \Theta^{\dagger} = W_1 \dots W_N L_n^{\alpha} W_N^{\dagger} \dots W_1^{\dagger} = W_1 \dots W_n L_n^{\alpha} W_n^{\dagger} \dots W_1^{\dagger}$$
(5.14)

$$= W_1 \dots W_{n-1} \left( L_n^{\alpha} - \sum_{m > n} Q_m^{\beta} \right) W_{n-1}^{\dagger} \dots W_1^{\dagger}$$
(5.15)

$$=L_{n}^{\alpha}-\sum_{m>n}W_{1}\dots W_{n-1}Q_{m}^{\alpha}W_{n-1}^{\dagger}\dots W_{1}^{\dagger}=L_{n}^{\alpha}-\sum_{m>n}\left(U_{n-1}^{\text{Adj.}}\dots U_{1}^{\text{Adj.}}\mathbf{Q}_{m}\right)^{\alpha},$$
(5.16)

#### 5. Non-Abelian groups in two spacetime dimensions

where we have applied the transformation law given by

$$W_k Q_m^{\alpha} W_k^{\dagger} = (U_k^{\text{Adj.}})_{\alpha,\beta} Q_m^{\beta}$$
(5.17)

if m > k and 0 otherwise, i.e.,  $\mathbf{Q}_m$  transforms as a 3-vector under color rotations.

Now we would like to know how Gauss' law transforms, since if we are able to erase the fermionic charge density then the solution to our problem becomes much easier. In order to do so we need first of all to know how  $R_n^{\alpha}$  and  $Q_n^{\alpha}$  change under  $\Theta$ . Let's recall the important relations

$$[Q_n^{\alpha}, Q_m^{\beta}] = \imath \delta_{n,m} f^{\alpha\beta\gamma} Q_n^{\gamma}, \qquad R_n^{\alpha} = (U_n^{\text{Adj.}})_{\alpha\beta} L_n^{\beta}.$$
(5.18)

#### Gauss' law

1. Transformation of charge density: Since we know how  $Q_m^{\alpha}$  transforms under  $W_k$  is easy to deduce how it does under  $\Theta$ 

$$\Theta Q_n^{\alpha} \Theta^{\dagger} = \left( U_{n-1}^{\text{Adj.}} \dots U_1^{\text{Adj.}} \mathbf{Q}_n \right)^{\alpha}$$
(5.19)

2. Transformation of right generator: On the other hand the transformation of the right generator takes the form

$$\Theta R_n^{\alpha} \Theta^{\dagger} = \Theta (U_n^{\text{Adj.}})^{\alpha\beta} L_n^{\beta} \Theta^{\dagger} = (U_n^{\text{Adj.}})^{\alpha\beta} \left( L_n^{\beta} - \left( U_{n-1}^{\text{Adj.}} \dots U_1^{\text{Adj.}} \sum_{m>n} \mathbf{Q}_m \right)^{\beta} \right)$$
(5.20)

$$= R_n^{\alpha} - \left( U_n^{\text{Adj.}} \left[ U_{n-1}^{\text{Adj.}} \dots U_1^{\text{Adj.}} \sum_{m > n} \mathbf{Q}_m \right] \right)^{\alpha}$$
(5.21)

*Remark.* Note that because of the way we have fixed the boundary conditions, the left and right electric fields  $L_0^{\alpha}$  and  $R_0^{\alpha}$  respectively, are invariant under  $\Theta$ 

$$\Theta R_0^{\alpha} \Theta^{\dagger} = R_0^{\alpha} \qquad \Theta L_0^{\alpha} \Theta^{\dagger} = L_0^{\alpha}, \tag{5.22}$$

since  $\Theta$  does not depend on the gauge field  $\theta_0$ . This will become an important fact when the total charge of the system is non-zero e.g., inserting one external charge.

From here we know all the ingredients which enter in Gauss' law, so applying the transformation  $\Theta$  to

$$L_n^{\alpha} - R_{n-1}^{\alpha} = Q_n^{\alpha} \qquad \forall \alpha, \, n \neq 1$$
(5.23)

we find that in the new picture (5.23) takes the form

$$L_{n}^{\alpha} - \sum_{m > n} \left( U_{n-1}^{\text{Adj.}} \dots U_{1}^{\text{Adj.}} \mathbf{Q}_{m} \right)^{\alpha} - R_{n-1}^{\alpha} + \left( U_{n-1}^{\text{Adj.}} \left[ U_{n-2}^{\text{Adj.}} \dots U_{1}^{\text{Adj.}} \sum_{m > n-1} \mathbf{Q}_{m} \right] \right)^{\alpha}$$
$$= \left( U_{n-1}^{\text{Adj.}} \dots U_{1}^{\text{Adj.}} \mathbf{Q}_{n} \right)^{\alpha}$$
(5.24)

and then

5.2. Erasing the gauge field

$$\boxed{L_n^{\alpha} = R_{n-1}^{\alpha}} \quad \forall \alpha, \, n \neq 1$$
(5.25)

We see that in the new rotated frame, after the transformation  $\Theta$  has been applied, left and right generators on a site n are the same due to the "disappearance" of the fermionic charge density in (5.23). As noted before, the link n = 1 is special in this sense since in this case Gauss' law transforms to

$$L_1^{\alpha} - \sum_{m>1} Q_m^{\alpha} - R_0^{\alpha} = Q_1^{\alpha} \Longrightarrow \qquad L_1^{\alpha} = R_0^{\alpha} + \sum_{m\geq 1} Q_m^{\alpha} \qquad (5.26)$$

i.e., the sum of the right electric field on the link n = 0 plus the **total charge of the** system that in general will be zero.

Therefore the only thing that is left is to relate the different reference frames on each link of the lattice. However using equations (5.18), (5.25) and (5.26) we find that

$$L_n^{\alpha} = \left[ U_{n-1}^{\text{Adj.}} \dots U_1^{\text{Adj.}} \left( \mathbf{R}_0 + \sum_{m \ge 1} \mathbf{Q}_m \right) \right]^{\alpha}, \tag{5.27}$$

where  $\mathbf{R}_0$  are the right generators of the electric field on the left extreme of the chain as in the Abelian case, due to the fact that we fixed open boundary conditions. Again these free parameters are background electric fields which also fulfill the commutation relations  $[R_0^{\alpha}, R_0^{\beta}] = i f^{\alpha\beta\gamma} R_0^{\gamma}$ . We see that the electric field in a given link *n* is a linear combination of the electric fields in the previous ones.

**Rotated Hamiltonian** Now we would like to know how the Hamiltonian in the  $\Theta$ -rotated picture looks like, so we just need to know how the electric part transforms. First, let's write (5.14) in a different way using (5.27)

$$\Theta \mathbf{L}_{n} \Theta^{\dagger} = U_{n-1}^{\text{Adj.}} \dots U_{1}^{\text{Adj.}} \left( \mathbf{R}_{0} + \sum_{m \ge 1} \mathbf{Q}_{m} - \sum_{m > n} \mathbf{Q}_{m} \right)$$
$$= U_{n-1}^{\text{Adj.}} \dots U_{1}^{\text{Adj.}} \left( \mathbf{R}_{0} + \sum_{m \le n} \mathbf{Q}_{m} \right) \equiv \mathcal{U}_{n} \mathbf{J}_{n}$$
(5.28)

where  $\mathcal{U}$  is an orthogonal matrix.

**Remark.** The transformation  $\mathcal{U}_n$  given by

$$\mathcal{U}_n = U_{n-1}^{\mathrm{Adj.}} \dots U_1^{\mathrm{Adj.}}$$
(5.29)

is an orthogonal one since  $U_m^{\text{Adj.}} \in \mathcal{O}(N^2 - 1)$  and the product of orthogonal transformations is closed in  $\mathcal{O}(N^2 - 1)$ . Moreover it's also a Hermitian gauge operator  $(U_m^{\text{Adj.}})_{ab} = ((U_m^{\text{Adj.}})_{ab})^{\dagger}$ . The reason why  $U_m^{\text{Adj.}} \in \mathcal{O}(N^2 - 1)$  comes from the fact that the adjoint representation is **real** as stated in subsection 3.2.1. This implies

$$\Theta \mathbf{L}_n^T \Theta^{\dagger} = \mathbf{J}_n^T \mathcal{U}_n^T, \qquad (5.30)$$

where we used that  $L_n^{\alpha,\dagger} = L_n^{\alpha}$  and  $Q_n^{\alpha,\dagger} = Q_n^{\alpha}$ .

#### 5. Non-Abelian groups in two spacetime dimensions

Therefore we have been able to solve Gauss' law and express the conjugate momenta variables  $L_n^{\alpha}$  in terms of the fermion color charges and the background field  $\mathbf{L}_0^{\alpha}$ . The fact that  $\{\mathbf{L}_n\}$  become no-dynamical is another indication that in (1+1) dimensions the gauge fields can be removed from the Hamiltonian [64]. Then we can deduce that the electric term (5.11) transforms as

$$\frac{2}{g^2}\Theta H_E\Theta^{\dagger} = \sum_n \Theta \mathbf{L}_n^T\Theta^{\dagger}\Theta \mathbf{L}_n\Theta^{\dagger} = \sum_n \mathbf{J}_n^{\dagger}\mathcal{U}^T\mathcal{U}\mathbf{J}_n = \sum_n \mathbf{J}_n^T\mathbf{J}_n = \sum_{n,\alpha} \left(R_0^{\alpha} + \sum_{m \le n} Q_m^{\alpha}\right)^2$$
(5.31)

These results combined give rise to the closed form for the Hamiltonian

$$H \mapsto \Theta H \Theta^{\dagger} = \varepsilon \sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n+1} + h.c. \right\} + m \sum_{n} (-1)^{n} \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n} + \frac{g^{2}}{2} \sum_{n,\alpha} \left( R_{0}^{\alpha} + \sum_{m \le n} Q_{m}^{\alpha} \right)^{2}$$

$$(5.32)$$

By applying the transformation (5.9), we have obtained a rotated Hamiltonian (equivalent to the initial one) with no non-Abelian gauge fields. In addition, as in the Abelian case, we have been able to include Gauss' law directly into the Hamiltonian, generating a long-range force where in fact, the form of the Hamiltonian is the same as in the Abelian case with the additional sum over group indices. The importance of this transformation is that it allows us to only deal with fermionic degrees of freedom without being necessary to truncate the infinite dimensional gauge Hilbert space. This would likely be more convenient for exact computations using Tensor Networks like the analysis of the finite-density phase diagram of (1+1)-dimensional non-Abelian theories done in [63].

In spite of the fact that this transformation was supposed to exist in the discretized formulation of non-Abelian gauge theories in two spacetime dimensions as it does in the continuum formulation, it was not proven till 2009 in [64]. The alternative proof presented here, being less general, presents a more constructive step by step proof and as we will see now, allows us to introduce the external charges into the Hamiltonian as well.

#### 5.2.2. Insertion of external charges

As in the Abelian case, we would like to analyze the phases of a non-Abelian theory via the potential energy  $V_Q(L)$ . Then we should be able to fix some external color charges. In principle it looks like the same procedure as we used in the Abelian case should work. Being true, one should pay attention to the underlying Hilbert spaces we are dealing with and remembering that the color charge generators should fulfill (5.18). We need to add an external charge density  $(Q^{ext})_n$  into Gauss' law that as we saw section 3.4, must be treated quantum mechanically.

$$L_{n}^{\alpha} - R_{n-1}^{\alpha} = Q_{n}^{\alpha} + Q_{ext,n}^{\alpha}.$$
 (5.33)

However,  $Q_{ext}^{\alpha}$  is not an operator acting on the fermionic Fock space  $\mathcal{F}_n$  on a site but on a different "external" Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{ext}$  where  $\{Q_{ext}^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$  fulfill the commutation relations

$$[Q_{ext}^{\alpha}, Q_{ext}^{\beta}] = i f^{\alpha\beta\gamma} Q_{ext}^{\gamma}.$$
 (5.34)

Moreover as we will see in the practical example for a SU(2) gauge theory, the  $dim(\mathcal{H}_{ext})$  is related to the dimension of the representation of the gauge group. From now on the fermionic Hilbert space is given by  $\mathcal{H}_F \otimes \mathcal{H}_{ext}$ .

In order to introduce the external color charges let's modify the transformation (5.9) in the following form

$$\tilde{\Theta} = \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} \exp\left(\imath \theta_k \cdot \sum_{m>k} \left(\mathbf{Q}_m + \mathbf{Q}_m^{ext}\right)\right) \equiv \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} W_k.$$
(5.35)

Let's check whether this is the correct transformation, i.e., we are able to erase the external charge density in (5.33). Following the same reasoning like the one to derive (5.13), we obtain

$$W_k L_k^{\alpha} W_k^{\dagger} = L_k^{\alpha} - \sum_{m > k} \{ Q_m^{\alpha} + Q_{ext,m}^{\alpha} \},$$
(5.36)

since  $Q_{ext}^{\alpha}$  acts as a c-number on both the fermionic and gauge Hilbert spaces. Using

$$W_k Q_{ext,m}^{\alpha} W_k^{\dagger} = (U_k^{\text{Adj.}})_{\alpha,\beta} Q_{ext,m}^{\beta} \Longrightarrow \tilde{\Theta} Q_{ext,m}^{\alpha} \tilde{\Theta}^{\dagger} = \left( U_{n-1}^{\text{Adj.}} \dots U_1^{\text{Adj.}} \mathbf{Q}_{ext,m} \right)^{\alpha},$$
(5.37)

we obtain the transformation law for  $L_n^{\alpha}$ 

$$\tilde{\Theta}L_n^{\alpha}\tilde{\Theta}^{\dagger} = L_n^{\alpha} - \sum_{m>n} \left( U_{n-1}^{\text{Adj.}} \dots U_1^{\text{Adj.}} \{ \mathbf{Q}_m + \mathbf{Q}_{ext,m} \} \right)^{\alpha}$$
(5.38)

Therefore Gauss' law (5.33) transforms to

$$L_n^{\alpha} = R_{n-1}^{\alpha} \qquad \forall n \neq 1, \tag{5.39}$$

as obtained before in the absence of external charges. Then the only relevant difference w.r.t the result obtained in the previous section is the insertion of the external charge density into the Hamiltonian through (5.38) giving as a result

$$\tilde{\Theta}H\tilde{\Theta}^{\dagger} = \varepsilon \sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_{n}^{\dagger}\phi_{n+1} + h.c. \right\} + m \sum_{n} (-1)^{n}\phi_{n}^{\dagger}\phi_{n} + \frac{g^{2}}{2} \sum_{n,\alpha} \left( R_{0}^{\alpha} + \sum_{m \leq n} \left\{ Q_{m}^{\alpha} + Q_{ext,m}^{\alpha} \right\} \right)^{2}$$

$$(5.40)$$

The non-Abelian rotated Hamiltonian with external charges (5.40), resembles the form obtained for the Abelian case (4.60) and therefore one would expect a good description via the Gaussian method. As we will see, things become difficult due to the group (gauge) index.

**Remark.** We should check that in fact transformation (5.35) erases the gauge fields in the hopping term of the Hamiltonian. In order to do so, let's consider

$$H_h = (\phi_n^{\dagger})_a (U_n)_{ab} (\phi_{n+1})_b = \phi_n^{\dagger} U_n \phi_{n+1}, \qquad (5.41)$$

where as always the matrix product is consider in the group indices.

Remember that  $U_n = U_n(\theta^{\alpha}, T^{\alpha,j})$  where  $T^{\alpha,j}$  are  $j \times j$  matrices in some *j*-dimensional representation and since  $\tilde{\Theta} = \tilde{\Theta}(\theta^{\alpha}, Q^{\alpha}, Q^{\alpha}_{ext})$  both operators commute

$$[\Theta, U_n]_{\otimes} = 0. \tag{5.42}$$

#### 5. Non-Abelian groups in two spacetime dimensions

Then

$$H_h \mapsto \tilde{\Theta} H_h \tilde{\Theta}^{\dagger} = \tilde{\Theta} \phi_n^{\dagger} \tilde{\Theta}^{\dagger} \cdot U_n \cdot \tilde{\Theta} \phi_{n+1} \tilde{\Theta}^{\dagger} = \Theta \phi_n^{\dagger} \Theta^{\dagger} \cdot U_n \cdot \Theta \phi_{n+1} \Theta^{\dagger}, \qquad (5.43)$$

where we used the fact that  $[(\phi_n)_a, Q_{ext}^{\alpha}] = 0$ . Since  $\Theta$  is given by (5.9), we recover the original transformation (5.9) that we applied to the Hamiltonian to get rid of the gauge fields.

#### 5.3. Gaussian approach

In this part we present the state dependent form for the transformed Hamiltonian (5.40) computed in section B.2. In this case the fermionic Fock space  $\mathcal{F}$  can be constructed with three different kind of modes: the Nambu index distinguishing creation operators from the annihilation ones expand the factor  $\mathcal{F}_N$ , the group index a which spans the space  $\mathcal{F}_G$  of different colored excitations, and the mode index which in this case makes reference to the spatial degrees of freedom spanning  $\mathcal{F}_S$ . Therefore

$$\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}_N \otimes \mathcal{F}_G \otimes \mathcal{F}_S \Rightarrow \Phi = \left( \begin{array}{c} \left( (\phi_n)_{a,n=1}^N \right)_a \\ \left( (\phi^\dagger)_{a,n=1}^N \right)_a \end{array} \right).$$
(5.44)

From (5.40) one easily sees that the hopping and mass term are exactly the same as we derived in the Abealian case and that we just need to apply Wick's theorem to the last term. In any chosen representation j we find that the stated dependent single-particle Hamiltonian matrix  $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma)$  for the non-Abelian case takes the form

$$\mathcal{H}(\Gamma) = \begin{pmatrix} Id_G \otimes (\varepsilon T + mD) & 0 \\ 0 & -Id_G \otimes (\varepsilon T + mD) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ g^2 \begin{pmatrix} -\mathcal{M} \otimes \tilde{P} + \frac{1}{2}H_{11} + \mathcal{M}^{ext} & H_2 \\ H_5 & \mathcal{M}^T \otimes \tilde{P}^T - \frac{1}{2}H_{11}^T - (\mathcal{M}^{ext})^T \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.45)

where T and D are symmetric matrices already defined in section 4.3.3 and the remaining blocked matrices are derived in section B.2.

#### 5.4. Application: (1+1)-dimensional SU(2)

In order to apply the Gaussian approximation to a specific model, we will analyze the non-Abelian SU(2) theory, that has been also discussed in the literature [7, 14]. In this section we want to test the Gaussian ansatz in describing the quantum phase transition of the ground state of the system between the two possible different phases that have been realized previously [14].

#### 5.4.1. Color configuration

Then main difference with respect to the Abelian case, is the new group index as it was introduced in the Hamiltonian formulation of LGT in chapter 3. As in the Abelian case, we want to study the confinement of color charges, i.e., eigenvalues  $q_{\hat{d}}$  of the conserved charge  $\hat{d} \cdot \mathbf{Q}_{ext}$  for some direction  $\hat{d} \in \mathbb{R}^3$ . The value of these charges  $q_{\hat{d}}$  depends on the chosen representation j. However we know that in particle physics, particles are described in the fundamental representation of the gauge group and this happens to be j = 1/2 in our case. Therefore the external Hilbert space is given by  $\mathcal{H}_{ext} \cong \mathbb{C}^2$ . As it's well known, the fundamental representation of  $\mathfrak{su}(2)$  is given by  $T_{1/2}^{\alpha} = 1/2\sigma^{\alpha}$  with  $\sigma^{\alpha}$  the Pauli matrices. Thus in the second quantized form of  $Q^{\alpha}$  we can distinguish two different kinds "colors" or group indices  $Q_{ext}^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{\alpha}$ . Given this representation the color charges can take two different values  $\pm 1/2$ . Moreover we choose to work in eigenstates of  $\sigma^z$ .

Since we would like to prove the screening or confinement of electric charges, we need to place two external static charges of opposite sign, quark-antiquark pair  $\bar{q}q$ , i.e.,  $\pm 1/2$ . Note the choice of the orientation of  $\hat{d}$  is not relevant and the only requirement is  $q\bar{q}$  configuration to form a color singlet. Since  $Q^z$  is chosen to be diagonal in this representation

$$Q^{z} = \frac{1}{2} (\phi^{r,\dagger} \phi^{r} - \phi^{g,\dagger} \phi^{g}), \qquad (5.46)$$

we use the number eigenbasis of red and green fermionic quanta given by

$$|r,g\rangle \quad r,g=0,1.$$
 (5.47)

As an example, the non-interacting vacuum for fermions ( $\varepsilon = 0$ ) is expressed by

$$|\Omega\rangle_f = |2\rangle_1 |0\rangle_2 \dots |2\rangle_{N-1} |0\rangle_N, \qquad (5.48)$$

where  $|2\rangle_n$  is the number state with two fermions in the odd-site n given by

$$|2\rangle_n = \phi_n^{r\dagger} \phi_n^{g\dagger} |0\rangle \tag{5.49}$$

and  $|0\rangle$  defined via  $\phi^r |0\rangle = \phi^g |0\rangle = 0$  such that

$$Q_m^{\alpha} \left| \Omega \right\rangle_f = 0 \qquad \forall \, \alpha \text{ and } \forall \, m, \tag{5.50}$$

i.e.,  $|\Omega\rangle_f$  is the Dirac sea with zero net charge that in the original frame, with  $|0\rangle_G$  the gauge vacuum for all links, fulfills Gauss' law.

#### 5.5. Ground state with static charges is not Gaussian

Similar to the massive Schwinger model, the phenomena associated to string breaking has also been realized in the SU(2) theory [14]. Therefore the description of such quantum phase transition establishes a good benchmark to test the Gaussian approximation.

However as we will see, the Gaussian approximation does not work correctly for this model neither in the confining nor in the string breaking phase. In this section we deduce the approximated form of the ground state of the system with two external static charges and show that such a state is not Gaussian. In order to do so we can work in the Original frame where Gauss' law is given by

$$L_n^{\alpha,1/2} - R_{n-1}^{\alpha,1/2} = Q_n^{\alpha,1/2} + Q_{ext,n}^{\alpha,1/2},$$
(5.51)

#### 5. Non-Abelian groups in two spacetime dimensions

where 1/2 reminds us the fact we are using the fundamental representation of SU(2)and therefore the 4-dimensional Hilbert space on the link is expanded as we saw in subsection 3.5.2 by the states  $|j, m_1, m_2\rangle$  on which the operators  $L^{\alpha}$  and  $R^{\alpha}$  act.

Let's consider a configuration with two external charges  $\pm 1/2$  at positions *i* and *k* in strong-coupling limit g >> 1. Due to Gauss' law a line of electric flux of magnitude 1/2(1/2 + 1) = 3/4 joining the charges appears being the *string* surrounded by the vacuum state for both gauge and fermionic fields. In this configuration the system would show a confining behavior as plotted in Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1.: Ground state configuration with two external charges joined by a flux tube (blue) of magnitude 3/4.

Since  $\mathcal{H}_{ext} \cong \mathbb{C}^2$  we will use the spin notation for the sites *i* and *k*. Moreover we denote the gauge-fermionic vacuum on the lattice via  $|\Omega\rangle = |\Omega\rangle_f \otimes |\Omega\rangle_G$  where  $|\Omega\rangle_f$  is the Dirac sea and  $|\Omega\rangle_G = \prod |0\rangle_G$  the vacuum state of the gauge field, i.e., with zero flux on every link. Therefore the considered state has the form

$$|\Psi\rangle = |\psi\rangle_{i,k} \otimes |\Omega\rangle \,. \tag{5.52}$$

We know that such a state should fulfill Gauss' law (5.51) in order to be considered physical. Let's rewrite (5.51) in the following way acting on  $|\Psi\rangle$ 

$$L_{n}^{\alpha,1/2} |\Psi\rangle = R_{n-1}^{\alpha,1/2} |\Psi\rangle + Q_{ext,n}^{\alpha,1/2} |\Psi\rangle \qquad \alpha = x, \, y, \, z.$$
(5.53)

The equation (5.53) imposes three conditions for three non-commuting observables and therefore its solution is far from trivial. However let's think about (5.53) in terms of addition of angular momenta  $\vec{S} = \vec{S}_1 + \vec{S}_2$  with  $\vec{S}_1 = \mathbf{R}$  and  $\vec{S}_2 = \mathbf{Q}_{ext}$  using Clebsch-Gordan coefficients. We know that on the left of the *i* site and on the right of *k*, the links are on the vacuum gauge state  $|0\rangle_G$  and therefore in the 0-representation of SU(2) as it was explained in chapter 3. Since the external charge on *i* is on j = 1/2representation, applying (5.53) to the site *i* we find that the representation on the intermediate links must be

$$0_{i-1,\text{link}} \otimes \frac{1}{2}i = \frac{1}{2}i, \text{link.}$$
 (5.54)

Now applying once more Gauss' law to the site k we find

$$\frac{1}{2}k - 1, \text{link} \otimes \frac{1}{2}k = \left(0 \oplus 1\right)_{k,\text{link}},\tag{5.55}$$

therefore in order to be consistent this multiplication should give j = 0 for the links to the right of k. But this implies that the product

$$\frac{1}{2}i \otimes \frac{1}{2}k = 0, \tag{5.56}$$

i.e., the static charges at i and k should form a spin singlet, i.e.,

$$|\psi\rangle_{ik} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Big( |\uparrow\downarrow\rangle_{i,k} - |\downarrow\uparrow\rangle_{i,k} \Big).$$
(5.57)

In spite of the fact we have worked with a configuration in the confining phase, this result is also true for the string breaking case. In this phase we should deal with a configuration like the one plotted in Figure 5.2.

$$\begin{array}{c|c} & |\Omega\rangle & i & |\Omega\rangle & j & |\Omega\rangle \\ \hline q_{i-1}^z = +1/2 & & q_{j+1}^z = -1/2 \end{array}$$

Figure 5.2.: Ground state configuration with two external charges joined by a flux tube (blue) of magnitude 3/4.

Now Gauss' law takes the form

$$L_n^{\alpha} = R_{n-1}^{\alpha} + Q_{ext,n}^{\alpha,1/2} + Q_n^{\alpha,1/2} \qquad \alpha = x, \, y, \, z, \tag{5.58}$$

and depending on the site we would have to consider either  $Q_n^{\alpha}$  or  $Q_{ext,n}^{\alpha}$  obtaining the result that the pair of particles at i - 1, i and k, k + 1 should form color singlets respectively. The only difference is that in this case, the color singlet is formed by a dynamical and a static fermion.

Once we have seen the relevant state configurations that must be considered in the Gaussian evolution in order to realize the quantum phase transition, the question is whether these states are Gaussian or could be approximated by a Gaussian. With out lost of generality let's consider the state in the confining phase and write the (fermionic) spin singlet in the second quantized form

$$\left|\psi\right\rangle_{ij} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(c_{i,\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{k,\downarrow}^{\dagger} - c_{i,\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{k,\uparrow}^{\dagger}\right) \left|0\right\rangle, \qquad (5.59)$$

where  $c_{\uparrow}$ ,  $c_{\downarrow}$  are fermionic operators. Then

$$|\Psi\rangle = |\psi\rangle_{ik} \otimes |\Omega\rangle \,. \tag{5.60}$$

As in the Abelian case, the vacuum state  $|\Omega\rangle$  is a Gaussian state however the singlet state is not. We could try to prove that a canonical transformation which transforms  $|\psi\rangle_{ik}$  into the standard BCS form given by the equation 2.26 does not exist. However it is easier to prove it in the following way. In Equation 2.19 we defined a state as Gaussian if it can be written in the form

$$|G.S\rangle = \exp\left[i\left(C^{\dagger}\xi_{f}C\right)\right]|0\rangle = |0\rangle + iC^{\dagger}\xi_{f}C|0\rangle - \frac{1}{2}\left(C^{\dagger}\xi_{f}C\right)^{2}|0\rangle + \dots, \quad (5.61)$$

where now  $C = (c_{i,\uparrow}, c_{i,\downarrow}, c_{k,\uparrow}, c_{k,\downarrow}, c_{i,\uparrow}^{\dagger}, c_{i,\downarrow}^{\dagger}, c_{k,\uparrow}^{\dagger}, c_{k,\downarrow}^{\dagger})^{T}$ .

Therefore in order to obtain the state (5.59) from an expansion like (5.61), the quadratic term  $c_{i,\uparrow}^{\dagger}c_{k,\downarrow}^{\dagger} - c_{i,\downarrow}^{\dagger}c_{k,\uparrow}^{\dagger}$  must appear in the exponent since we are considering even FGS. But if this is the case, expansion (5.61) should generate a vacuum state  $|0\rangle$ 

and a four particles state  $c_{i,\uparrow}^{\dagger}c_{k,\downarrow}^{\dagger}c_{k,\downarrow}^{\dagger}c_{k,\uparrow}^{\dagger}|0\rangle$ . Since this is not the case for the singlet state  $|\psi\rangle_{ik}$  given by (5.59), we can then conclude that  $|\Psi\rangle$  is not an even fermionic Gaussian state.

In spite of the fact the proof has been given in the original non-transformed frame, the result is also true in the rotated frame (where the gauge Hilbert space does not appear anymore) due to the fact both are connected via the Bogoliubov transformation  $\tilde{\Theta}$ , generated by a quadratic polynomial on the fermionic operators, and therefore  $|\psi\rangle_{ik}$  keeps its "non-Gaussianity" when the  $\tilde{\Theta}$  is applied to it<sup>2</sup>.

#### 5.6. Conclusion

The unitary transformation given by (5.35) allows us to get rid of the unitary matrices appearing in the hopping term and insert Gauss' law in the Hamiltonian, easing the description of these systems. However, not only the quantum phase transition but both confining and string breaking phases **cannot be described by the Gaussian ansatz**. Since Gauss' law is fulfilled at all times, one could try to give an approximation for an acceptable initial Gaussian seed with two external charges. However due to the problem described in section 5.5, the insertion of external charges in the Gaussian setting to realize the phenomenon of confinement, cannot be worked out<sup>3</sup>. Even if we wouldn't consider external charges, this approximation would not be suitable to describe real-dynamics form example, where one would expect to realize the string breaking mechanism at some point of the evolution. Some ideas on how to proceed will be presented in the Outlook 6.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Remember that the gauge fields  $\theta^{\alpha}$  act as identity operators on the fermionic sector.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Some trials have been tested with no good results.

### 6. Outlook

## 6.1. Abelian (2+1)-dimensions: exact and numerical approach

So far we only work with (1+1)-dimensional systems. However, the idea is to apply the Gaussian method to more "realistic" systems that imitate Quantum Field Theories in more than 2 dimensions. Unlike the (1+1) dimensional case, there does not exist a unitary transformation which erases the gauge field in higher dimensional systems. Therefore one needs to proceed in a completely different way as before, describing both the gauge and fermionic degrees of freedom.

In this section, we suppose for simplicity we are dealing with a purely Abelian U(1) gauge theory, where the fermionic degrees of freedom only appear as external charges and therefore the only dynamical degrees of freedom are the gauge ones. In this section we will follow the exposition given in [9]. The Hamiltonian is given by

$$H = \underbrace{\frac{g^2}{2} \sum_{x,k} E_{(x,k)}^2}_{H_E} - \underbrace{\frac{1}{2g^2} \sum_p U_1 U_2 U_3^{\dagger} U_4^{\dagger} + h.c.}_{H_B}}_{H_B}$$

$$= \frac{g^2}{2} \sum_{x,k} E_{(x,k)}^2 - \frac{1}{2g^2} \sum_x \cos(\theta_{x,1} + \theta_{x,2} - \theta_{x,3} - \theta_{x,4}),$$
(6.1)

where we have set a = 1 since we are not yet interested in the continuum limit.

Moreover Gauss' law takes the form

$$G_x \equiv \sum_k \{ E_{(x,k)} - E_{(x-\hat{k},k)} \} = Q_{ext,x},$$
(6.2)

since as explained before no fermionic terms are consider in this first attempt. In this

first part we consider the strong coupling limit  $(g \to \infty)$ , where only the electric term  $H_E$  contributes to the Hamiltonian. In this limit, we can avoid one of the enumerated problems in chapter 4 related to fixing the dimension of the truncated gauge theory. In order to apply the Gaussian method, we need to write  $H_E$  in its second quantized form. To do so we use the Schwinger bosons representation already introduced in (4.3.1), where we considered two kind of bosons on each link, namely a and b. In this representation the considered Hamiltonian takes the form

$$H_E = \frac{g^2}{2} \frac{1}{4} \sum_{x,k} \left( \hat{N}_a - \hat{N}_b \right)_{x,k}^2 = \frac{g^2}{2} \frac{1}{8^2} \sum_{x,k} \left( R^T \cdot D \cdot RR^T \cdot D \cdot R \right)_{x,k}, \tag{6.3}$$

#### 6. Outlook

with D = diag(1, -1, 1, -1) and where we have mapped  $\hat{a}$  and  $\hat{b}$  creation and annihilation operators to the quadratures  $R_{(x,k)} = (X_a, X_b, P_a, P_b)_{(x,k)}^T$  given by the map

$$\hat{a} = \frac{1}{2}(X_a + iP_a)$$
  $\hat{b} = \frac{1}{2}(X_b + iP_b),$  (6.4)

for each link (x, k). Note that (6.3) is a quartic Hamiltonian and therefore the Gaussian method is an approximation.

In order to get the Mean-Field form of (6.3) we use the alternative method of taking derivatives of the averaged energy with respect  $\Gamma$  and  $\langle R \rangle$  as introduced in subsection 2.6.1. Therefore we need to compute  $\langle H_E \rangle_{G.S}$  on the Gaussian state ansatz, i.e., applying Wick's theorem. The result of this energy is given by

$$\langle H_E \rangle_{G.S} = \frac{g^2}{2} \left(\frac{1}{8}\right)^2 \sum_{x,k} \left[ 8 + (\langle R \rangle^T \cdot D \cdot \langle R \rangle)^2 + 2 \langle R \rangle^T \cdot D \cdot \langle R \rangle Tr(\Gamma \cdot D) \right]$$

$$+ 4 \langle R \rangle^T \cdot D\Gamma D \cdot \langle R \rangle + \left(Tr(\Gamma D)\right)^2 + 2Tr(\Gamma D\Gamma D) \right]_{(x,k)},$$

$$(6.5)$$

where we have used the result that if  $A = A^T$  then  $Tr(\sigma_y A) = 0$ . Now using the fact that

$$\langle E \rangle_{(x,k)} = \frac{1}{8} \Big( \langle R \rangle^T \cdot D \cdot \langle R \rangle + Tr(\Gamma D) \Big)_{(x,k)},$$
 (6.6)

the average of the generator of the gauge transformations  $G_x$  takes the form

$$\langle G_x \rangle = \frac{1}{8} \sum_k \left[ \left( \langle R \rangle^T \cdot D \cdot \langle R \rangle + Tr(\Gamma D) \right)_{(x,k)} - \left( \langle R \rangle^T \cdot D \cdot \langle R \rangle + Tr(\Gamma D) \right)_{(x-\hat{k},k)} \right].$$
(6.7)

Now we should think the implementation of this system, where the dynamics are governed by (6.3) but the states must fulfill Gauss' law (6.2). Such implementation will follow the same line of reasoning as introduced in subsection 4.3.1. In principle, in the absence of external charges we should impose

$$G_x |G.S\rangle = 0 \qquad \forall x, \tag{6.8}$$

and since  $G_x^{\dagger} = G_x$ , consider to minimize the energy

$$\langle H \rangle = \langle H_E \rangle + \mu \sum_x \left\langle G_x^2 \right\rangle,$$
 (6.9)

since  $G_x^2 \ge 0$ . However imposing (6.8) on Gaussian states is too restrictive since the state must be an eigenstate of the generator of gauge transformations on every site and link with eigenvalue zero. In order to relax this constraint we use the fact that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(G_x^2 - \langle G_x \rangle\right)^2\right] \ge 0 \Longrightarrow \left\langle G_x^2 \right\rangle \ge \left\langle G_x \right\rangle^2 \ge 0, \tag{6.10}$$

i.e.,  $\langle G_x \rangle^2$  is a lower bound of  $\langle G_x^2 \rangle$ , and consider instead the weaker minimization problem

$$\min_{\text{Gauss.}} \langle H \rangle = \min_{\text{Gauss.}} \langle H_E \rangle + \mu \sum_x \langle G_x \rangle^2$$
(6.11)

with  $\mu >> 1$ . Nevertheless since  $\langle G_x \rangle^2$  is quadratic, the Hamiltonian whose average is (6.11) is given by

$$H' = \frac{1}{2} \Big( H_E \otimes \mathbb{1} + \mathbb{1} \otimes H_E \Big) + \mu \sum_x G_x \otimes G_x, \tag{6.12}$$

i.e., we need to consider two copies of the same bosonic Fock space  $\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{F}$ .

Applying the results obtained in chapter 2 about Gaussian states to two noninteracting copies approximated via a Gaussian state, we find the evolution equations

$$\frac{d}{d\tau}\Gamma = -\frac{1}{2}\Gamma\Omega\Gamma + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_y\Omega\sigma_y \quad \text{with} \quad \Omega = \Omega_H + 2\mu\sum_x \langle G_x \rangle \,\Omega_G(x) \tag{6.13}$$

$$\frac{d}{d\tau} \langle R \rangle = -\frac{1}{2} \Gamma \Big( \eta_H + 2\mu \sum_x \langle G_x \rangle \eta_G(x) \Big), \tag{6.14}$$

where  $\Omega_H$ ,  $\Omega_G(x)$ ,  $\eta_H$  and  $\eta_G(x)$  are given by

$$\eta_H = 2 \frac{\delta \langle H_E \rangle}{\delta \langle R \rangle}, \quad \Omega_H = 4 \frac{\delta \langle H_E \rangle}{\delta \Gamma} \quad \eta_G(x) = 2 \frac{\delta \langle G_x \rangle}{\delta \langle R \rangle}, \quad \Omega_G(x) = 4 \frac{\delta \langle G_x \rangle}{\delta \Gamma}. \tag{6.15}$$

The numerical implementation of this Hamiltonian has allowed us to check how well Gauss' law is fulfilled in the Gaussian approach. In order to do so,  $\mu$  usually should be, at least, one order of magnitude bigger than other parameters of the theory. In Figure 6.1 we have plotted the electric flux distribution when the system is closed to the ground state of the system for the given configuration of static charges under the imaginary time evolution. This is one of the difficult configurations since the ground state is degenerated, there are multiple open strings contributing to the confining of static charges. In this limit  $(g \to \infty)$  we have also observed a confining (linear increasing w.r.t. distance) potential.

**Magnetic term** More difficulties appear when one wants to consider the magnetic term  $H_B$ . In this case apart from the truncation problem we encountered in subsection 4.3.1 which means an additional term to the Hamiltonian fixing the dimension of the truncation l in average

$$\min_{\text{Gauss.}} \sum_{(x,k)} \left( \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle_{(x,k)} - 2l \right)^2, \tag{6.16}$$

we also have to deal with the fact that the Schwinger representation of  $H_B$  consists on a eighth-order polynomial in creation and annihilation operators. Using the map (4.33) and (4.38), we obtain

$$H_B = \frac{1}{g^2 [l(l+1)]^2} \sum_x \left\{ \left( a_1^{\dagger} b_1 a_2^{\dagger} b_2 b_3^{\dagger} a_3 b_4^{\dagger} a_4 \right)_x + h.c. \right\}.$$
(6.17)

At this point we need to find a method which allows us to compute the Mean Field Hamiltonian of this theory. The fastest way to compute  $\Omega_H$  and  $\eta_H$  is via the computation of  $\langle H_B \rangle$  applying Wick's theorem (which means 128 contractions via Wick's theorem) and subsequent computation of derivatives with respect to  $\Gamma$  and  $\langle R \rangle$ . This computation being simple is quite intractable analytically and therefore we have two possible ideas:



- Figure 6.1.: Electric flux distribution with a pair of static particle-antiparticle (red points) in the strong coupling limit with open boundary conditions. The direction of the arrows points the direction of the electric field and their width the amplitude.
  - 1. Numerical implementation of an algorithm which computes  $\langle H_B \rangle$  and after that takes (numerical) derivatives.
  - 2. Use the Weyl representation for Gaussian states introduced in the chapter 2 to compute

$$\left\langle a_1^{\dagger} b_1 a_2^{\dagger} b_2 b_3^{\dagger} a_3 b_4^{\dagger} a_4 \right\rangle_{G.S},$$
 (6.18)

via

$$\left\langle \exp\left(-\lambda_1 a_1^{\dagger} b_1 - \lambda_2 a_2^{\dagger} b_2 - \lambda_3 b_3^{\dagger} a_3 - \lambda_4 b_4^{\dagger} a_4 + h.c.\right) \right\rangle_{G.S}, \tag{6.19}$$

by taking derivatives w.r.t.  $\{\lambda_i\}$ . The integral one has to do is a Gaussian integral in phase space that can be computed with coherent state path integral formulation [24]<sup>1</sup> and computing Matsubara sums. Nevertheless, the difficulty again appears when taking derivatives w.r.t.  $\Gamma$  and  $\langle R \rangle$ . A different approach

which has been investigated is the use of a fermionic representation for the Schwinger algebra. However it has been noticed the fact that in this representation, the Gaussian method is not able to reproduce superposition of different open strings (it's the case for degenerated configurations) as the ones showed in Figure 6.1. The idea here it would be to introduce a non-Gaussian transformation via a Gutzwiller projector [65].

Once this problem is solved, the next ingredient we would like to add are dynamical fermions, where we would have to deal with the hopping term. In this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A similar integral it has been computed in [24].

case the hopping term is a interacting term of boson-boson, fermion-fermion and boson-fermion of order four. However we are considering pure Gaussian states ansatz that are product states in bosonic and fermionic degrees of freedom separately. Thus one would expect that the insertion of a non-Gaussian transformation is necessary.

#### 6.2. Non-Abelian in (1+1)-dimensions.

In chapter 4 we firstly decoupled the matter field from the gauge field. However we found that a Gaussian ansatz cannot describe non-Abelian LGT in two dimensions, at least for SU(2) gauge group. Therefore one option is to consider a larger parameter space via a non-Gaussian transformation as explained in 2.6.2. However one needs to figure out the appropriate the transformation  $U_{NG}$ .

Since we are interested in the study of confinement, one possible idea it's to look for a transformation which could decouple the external charges from the rest of the system considered as a bath<sup>2</sup>. In this way the external charge could be treated as a classical variable. While this transformation for two impurities has not been found yet, it has been found for one. Therefore this would allow to study the behavior of SU(2) and test whether there is also screening as it happens in the massless Schwinger model.

#### 6.3. Study of vacuum structure

As we have seen in section 4.4.2, the massive Schwinger model shows a non-trivial structure of the vacuum. The system is periodic in a field  $\theta$  that it's related to the chiral symmetry [54]. As we discussed in section 4.2.2, one can understand this periodicity from the bosonized version of the theory [54], but it has been also studied in the fermionic picture via the Pontryagin index [66] and the Density Matrix Renormalization Group method considering the lattice formulation we have used [59]. We would like to test whether we can describe or at least realize some of the features related to the  $\theta$ -vacuum. In principle since the background field  $L_0$  couples to a quadratic operator

$$\sum_{n} L_0^2 + g^2 L_0 \sum_{n} \sum_{k \le n} \left\{ Q_k + Q_k^{ext} \right\}, \tag{6.20}$$

the Gaussian method should be able to realize some related phenomena. However, while the transformation connecting different  $\theta$ -vacuum in the bosonic picture is a Gaussian (displacement) transformation, this does not appear to be the case in the fermionic picture. However it could happens that the Gaussian approach can shed some light on the study of the  $\theta$ -vacuum structure since an interesting periodic pattern has been observed when considering the potential  $V_Q$  between two fixed static charges as a function of  $L_0$ . Nevertheless this has not been properly worked out during the writing of this thesis and it's left opened.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This idea was given by my supervisor Dr. Tao Shi.

## Appendices

### A. Systematic derivation of $H_Q(\Gamma)$

In this appendix we explain how to obtain the mean field state dependent Hamiltonian  $H_Q(\Gamma)$  in a systematic way. We want to obtain a quadratic Hamiltonian such that if  $|G.S\rangle = \mathcal{U} |0\rangle$  is the minimizer of H then

$$\langle H \rangle_{G.S} = \langle H_Q(\Gamma) \rangle_{G.S}.$$
 (A.1)

In order to do so we would like to expand H to second order polynomials in powers of  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi^{\dagger}$  like in (2.57) by means of Wick's theorem product expansion that we prove in the following using Ref. [31].

As we saw in Lemma 2.4.1, the FGS minimizer of  $\langle H \rangle_{G.S}$  is the real ground state of  $H_Q(\Gamma)$  that is a quadratic Hamiltonian.  $H_Q(\Gamma)$  can be diagonalized (like in subsection 2.3.2) and expressed in terms of quasi-particles excitations  $\gamma_k$  and  $\gamma_k^{\dagger}$  whose vacuum is given by  $\mathcal{U}|0\rangle$ . Operators  $\phi_j$  and  $\phi_j^{\dagger}$ , which will be denoted indistinctly by  $A_i$ , are then linear combinations of  $\gamma_k$  and  $\gamma_k^{\dagger}$  and therefore can be splitted as

$$A_i = A_i^+ + A_i^- \tag{A.2}$$

such that

$$A_i^- |G.S\rangle = 0 \quad \langle G.S | A_i^+ = 0 \quad \text{and} \ [A_i^-, A_j^+]_{\mp} \in \mathbb{C}, \tag{A.3}$$

with  $[A, B]_{\mp} = AB \mp BA$  the commutation relations for bosons and fermions respectively, since the method can be applied to both.

A product of operators  $A_i^{\pm}$  is **normally ordered** if all factors  $A_i^{-}$  are at the right of the factors  $A_j^{+}$ . In particular a product of operators of the same type, like for example  $A_1^{+} \cdots A_k^{+}$  is normally ordered. This operation will be denoted via :  $\cdot$  :.

As an example consider a product that contains k factors  $A_i^+$  mixed with n - k factors  $A_i^-$ . The normal order of those is given by

$$: A_1^{\pm} \dots A_n^{\pm} := (\pm 1)^{\pi} A_{i_1}^{+} \cdots A_{i_k}^{+} \cdots A_{i_n}^{-}$$
(A.4)

where for bosons  $(+1)^{\pi} = 1$ , while for fermions  $(-)^{\pi}$  is the parity of the permutation that brings the sequence  $1 \dots n$  to  $i_1 \dots i_n$ . Note that the *G.S*-average of normally ordered operators vanishes

$$\langle : A_1 \cdots A_n : \rangle_{G.S} = 0. \tag{A.5}$$

The important result here is that a product  $A_1 \ldots A_n$  can be written as a sum of normally ordered product. For two operators that it's the case

$$A_1 A_2 =: A_1 A_2 :+ [A_1^-, A_2^+]_{\mp}$$
(A.6)

where as we already noted  $[A_1^-, A_2^+]_{\mp} \in \mathbb{C}$ . On the other hand one usually defines the **contraction** of two operators by

$$A_1 A_2 \equiv A_1 A_2 - : A_1 A_2 :$$
 (A.7)

#### A. Systematic derivation of $H_Q(\Gamma)$

that from (A.6) is found to be the complex number

$$\overrightarrow{A_1 A_2} = [A_1^-, A_2^+]_{\mp}.$$
(A.8)

Because of this important relation and the fact that G.S-expectation value of a normal ordered operator is zero, it follows that

$$\overline{A_1}A_2 = \left\langle \overline{A_1}A_2 \right\rangle_{G.S} = \left\langle A_1A_2 \right\rangle_{G.S}.$$
(A.9)

When there is a product of n operators in between, the contraction is defined by

$$\overrightarrow{A(A_1 \cdots A_n)A'} = (\pm)^{\pi} \overrightarrow{AA'} (A_1 \cdots A_n).$$
(A.10)

Theorem A.0.1 (Wick's product identity).

$$A_1 A_2 \cdots A_n =: A_1 \cdots A_n : + \sum_{(ij)} : A_1 \cdots A_i \cdots A_j \cdots A_n :$$
$$+ \sum_{(ij)(rs)} : A_1 \cdots A_i \cdots A_r \cdots A_j \cdots A_s \cdots A_n : + \cdots$$
(A.11)

The first sum runs on single contraction of pairs, the second sum runs on double contractions and so on. If n is even, the last sum contains terms which are products of contractions. This will be the case for fermionic Hamiltonians. If n is odd, the last sum has terms with single unpaired operators.

*Proof.* A proof of this theorem is given by induction over n and can be found in [31].

One of the consequences of Wick's product identity is Wick's theorem as we saw it in chapter 2 Theorem 2.3.1 in the case of pure FGS

#### Corollary.

$$\langle A_1 \cdots A_{2l} \rangle_{G.S} = \sum_{\pi} '(\pm)^{\pi} \langle A_{\pi(1)} A_{\pi(2)} \rangle_{G.S} \cdots \langle A_{\pi(2l-1)} A_{\pi(2l)} \rangle_{G.S},$$
 (A.12)

with  $\sum_{\pi}'$  as defined in (2.38). Moreover since G.S-average of normally ordered expansion vanishes

$$\langle A_1 \cdots A_{2l+1} \rangle_{G,S} = 0.$$
 (A.13)

Therefore this expansion allows us to use a systematic rule to expand H to any order in creation and annihilation operators (or quadratures in the bosonic case). Applying the expansion (A.11) to the corresponding Hamiltonian and truncating in second order normal ordered operators we find

$$H = \underbrace{\langle H \rangle_{G.S} + \frac{1}{2} : \Phi^{\dagger} \mathcal{H}(\Gamma) \Phi : + \mathcal{O}(\phi^4),}_{=H_Q(\Gamma)}$$
(A.14)

where both sides of the equation have the same G.S-average and  $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma)$  is given by contractions of operators, i.e., elements of the covariance matrix.

Now taking into account that  $A_iA_j = \langle A_iA_j \rangle_{G.S} + : A_iA_j$ : we find the quadratic state dependent Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H}_Q(\Gamma) = \frac{1}{2} \Phi^{\dagger} \mathcal{H}(\Gamma) \Phi.$$
 (A.15)

This method can be applied to any Hamiltonian polynomial in creation and annihilation for bosonic and fermionic systems or a combination of boths. Bosonic systems could include a linear term in the quadratures. In the most general case the quadratic Hamiltonian would take the form

$$H_Q(\Gamma) = \langle H \rangle_G + \frac{1}{2} : \Phi^{\dagger} \mathcal{H}(\Gamma) \Phi : + \frac{1}{2} \eta_H^T \delta R + \frac{1}{4} : \delta R^T(\Gamma_b, \langle R \rangle) \delta R :, \qquad (A.16)$$

with  $\delta R = R - \langle R \rangle_{G,S}$  as defined in subsection 2.6.1.

In fact, this is the method that has been applied in this thesis in order to obtain  $H_Q(\Gamma)$  following the ideas from [24].

## B. Computations: mean-field Hamiltonians

In this appendix one can find the computation of the mean field Hamiltonians for the Schwinger model in chapter 4 and SU(2) non-Abelian case in (1+1)-dimensions in chapter 5.

#### B.1. Schwinger model

Since  $H_M$  and  $H_{int}$  in (4.70) are already quadratic in creation and annihilation operators<sup>1</sup> then they are already in mean field form. We just need to apply the normal order :: w.r.t the fermionic Gaussian state ansatz.

1.

$$\begin{split} H_{int} &= \langle H_{int} \rangle + \varepsilon : \sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n+1} + \phi_{n+1}^{\dagger} \phi_{n} \right\} := \langle H_{int} \rangle + \varepsilon : \sum_{n} \left( \begin{array}{c} \phi_{n}^{\dagger} & \phi_{n+1}^{\dagger} \end{array} \right) \sigma_{x} \left( \begin{array}{c} \phi_{n} \\ \phi_{n+1} \end{array} \right) : \\ &= \langle H_{int} \rangle + \varepsilon : \phi^{\dagger} T \phi := \langle H_{int} \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon : \Phi^{\dagger} \left( \begin{array}{c} T & 0 \\ 0 & -T \end{array} \right) \Phi :, \end{split}$$

with T the tridiagonal matrix with 1's on the  $\pm 1$  diagonals and 0 on the main one.

2.

$$H_M = \langle H_M \rangle + m : \sum_n (-1)^n \phi_n^{\dagger} \phi_n := \langle H_M \rangle + m : \phi^{\dagger} D \phi := \langle H_M \rangle + \frac{1}{2} m : \Phi^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} D & 0 \\ 0 & -D^T \end{pmatrix} \Phi :,$$
  
with  $D = diag((-1)^n).$ 

3.  $H_E$  is the most interesting term since is the only non-quadratic and long-range term. Here we will apply Wick's theorem for the fermionic case w.r.t. the Gaussian state.

$$\frac{2}{ag^2}H_E = \sum_n \left(L_0 - \sum_{k \le n} \pi_k + \sum_{k \le n} \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_k\right)^2 = \sum_n \left\{\underbrace{L_0^2 - 2L_0 \sum_{k \le n} \pi_k + \left(\sum_{k \le n} \pi_k\right)^2}_{constant}\right\} + \sum_n \left\{2(L_0 - \sum_{k \le n} \pi_k) \sum_{k \le n} \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_k + \left(\sum_{k \le n} \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_k\right)^2\right\}$$

Therefore from  $H_E$  we have obtained one quadratic term that for most of the cases will be irrelevant, since we work with zero background field  $L_0 = 0$ ; and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>It's on this point where the Unitary transformation  $\tilde{U}$  took its most important role.

#### B. Computations: mean-field Hamiltonians

a quartic term where fermionic charge densities on spatially separated nodes of the lattice interact. Let's therefore obtain the Mean Field Hamiltonian for the electric term:

$$\begin{split} &: \sum_{k \leq n} \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_k :=: \phi^{\dagger} i d_n \phi := \frac{1}{2} : \Phi^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} i d_n & 0 \\ 0 & -i d_n \end{pmatrix} \Phi :, \\ \text{where } i d_n = diag(\underbrace{1, \dots, 1}_{n1's}, 0, \dots, 0). \\ &(\sum_{k \leq n} \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_k)^2 = \sum_{k,p}^n \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_k \phi_p^{\dagger} \phi_p = \langle (\sum_{k \leq n} \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_k)^2 \rangle + \sum_{k,p}^n \left\{ : \phi_k^{\dagger} \left\langle \phi_p^{\dagger} \phi_p \right\rangle \phi_k : -: \phi_k^{\dagger} \left\langle \phi_k \phi_p \right\rangle \phi_p^{\dagger} : \right\} + \\ &\sum_{k,p}^n \left\{ : \phi_k^{\dagger} \left\langle \phi_k \phi_p^{\dagger} \right\rangle \phi_p : +: \phi_k \left\langle \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_p \right\rangle \phi_p^{\dagger} : -: \phi_k \left\langle \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_p^{\dagger} \right\rangle \phi_p : +: \phi_p^{\dagger} \left\langle \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_k \right\rangle \phi_p : \right\} \\ &= \langle (\sum_{k \leq n} \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_k)^2 \rangle + Tr^n(\left\langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi \right\rangle) : \phi^{\dagger} i d_n \phi : -: \phi^{\dagger} \left\langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \right\rangle^n \phi : \\ &-: \phi^{\dagger} (\left\langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi \right\rangle^n)^T \phi : -\phi \left\langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi^{\dagger} \right\rangle \phi : + Tr^n(\left\langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi \right\rangle) : \phi^{\dagger} i d_n \phi : \\ &= \langle (\sum_{k \leq n} \phi_k^{\dagger} \phi_k)^2 \rangle +: (\phi^{\dagger} \phi) \left( \begin{array}{c} 2Tr^n(\left\langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \right\rangle) : + \left\langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \phi \right\rangle^T - \left\langle \phi \phi \phi \right\rangle \\ &- \left\langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi^{\dagger} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{2} : \Phi_n^{\dagger} 2 \left( \begin{array}{c} Tr^n(\left\langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \right\rangle) - \frac{1}{2} + \left\langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \right\rangle \\ &- Tr^n(\left\langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \right\rangle) : + \frac{1}{2} - \left\langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \right\rangle^T \right) \Phi_n :, \end{aligned}$$

where  $Tr^n$  means the trace over the  $n \times n$  first entries of the respective matrix and  $\Phi_n$  makes reference to the first (n, n)-components of  $\Phi$ .

Therefore the state dependent quadratic Hamiltonian reads

$$H_Q(\Gamma) = \langle H \rangle + \frac{1}{2} : \Phi^{\dagger} \big[ \sigma_z \otimes (mD + \varepsilon T) + \frac{ag^2}{2} \sum_n \Big\{ 2(L_0 - \sum_k^n \pi_k) \sigma_z \otimes id_n + H_4(n) \Big\} \big] \Phi :$$
(B.1)

#### Computation of the energy

As we saw in chapter 2, the average energy plays an important role in the Gaussian approach since it should decrease during the imaginary time evolution allowing us to know the rate at which the system tends to the ground state. Therefore its analytical computation it's an important calculation in this method.

$$\langle H \rangle = \langle H_M \rangle + \langle H_{int} \rangle + \langle H_E \rangle$$
 (B.2)
B.2. SU(2) theory

$$\langle H_{int} \rangle = \varepsilon (Tr^{+1}(\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi \right\rangle) + h.c.)$$
 (B.3)

where  $Tr^{+1}$  is defined as the sum of the upper-first diagonal's elements.

$$\langle H_M \rangle = m Tr(D\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi \right\rangle),$$

$$\frac{2}{ag^2} \langle H_E \rangle = \sum_n \left( L_0^2 - 2L_0 \sum_k^n \pi_k + \left(\sum_k^n \pi_k\right)^2 \right)$$

$$+ 2\sum_n \left\{ (L_0 - \sum_k^n \pi_k) Tr^n (\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi \right\rangle) \right\} + \sum_n \left\langle \left(\sum_k^n \phi_k^{\dagger}\phi_k\right)^2 \right\rangle,$$

but

$$\sum_{n} \langle \left(\sum_{k}^{n} \phi_{k}^{\dagger} \phi_{k}\right)^{2} \rangle = \sum_{n} \sum_{k,p}^{n} \left\langle \phi_{k}^{\dagger} \phi_{k} \phi_{p}^{\dagger} \phi_{p} \right\rangle = \sum_{n} \sum_{k,p}^{n} \left\{ \left\langle \phi_{k}^{\dagger} \phi_{k} \right\rangle \left\langle \phi_{p}^{\dagger} \phi_{p} \right\rangle - \left\langle \phi_{k}^{\dagger} \phi_{p}^{\dagger} \right\rangle \left\langle \phi_{k} \phi_{p} \right\rangle \right. \\ \left. + \left\langle \phi_{k}^{\dagger} \phi_{p} \right\rangle \left\langle \phi_{k} \phi_{p}^{\dagger} \right\rangle \right\} = \sum_{n} \left\{ Tr^{n} \left( \left\langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi \right\rangle \right)^{2} + Tr^{n} \left( \left\langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi^{\dagger} \right\rangle \underbrace{\left\langle \phi \phi \right\rangle}_{-\left\langle \phi \phi \right\rangle^{T}} \right) \right. \\ \left. + Tr^{n} \left( \left\langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi \right\rangle \left\langle \phi \phi^{\dagger} \right\rangle^{T} \right) \right\},$$

Therefore

$$\langle H \rangle = mTr(D\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi\right\rangle) + \varepsilon(Tr^{+1}(\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi\right\rangle) + h.c) + \frac{ag^{2}}{2}\sum_{n}\left(L_{0}^{2} - 2L_{0}\sum_{k}^{n}\pi_{k}\right)$$
(B.4)  
 
$$+ \left(\sum_{k}^{n}\pi_{k}\right)^{2} + ag^{2}\sum_{n}\left\{(L_{0} - \sum_{k}^{n}\pi_{k})Tr^{n}(\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi\right\rangle)\right\}$$
$$+ \frac{ag^{2}}{2}\sum_{n}\left\{Tr^{n}(\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi\right\rangle)^{2} + Tr^{n}(\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi^{\dagger}\right\rangle\underbrace{\left\langle \phi\phi\right\rangle}_{-\left\langle \phi\phi\phi\right\rangle}^{T}) + Tr^{n}(\left\langle \phi^{\dagger}\phi\right\rangle\left\langle \phi\phi^{\dagger}\right\rangle^{T})\right\}.$$

#### **B.2.** SU(2) theory

In this part we present the state dependent form for the transformed Hamiltonian (5.40) computed in section B.2. In this case the fermionic Fock space  $\mathcal{F}$  can be constructed with three different kind of modes: the Nambu index distinguishing creation operators from the annihilation ones expand the factor  $\mathcal{F}_N$ , the group index a which spans the space  $\mathcal{F}_G$  of different colored excitations, and the mode index which in this case makes reference to the spatial degrees of freedom spanning  $\mathcal{F}_S$ . Therefore

$$\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}_N \otimes \mathcal{F}_G \otimes \mathcal{F}_S \Rightarrow \Phi = (\phi_{a,n}, \phi_{a,n}^{\dagger})^T.$$

From this perspective and considering the Hamiltonian

$$H = \varepsilon \sum_{n} \left\{ \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n+1} + h.c. \right\} + m \sum_{n} (-1)^{n} \phi_{n}^{\dagger} \phi_{n} + \frac{g^{2}}{2} \sum_{n,\alpha} \left( L_{0}^{\alpha} - \sum_{m>n} \left\{ Q_{m}^{\alpha} + Q_{\text{ext},m}^{\alpha} \right\} \right)^{2}$$
(B.5)

#### B. Computations: mean-field Hamiltonians

one can easily sees that the hopping and the mass term are exactly the same as we derived for the U(1) case (4.3.3), where they are already quadratic operators, apart from the fact that we have now an additional group index. Therefore

$$H_{int} = \varepsilon \sum_{a,n} \left\{ (\phi_n^{\dagger})_a (\phi_{n+1})_a + h.c. \right\} = \langle H_{int} \rangle + \varepsilon : \phi^{\dagger} [Id_G \otimes T] \phi :$$

$$= \langle H_{int} \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon : \Phi^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} Id_G \otimes T & 0\\ 0 & -Id_G \otimes T^T \end{pmatrix} \Phi :$$
(B.6)

with again T the tridiagonal matrix with 1's on the  $\pm 1$  diagonals and 0 on the main one, i.e.,  $T^T = T$ , and the mass term

$$H_M = \langle H_M \rangle + m : \sum_n (-1)^n \phi_n^{\dagger} \phi_n := \langle H_M \rangle + m : \phi^{\dagger} [Id_G \otimes D] \phi :$$
(B.7)  
$$= \langle H_M \rangle + \frac{1}{2}m : \Phi^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} Id_G \otimes D & 0 \\ 0 & -Id_G \otimes D \end{pmatrix} \Phi :,$$

with  $D = diag((-1)^n)$ . On the other hand, the electric term is not quadratic and therefore we will need to apply Wick's theorem. Expanding the square we get

$$\frac{2}{g^2}H_E = \sum_{n,\alpha} \left(L_0^{\alpha} - \sum_{m>n} \{Q_m^{\alpha} + Q_{\text{ext},m}^{\alpha}\}\right)^2$$
(B.8)  
$$= \sum_{n,\alpha} (L_0^{\alpha})^2 + \sum_{n,\alpha;m,p>n} Q_{\text{ext},m}^{\alpha} Q_{\text{ext},p}^{\alpha} - 2\sum_{n,\alpha} L_0^{\alpha} \sum_{m>n} Q_{\text{ext},m}^{\alpha} - 2\sum_{n,\alpha} L_0^{\alpha} \sum_{m>n} Q_m^{\alpha}$$
$$+ 2\sum_{n,\alpha;m,p>n} Q_{\text{ext},p}^{\alpha} Q_m^{\alpha} + \sum_{n,\alpha;m,p>n} Q_m^{\alpha} Q_p^{\alpha}$$

where the first three terms are constant, the fourth and fifth ones quadratic and the only non-quadratic term is the interaction between charges on different sites. Let's analyze term by term:

$$H_{E1} = -2\sum_{n,\alpha} L_0^{\alpha} \sum_{m>n} Q_m^{\alpha} = -2\sum_{n;m>n} \underbrace{\sum_{\alpha} L_0^{\alpha}(T^{\alpha})_{a,b}}_{=\mathcal{M}_{a,b}} \phi_m^{a\dagger} \phi_m^b = -2\sum_{n;m>n} \mathcal{M}_{a,b} \phi_m^{a\dagger} \phi_m^b.$$
(B.9)

In this point we realize the sum is over m > n so we need to take into account this fact. Let me define the matrix

$$P_{m,n} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & \dots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{pmatrix},$$
(B.10)

then  $H_{E1}$  can be written as,

B.2. SU(2) theory

$$H_{E1} = -2\sum_{m,n} \mathcal{M}_{a,b} \phi_m^{a\dagger} \phi_m^b P_{m,n} = -2\sum_m \mathcal{M}_{a,b} \phi_m^{a\dagger} \phi_m^b \sum_{\substack{n \\ \tilde{P}_{m,m}}} P_{m,n}$$
(B.11)  
$$= \langle H_{E1} \rangle - 2: \phi^{\dagger} [\mathcal{M} \otimes \tilde{P}] \phi := \langle H_{E1} \rangle + \frac{1}{2}: \Phi^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} -2\mathcal{M} \otimes \tilde{P} & 0\\ 0 & 2\mathcal{M}^T \otimes \tilde{P}^T \end{pmatrix} \Phi:,$$

where  $\tilde{P}$  is a diagonal matrix in the spatial index which allows us to extend the sum over m without the *n*-dependent boundary. This could also been applied in the U(1) case and in fact it was done so in the numerical implementation.

$$H_{E1'} = 2 \sum_{n,\alpha;m,p>n} Q^{\alpha}_{\text{ext},p} Q^{\alpha}_{m} = 2 \sum_{n,\alpha,m,p} (T^{\alpha})_{ab} \phi^{a\dagger}_{m} \phi^{b}_{m} P_{m,n} Q^{\alpha}_{\text{ext},m} P_{p,n}$$
(B.12)  
$$= 2 \sum_{\alpha,m,p} (T^{\alpha})_{ab} \phi^{a\dagger}_{m} \phi^{b}_{m} Q^{\alpha}_{\text{ext},p} \underbrace{A_{m,p}}_{\sum_{n} P_{m,n} P^{T}_{n,p}} = \sum_{m} \phi^{a\dagger}_{m} \underbrace{\left[ 2 \sum_{\alpha} (T^{\alpha})_{ab} \sum_{p} A_{m,p} Q^{\alpha}_{\text{ext},p} \right]}_{p} \phi^{b}_{m}$$

$$=2(\mathcal{M}^{ext})_{a,b}^m$$

$$= \langle H_{E1'} \rangle + : \phi^{\dagger} H_{ext} \phi :$$

$$H_{E2} = \sum_{n,\alpha;m,p>n} Q_m^{\alpha} Q_p^{\alpha} = \sum_{n,\alpha;m,p>n} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} \phi_m^{a\dagger} \phi_m^b \phi_p^{i\dagger} \phi_p^j.$$
(B.13)

In this case and since we will usually work in the fundamental representation of SU(N), we could use the normalization condition

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{N^2-1} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} = \frac{1}{2} \Big( \delta_{a,j} \delta_{i,b} - \frac{1}{N} \delta_{a,b} \delta_{i,j} \Big), \tag{B.14}$$

or simply expand  $H_{E2}$  following the same prescription as before

$$H_{E2} = \sum_{n,\alpha,m,k} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} \phi^{a\dagger}_{m} \phi^{b}_{m} \phi^{i\dagger}_{k} \phi^{j}_{k} P_{m,n} P_{k,n} = \sum_{\alpha,m,k} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} \phi^{a\dagger}_{m} \phi^{b}_{m} \phi^{i\dagger}_{k} \phi^{j}_{k}$$

$$\underbrace{\sum_{n} P_{m,n} (P^{T})_{n,k}}_{A_{m,k}} = \sum_{\alpha,m,k} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} A_{m,k} \phi^{a\dagger}_{m} \phi^{b}_{m} \phi^{i\dagger}_{k} \phi^{j}_{k}$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha,m,k} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} A_{m,k} \Big( - \phi^{a\dagger}_{m} \phi^{i\dagger}_{k} \phi^{b}_{m} \phi^{j}_{k} + \delta^{b,i} \delta_{m,k} \phi^{a\dagger}_{m} \phi^{j}_{k} \Big).$$

Now to this term we apply Wick's theorem, where we will have six terms, five of them different to each other

$$H_{E2}^{MF} = \langle H_{E2} \rangle + \sum_{\alpha,m,k} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} A_{m,k} \left( 2 : \phi_m^{a\dagger} \left\langle \phi_k^{i\dagger} \phi_k^j \right\rangle \phi_m^b : - : \phi_m^{a\dagger} \left\langle \phi_m^b \phi_k^j \right\rangle \phi_k^{i\dagger} - : \phi_m^{a\dagger} \left\langle \phi_k^{i\dagger} \phi_m^b \right\rangle \phi_k^j : - : \phi_k^{i\dagger} \left\langle \phi_m^{a\dagger} \phi_k^j \right\rangle \phi_m^b : - : \phi_m^b \left\langle \phi_m^{a\dagger} \phi_k^{i\dagger} \right\rangle \phi_k^j : + \delta^{b,i} \delta_{m,k} : \phi_m^{a\dagger} \phi_k^j : \right).$$

#### B. Computations: mean-field Hamiltonians

1.

$$2\sum_{\alpha,m,k} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} A_{m,k} : \phi_m^{a\dagger} \left\langle \phi_k^{i\dagger} \phi_k^j \right\rangle \phi_m^b := 2\sum_{\alpha,m} : \phi_m^{a\dagger} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} \Big[ (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} \sum_k A_{m,k} \left\langle \phi_k^{i\dagger} \phi_k^j \right\rangle \Big] \phi_m^b :$$
  
=:  $\phi^{\dagger} H_1 \phi$ :  
2.

$$-\sum_{\alpha,m,k} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} A_{m,k} : \phi_m^{a\dagger} \left\langle \phi_m^b \phi_k^j \right\rangle \phi_k^{i\dagger} := -\sum_{\alpha,m,k} : \phi_m^{a\dagger} \Big[ (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} A_{m,k} \left\langle \phi_m^b \phi_k^j \right\rangle (T^{\alpha,t})_{j,i} \Big] \phi_k^{i\dagger} :$$

$$= : \phi^{\dagger} H_2 \phi^{\dagger} :$$

3.

$$-\sum_{\alpha,m,k} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} A_{m,k} : \phi_m^{a\dagger} \left\langle \phi_k^{i\dagger} \phi_m^b \right\rangle \phi_k^j := -\sum_{\alpha,m,k} : \phi_m^{a\dagger} \Big[ (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} A_{m,k} \Big( \left\langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi \right\rangle^T \Big)_{m,k}^{b,i} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} \Big] \phi_k^j :$$
$$= : \phi^{\dagger} H_3 \phi :$$

4.

$$-\sum_{\alpha,m,k} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} A_{m,k} : \phi_k^{i\dagger} \left\langle \phi_m^{a\dagger} \phi_k^j \right\rangle \phi_m^b := -\sum_{\alpha,m,k} : \phi_k^{i\dagger} \Big[ (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} (A^T)_{k,m} \Big( \left\langle \phi^{\dagger} \phi \right\rangle^T \Big)_{k,m}^{j,a} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} \Big] \phi_m^b :$$
$$= : \phi^{\dagger} H_4 \phi :$$

Since A is symmetric we find that  $H_3 = H_4$ . 5.

$$-\sum_{\alpha,m,k} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} A_{m,k} : \phi_m^b \left\langle \phi_m^{a\dagger} \phi_k^{i\dagger} \right\rangle \phi_k^j := -\sum_{\alpha,m,k} : \phi_m^b \left[ (T^{\alpha,t})_{b,a} \left\langle \phi_m^{a\dagger} \phi_k^{i\dagger} \right\rangle A_{m,k} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} \right] \phi_k^j :$$
$$= : \phi H_5 \phi :$$

6.

$$\sum_{\alpha,m,k} (T^{\alpha})_{a,b} (T^{\alpha})_{i,j} A_{m,k} \delta^{b,i} \delta_{m,k} : \phi_m^{a\dagger} \phi_k^j := \sum_{\alpha,m} : \phi_m^{a\dagger} \Big[ (T^{\alpha} \cdot T^{\alpha})_{a,b} A_{m,m} \Big] \phi_m^b :=: \phi^{\dagger} H_6 \phi :$$

Now, writing the result in a matrix form and defining  $H_{11} = H_1 + 2H_3 + H_6$  we find

$$: H_{E2}^{MF} :=: \begin{pmatrix} \phi^{\dagger} & \phi \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} H_{11} & H_2 \\ H_5 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \phi \\ \phi^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} := \frac{1}{2} : \Phi^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} H_{11} & 2H_2 \\ 2H_5 & -H_{11}^T \end{pmatrix} \Phi :$$
(B.15)

In conclusion, the single-particle Hamiltonian matrix  $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma)$  for the non-Abelian case takes the form

$$\mathcal{H}(\Gamma) = \begin{pmatrix} Id_G \otimes (\varepsilon T + mD) & 0 \\ 0 & -Id_G \otimes (\varepsilon T^T + mD^T) \end{pmatrix}$$
(B.16)  
+  $g^2 \begin{pmatrix} -\mathcal{M} \otimes \tilde{P} + \frac{1}{2}H_{11} + \mathcal{M}^{ext} & H_2 \\ H_5 & \mathcal{M}^T \otimes \tilde{P}^T - \frac{1}{2}H_{11}^T - (\mathcal{M}^{ext})^T \end{pmatrix}$ 

## Bibliography

- [1] E. Fradkin, *FIELD THEORY OF CONDENSED MATTER PHYSICS* (CAM-BRIDGE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 2013).
- [2] S. Weinberg, *The Quantum Theory of Fields, volume ii* (Cambridge University Press, 1996).
- [3] V. Mathieu, N. Kochelev, and V. Vento, "The Physics of Glueballs", Int. J. Mod. Phys. E, vol. 18 (2008).
- [4] H. J. Rothe, *LATTICE GAUGE THEORIES* (World Scientific, Lecture Notes in Physics -vol. 74, 2005).
- [5] K. G. Wilson, "Confinement of quarks", Phys. Rev. D 10, 2445 (1974).
- [6] M. Troyer and U.-J. Wiese, "Computational complexity and fundamental limitations to fermionic quantum monte carlo simulations", Phys. Rev. Lett. 94, 170201 (2005).
- [7] J. Kogut and L. Susskind, "Hamiltonian formulation of wilson's lattice gauge theories", Phys. Rev. D 11, 395 (1975).
- [8] R. Feynman, "Simulating Physics with Computers", Int. J. Theor. Phys., VoL 21, Nos. 6/7 (1982).
- [9] E. Zohar, J. Cirac, and B. Reznik, "Quantum Simulations of Lattice Gauge Theories using Ultracold Atoms in Optical Lattices", Reports on Progress in Physics, Vol. 79, N. 1 (2015).
- [10] E. Zohar, J. Cirac, and B. Reznik, "Simulating Compact Quantum Electrodynamics with Ultracold Atoms: Probing Confinement and Nonperturbative Effects", Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 125302 (2012).
- [11] E. Zohar, A. Farace, B. Reznik, and J. I. Cirac, "Digital lattice gauge theories", Phys. Rev. A 95, 023604 (2017).
- [12] E. A. Martinez, C. A. Muschik, P. Schindler, D. Nigg, A. Erhard, M. Heyl, P. Hauke, M. Dalmonte, T. Monz, P. Zoller, and R. Blatt, "Real-time dynamics of lattice gauge theories with a few-qubit quantum computer", Nature 534, 516 (2016).
- [13] F. Verstrate, V. Murg, and J. I. Cirac, "Matrix product states, projected entangled pair states, and variational renormalization group methods for quantum spin systems", Adv. Phys. vol. 57, pages 143-224 (2008).
- [14] S. Kühn, E. Zohar, J. Cirac, and M. C. Bañuls, "Non-Abelian string breaking phenomena with matrix product states", English, J. High Energy Phys. 2015, 130 (2015).

- [15] M. C. Bañuls, K. Cichy, K. Jansen, and J. I. Cirac, "The mass spectrum of the schwinger model with matrix product states", J. High Energy Phys. 2013, 158 (2013).
- [16] C. J. Hamer, Z. Weihong, and J. Oitmaa, "Series expansions for the massive schwinger model in hamiltonian lattice theory", Phys. Rev. D 56, 55 (1997).
- [17] M. C. Bañuls, K. Cichy, J. I. Cirac, K. Jansen, and S. Kühn, "Density induced phase transitions in the schwinger model: a study with matrix product states", Phys. Rev. Lett. **118**, 071601 (2017).
- [18] J. Haegeman, K. V. Acoleyen, N. Schuch, J. I. Cirac, and F. Verstraete, "Gauging Quantum States: From Global to Local Symmetries in Many-Body Systems", Phys. Rev. X 5, 011024 (2015).
- [19] G. Giedke, "Quantum Information and Continuous Variable Systems", PhD thesis (Institut f
  ür Theoretische Physik der Leopold-Franzens–Universit
  ät Innsbruck, 2001).
- [20] M. M. Wolf, J. Eisert, G. Giedke, M. Lewenstein, M. Plenio, J. I. Cirac, and R. F. Werner, "Gaussian States and Operations".
- [21] C. V. Kraus, "A Quantum Information Perspective of Fermionic Quantum Many-Body Systems", PhD thesis (Technische Universität München, Max-Planck-Institut für Quantenoptik, 2009).
- [22] V. Bach, E. Lieb, and J. Solovej, "Generalized Hartree-Fock Theory and the Hubbard Model", J. Stat. Phys., vol. 76, Nos 1/2 (1994).
- [23] C. V. Kraus and J. I. Cirac, "Generalized hartree–fock theory for interacting fermions in lattices: numerical methods", New J. Phys. 12, 113004 (2010).
- [24] T. Shi, E. Demler, and J. I. Cirac, "Variational study of fermionic and bosonic systems with non-Gaussian states: Theory and applications", Ann. Phys. 390, 245 390, 245 (2018).
- [25] N. Schuch, J. I. Cirac, and M. Wolf, "Quantum States on Harmonic Lattices", Commun. Math. Phys. 267: 65 (2006).
- [26] B. Buyens, J. Haegeman, H. Verschelde, F. Verstraete, and K. Van Acoleyen, "Confinement and string breaking for  $QED_2$  in the hamiltonian picture", Phys. Rev. X 6, 041040 (2016).
- [27] T. Pichler, M. Dalmonte, E. Rico, P. Zoller, and S. Montangero, "Real-time dynamics in u(1) lattice gauge theories with tensor networks", Phys. Rev. X 6, 011023 (2016).
- [28] J. P. Blaizot and G. Ripka, Quantum Theory of Finite Systems (The MIT Press, 1986).
- [29] R. F. Streater and A. S. Wightman, PCT, SPIN AND STATISTICS, AND ALL THAT, edited by I. W. A. Benjamin (1964).
- [30] M. Johansson, "Comment on 'reasonable fermionic quantum information theories require relativity", arXiv:1610.00539v1 [quant-ph] (2016).
- [31] L. Molinari, "NOTES ON WICK S THEOREM IN MANY-BODY THEORY", Dipartimento di Fisica, Universita degli Studi di Milano, and INFN, Sezione di Milano, Via Celoria 16, Milano, Italy (2016).

- [32] J. Haegeman, J. I. Cirac, T. J. Osborne, I. Pizorn, H. Verschelde, and F. Verstraete, "Time-dependent variational principle for quantum lattices", Phys. Rev. Lett. vol. 107, 070601 (2011).
- [33] J. B. Kogut and M. Stephanov, *The Phases of Quantum Chromodynamics From* Confinement to Extreme Conditions (Cambridge, 2003).
- [34] J. B. Kogut, "An introduction to lattice gauge theory and spin systems", Rev. Mod. Phys. 51, 659 (1979).
- [35] B. C. Hall, Lie Groups, Lie Algebras and Representations: An Elementary Introduction (Springer, 2015).
- [36] P. A. M. Dirac, *LECTURES ON QUANTUM MECHANICS*, edited by D. Publications (2001).
- [37] H. M. Fried, Y. Gabellini, and B. Müller, eds., NON-PERTURBATIVE QCD (World Scientific Publishing, 2002).
- [38] M. Creutz, I. J. Muzinich, and T. N. Tudron, "Gauge fixing and canonical quantization", Phys. Rev. D, vol. 19, N. 2 (1978).
- [39] R. Jackiw, "Introduction to the Yang-Mills quantum theory", Rev. Mod. Phys., vol. 52, N. 4 (1980).
- [40] A. M. Polyakov, *Gauge Fields and Strings* (Harwood Academic, 1987).
- [41] E. Zohar and M. Burrello, "Formulation of lattice gauge theories for quantum simulations", Phys. Rev. D 91, 054506 (2015).
- [42] C. N. Yang and R. L. Mills, "Conservation of Isotopic Spin and Isotopic Gauge Invariance", Phys. Rev. 96, 191 (1954).
- [43] H. B. Nielsen and M. Ninomiya, "A NO-GO THEOREM FOR REGULARIZ-ING CHIRAL FERMIONS", Phys. Lett. vol 105B, N. 2,3 (1981).
- [44] D. Friedan, "A Proof of the Nielsen-Ninomiya Theorem", Commun. Math. Phys. 85, 481-490 (1982).
- [45] L. Susskind, "Lattice fermions", Phys. Rev. D, vol. 16, N. 10 (1977).
- [46] J. B. Kogut, "The lattice gauge theory approach to quantum chromodynamics", Rev. Mod. Phys. 55, 775 (1983).
- [47] M. Srednicki, QUANTUM FIELD THEORY (Cambridge University Press, 2007).
- [48] J. Schwinger, "Gauge Invariance and Mass. II\*", Phys. Rev. vol. 128, N. 5 (1962).
- [49] S. D. Drell, H. R. Quinn, B. Svetitsky, and M. Weinstein, "Quantum electrodynamics on a lattice: a Hamiltonian variational approach to the physics of the weak-coupling region", Phys. Rev. D, vol. 19,N. 2 (1979).
- [50] E. Abdalla, M. B. Abdalla, and D. Rothe, Non-Perturbative Methods in Two-Dimensional Quantum Field Theories (World Scientific, 2001).
- [51] J. Schwinger, "The Theory of Quantized Fields. I\*", Phys. Rev., vol. 82, N. 6 (1951).
- [52] S. Iso and H. Murayama, "Hamiltonian formulation of the schwinger modelnonconfinement and screening of the charge", Progr. Theor. Phys. 84, 142 (1990).

- [53] C. Adam, "Massive schwinger model within mass perturbation theory", Ann. Phys. 259, 1 (1997).
- [54] J. Kogut and L. Susskind, "How quark confinement solves the  $\eta \to 3\pi$  problem", Phys. Rev. D, vol 11, N 12 (1975).
- [55] S. Coleman, "More about the massive schwinger model", Ann. Phys. 101, 239 (1976).
- [56] J. von Delft and H. Schoeller, "Bosonization for beginners refermionization for experts", Ann. d. Phys. 7, S. 225-306. (1998).
- [57] E. Zohar, J. I. Cirac, and B. Reznik, "Quantum simulations of gauge theories with ultracold atoms: Local gauge invariance from angular-momentum conervation", Phys. Rev. A 88, 023617 (2013).
- [58] ON ANGULAR MOMENTUM (Dover Publications, 2015).
- [59] T. M. R. Byrnes, P. Sriganesh, R. J. Bursill, and C. J. Hamer, "Density matrix renormalization group approach to the massive schwinger model", Phys. Rev. D 66, 013002 (2002).
- [60] F. Hebenstreit, D. Banerjee, M. Hornung, F.-J. Jiang, F. Schranz, and U.-J. Wiese, "Real-time dynamics of open quantum spin systems driven by dissipative processes", Phys. Rev. B 92, 035116 (2015).
- [61] D. Horn, "Finite matrix models with continuous local gauge invariance", Phys. Lett. B, 100, 149 (1981).
- [62] E. Abdalla, "Two-dimensional Quantum Field Theory, examples and applications", arXiv:hep-th/9704192 (1997).
- [63] P. Silvi, E. Rico, M. Dalmonte, F. Tschirsich, and S. Montangero, "Finitedensity phase diagram of a (1+1)-d non-abelian lattice gauge theory with tensor networks", Quantum 1, 9 (2017).
- [64] B. Bringoltz, "Volume dependence of two-dimensional large-N qcd with a nonzero density of baryons", Phys. Rev. D 79, 105021 (2009).
- [65] M. C. Gutzwiller, "EFFECT OF CORRELATION ON THE FERROMAG-NETISM OF TRANSITION METALS", Phys. Rev. Lett. vol., N. (1963).
- [66] N. K. Pak, "Vacuum degeneracy and confinement in the massive Schwinger model \*", Phys. Rev. D, vol. 17, N. 12 (1978).

### Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Ignacio Cirac for allowing me to join his research group and offering such a motivating and interesting topic for my master thesis. I really appreciate the supervision, advice and patience that he has invested on me and my master thesis and the chance to enjoy life research in one of its best expressions in hands of MPQ.

My special thanks (a lot) to Tao Shi, for sharing with me his passionate dedication and well understanding of physics. Our many fruitful and active discussions have been the key point for many of the results or explanations stated in this thesis.

I would also like to express my gratitude to Erez Zohar, for his time and explanations on Lattice Gauge Theories, and to Stefan Kühn, for his advice, suggestions and proofreading this master thesis. Also to all people at MPQ with whom I have been lucky to spend sometime during my stay. My gratitude as well to the authors of Ref. [26] for sharing with us their results in order to test the Gaussian method in comparison to MPS results in figures 4.3, 4.5 and 4.8b.

A special thank you also to my fellow students, already considered friends, who have accompanied me during my stay in Munich and to the TMP coordinator, Robert Helling, who let me, in the first place, enjoy this greatful experience both scientifically and personal.

Last but not least, I would also like to say a special thank you to my family and friends who have given me support during the last two years.

# **Declaration of Authorship**

I hereby declare that this thesis has been composed by myself. The results presented in Chapter 4 (except the continuum formulation appearing in section 4.2.2), Chapter 5, Outlook 6.1 and Appendix B are based entirely on my own work unless clearly referenced or stated otherwise.

Munich, 22 September 2017

.....

Pablo Sala de Torres-Solanot